

Understanding the Future of Global Climate Movements

Noah Gordon, editor

Oscar Berglund | Issam Kayssi | Mohanad Hage Ali | Sarah Yerkes | Natalie Triche Jasmin Logg-Scarvell | Erin Jones | Richard Youngs | Debbra Goh | Daevan Mangalmurti Valerie Boutros | Amr Hamzawy | Amir Gohar | Milo McBride

© 2025 Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. All rights reserved.

Carnegie does not take institutional positions on public policy issues; the views represented herein are those of the author(s) and do not necessarily reflect the views of Carnegie, its staff, or its trustees.

No part of this publication may be reproduced or transmitted in any form or by any means without permission in writing from Carnegie Europe or the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. Please direct inquiries to:

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace Publications Department 1779 Massachusetts Avenue NW Washington, D.C. 20036 P: + 1 202 483 7600 F: + 1 202 483 1840 CarnegieEndowment.org

This publication can be downloaded at no cost at CarnegieEndowment.org

Contents

01	Why Climate Sabotage Remains an Unlikely Strategy Noah Gordon	1
02	The Growing Criminalization of Climate and Environmental Protests Oscar Berglund	9
03	In Iraq and Yemen, Climate Activism Requires Both Defiance and Adaptation Issam Kayssi and Mohanad Hage Ali	15
04	Women and Climate Activism in Morocco and Tunisia Sarah Yerkes and Natalie Triche	25
05	Backlash Against Carbon Pricing in Australia and Canada Jasmin Logg-Scarvell	31
06	Confronting Backlash Against Europe's Green Transition Erin Jones and Richard Youngs	39

07	The Paradox in Southeast Asia's Decarbonization Agenda Debbra Goh	47
08	Northeast India's Environmental Movements Have Taken a Climate Edge Daevan Mangalmurti	55
09	For Arab Youth, Mass Mobilization Won't Fight Climate Change Valerie Boutros and Amr Hamzawy	63
10	Climate Activism Across Urban and Rural Divides in the Middle East Amir Gohar	69
11	Bipartisan Backlash Against Geoengineering and Carbon Removal in the United States Milo McBride	79
	About the Authors	87
	Notes	89
	Carnegie Endowment for International Peace	119

Why Climate Sabotage Remains an Unlikely Strategy

Noah Gordon

Climate mitigation is not going well. Greenhouse gas emissions continue to rise, heat waves grow longer and deadlier, and extreme weather becomes more costly. What matters to the atmosphere is not the rapid rise of clean energy technologies but the continued operation and even expansion of the fossil fuel infrastructure that is overheating the world.

What this means is that the member states of the UN have failed to address the climate problem in the thirty-plus years since they signed a treaty promising to do so, despite the efforts and urging of climate activists.² A pipeline cancellation here, a new solar power subsidy there: These victories for activists are only minor speed bumps for the runaway SUV that is the climate crisis.

A gap looms between the rhetoric and actions of global authorities. EU Commission President Ursula von der Leyen and former U.S. president Joe Biden both called climate change an "existential threat" in the early 2020s.³ Another world leader, UN Secretary General António Guterres, has spoken plaintively of politicians' inability to get a handle on the challenge despite the demands for climate action. "Climate activists are sometimes depicted as dangerous radicals. But the truly dangerous radicals are the countries that are increasing the production of fossil fuels," he has said.⁴

Other analysts or policymakers, from across the spectrum of climate politics, have raised questions about what type of activism would be appropriate in the face of catastrophe. There is the Republican member of the United States House of Representatives from the fifth district of California, Tom McClintock—a skeptic of the scientific consensus on global warming—who asks: "If the Earth truly hangs in the balance, well, then no measure is too

extreme. No cost is too great. . . . How much of a sacrifice is it if the alternative is a dead planet?"5 There is Andreas Malm, the professor of Human Ecology at Lund University in Sweden and the author of the book How to Blow Up a Pipeline, who has said:

"Were we governed by reason, we would be on the barricades today, dragging the drivers of Range Rovers and Nissan Patrols out of their seats, occupying and shutting down the coal-burning power stations, bursting in upon the Blairs' retreat from reality in Barbados and demanding a reversal of economic life as dramatic as the one we bore when we went to war with Hitler."6

This article asks what comes next for climate activists dealing with failure. As climate impacts get more severe, might climate activists become more inclined to take matters into their own hands, more willing to physically obstruct the workings of the fossil fuel machine or even to deploy violence against the people at the controls?

While the radical flank of the global climate movement is currently much smaller than headlines may suggest, these kinds of tactics may grow in popularity if decisionmakers continue to insufficiently address climate change. There is evidence of an overall intensification of climate activism, both of the actions of activists themselves, covered in this article, and of the backlash from civil society and leadership alike, covered by Oscar Berglund in an accompanying piece in the series. This article defines "climatage," identifies trends in methods of activism, and explores what might come next for the radical flank of climate movements.

Defining Obstruction for the Climate and "Climatage"

This article is interested not only in property damage—often called "climatage," a portmanteau of climate and sabotage—but also in occupations and blockades of infrastructure or key command centers, in which no property is damaged but the target is inhibited from taking action that exacerbates the climate crisis. The latter actions can be described as "obstruction for the climate." This scope includes an occupation of a power plant that burns coal, or of a political building that approves new oil and gas pipelines, such as the U.S. Department of Interior headquarters, which protesters occupied in 2021. It does not include mainly symbolic actions that seek to garner media attention rather than disrupt fossil fuel—such as the throwing of soup on a famous Van Gogh painting in London by two Just Stop Oil activists in 2022. (The sociologist Dana Fisher calls such activists "shockers and disruptors").7 This article also does not cover related but distinct forms of obstruction or violence for climate-related activism, such as physical actions that aim to prevent taxes on planet-warming fuels, like the Yellow Vest protests in France in 2021 or the farmers' protests in Europe in 2023-2024; ecofascist violence; or land and environmental defenders' obstruction of mining projects to protect their local ecosystems (when not explicitly linking their actions to climate change).8

What are some important types of climatage and obstruction? Activists often target coal infrastructure. In 2007, a group known as the Kingsnorth Six occupied the smokestack at a UK power plant in an attempt to shut it down. In a remarkable ruling, they were acquitted of property damage after turning to the "lawful excuse" defense in court, arguing that "by shutting down the coal plant for a day, they prevented greater damage to even more valuable property." These activists later joined Greenpeace colleagues for further coal plant occupations in the UK to highlight the risks of carbon pollution.¹⁰

Coal blockades also took place in Australia in the 2000s and 2010s, as groups like Rising Tide used their bodies to try to slow the transport of the dirtiest fossil fuel. 11 In 2014 hundreds of protesters, many of whom were Indigenous people who called themselves Pacific Climate Warriors, attempted to use their canoes and kayaks to disrupt coal shipments from a Sydney port that they said was contributing to sea level rise. One activist from Fiji said, "We are not willing to drown because of climate change."12

Further significant obstruction of coal infrastructure has come from the German group Ende Gelände, which roughly translates to "end of the line." Since 2014 this group has occupied numerous coal mines.¹³ "By using our bodies to block the mining and by taking actions that break that law (with all the potential consequences)," said two members, "we point to the urgency of more effective action against climate change and halting lignite coal mining in Germany."14 People have been hurt at some of these protests: In 2019 at a mine near Aachen, the police beat five protesters to the point of hospitalization, while four police officers suffered injuries, reportedly in connection with resistance from protesters.¹⁵ The group has also admitted to climatage in damaging machinery and pipes in an action at the Wilhelmshaven liquefied natural gas terminal in 2022.16

Oil and gas infrastructure is another common target. Activists with Climate Direction Action have temporarily stopped the flow of oil on the Keystone Pipeline in the United States.¹⁷ In Europe, protesters associated with Just Stop Oil and Extinction Rebellion have occupied oil terminals, obstructed pipeline construction, and disrupted fuel depots, airports, and government offices.¹⁸ Another mainly European group called Tyre Extinguishers prefers to target privately owned fossil fuel machines: The group says the aim is "to make it impossible to own a huge polluting 4x4 in the world's urban areas." 19 Their fellow organizers in the Netherlands target an even more polluting type of transportation, the private planes at Schiphol Airport in Amsterdam: In 2022 hundreds of activists wearing white overalls sat in front of these planes' wheels to prevent takeoff.²⁰

Nearly every aspect of modern industrial society contributes to the climate crisis, and recently some activists have taken climatage beyond the usual energy targets.

Nearly every aspect of modern industrial society contributes to the climate crisis, and recently some activists have taken climatage beyond the usual energy targets. In 2022, Swedish activists occupied a limestone mine in Gotland, complaining that the company running the associated cement plant was the country's second-largest CO2 emitter.²¹

Some groups take actions that could be understood as both climatage and sabotage to protect the local environment, sometimes called "ecotage." In March 2022, the French group Soulèvements de la Terre built a wall to stop the construction of a new highway and built a camp to prevent the opening of a new reservoir, even firing improvised firework mortars at police officers.²² Their concern was that the giant reservoir represented the "privatization of water" and would damage the environment. 23 Days later, the group peacefully protested a nearby motorway project that one activist argued would entrench car culture and exacerbate global warming. In another instance in 2016, U.S. activists Ruby Montoya and Jessica Reznicek set fire to six machines constructing the Dakota Access Pipeline in Iowa.²⁴ In a statement before their arrest, they focused on the risk of oil spills and corporations "brutalizing the land, water, and people," though their attorney did emphasize they felt a desire to halt climate change.²⁵ And they were part of a movement that did focus on climate impacts—indeed Greenpeace was found liable for \$650 million in damages for "defamation and other claims."26

Trends in Climatage

One thing that immediately stands out about these rare instances of climatage is where they have been recorded: predominantly in the rich countries of the so-called Global North. Investigating why can offer insight into the future of climatage and the climate fight in general.

The rich countries of the North Atlantic are where emissions are generally highest in percapita terms, so there are plenty of targets for activists. But personal safety is also a factor. It is safer for three British citizens to spray-paint the UK offices of the corporation that insures the controversial East African Crude Oil Pipeline, which will run from Uganda to Tanzania, than it is to try to stop the pipeline on the ground in Africa, due to Britain's stronger protections of civic freedoms.²⁷ In Uganda, activist Stephen Kwikiriza was allegedly abducted by national armed forces, beaten, and dumped on the side of the road as punishment for his campaign against the pipeline, whereas the British spray-painters were assigned community service.²⁸

The concentration of climatage and obstruction in rich countries may also indicate that considerable resources are required to engage in these activities. That climatage and obstruction are concentrated in these rich countries may also indicate that considerable resources are required to engage in these activities. Even if an activist does not fear extrajudicial violence by the police, in order to engage in direct action they must have enough time to volunteer rather than work, enough money to contest a court case, and enough social connections to believe that a criminal conviction will not be the end of their career. As one study has shown, even within these wealthy countries, it is mostly educated members of the middle class who take part in climate protests.²⁹ The insidious nature of the threat has been a challenge for the

climate movement in general: Climate change is faceless; and its effects are gradual, indirect, and to some extent manageable for the world's richest and most influential, which means that society gets more animated about immediate problems like high prices or unwanted immigration.³⁰

Which protests are legitimate and who may take part? North Atlantic states and judicial systems display some implicit preferences. The contrast between how the media and courts treat protesting farmers and protesting climate activists is illustrative—for the latter, most face harsher punishment than community service. Five climate activists from the group Just Stop Oil were sentenced to four-plus years in prison for their role in blocking a British motorway in 2022³¹; the judge described them as "fanatics." The long sentences fit a pattern of disproportionately harsh punishment for climate activists in wealthy European democracies. 32 Germany and the Netherlands have even pre-emptively arrested activists before they arrive at protests.

On the other hand, protesting European farmers have often received gentler treatment from the authorities. The Dutch criminal lawyer Christian Flokstra, pointing this out, argues that "the sense of legal equality gnaws when police and the judicial authorities respond differently to civil disobedience or forms of activism. After all, the actions of climate activists did not endanger lives. Farmers' actions did: they blocked highways, set fire to hay bales, and threatened politicians and journalists." ³³ In Belgium on February 26, 2024, farmers blocked the roads surrounding the European Commission with tractors and burning tires and threw objects at police officers, injuring three of them. ³⁴ Only three protesters were arrested. ³⁵ The angry farmers were back in force a month later.

Efficacy of Violence Versus Nonviolence

Another question concerning climatage is not whether it is morally justified or even legally justified, as the occupiers of the Kingsnorth coal plant successfully argued, but whether it works. Climatage is a tactic of the "radical flank," which sociologists Brent Simpson, Robb Willer, and Matthew Feinberg define as a "discrete activist group within a larger movement that adopts an agenda and/or uses tactics that are perceptibly more radical than other groups within the movement."36 The radical flank effect can be positive or negative for a movement, either aiding it by making the demands of moderates appear more reasonable, or harming it by causing backlash against the movement as a whole.³⁷ For the climate movement, the idea is that radical sabotage can make politicians look more favorably on calls for moderate change by more institutionalized, formal climate organizations, just as the violent activity of the armed wing of the African National Congress eventually made the South African apartheid regime more willing to negotiate with Nelson Mandela.³⁸

A key text arguing against the use of violence in resistance movements comes from political scientists Erica Chenoweth and Maria J. Stephan, who found that nonviolent resistance movements since 1900 have been twice as successful as violent ones—though there are

challenges drawing parallels between this research and the climate struggle.³⁹ The scholars Ryan Gunderson and William Charles argue that nonviolent tactics will prove more effective in part because "(1) property destruction will likely decrease public support for climate activists and climate policy, [and] (2) property destruction will almost certainly increase state repression, a fight that climate activists will likely lose."40 These findings will encourage burgeoning groups like the Washington, DC-focused group Climate Defiance, which uses nonviolent direct action to "force [their] politicians to take action."41

But nonviolent, disruptive tactics like blockades can similarly sour public opinion: One German poll found that street blockades reduced support for the climate movement in the country.⁴² However, other research has found that the nonviolent, disruptive campaigns of Just Stop Oil did generate support for moderate groups like Friends of the Earth.⁴³ Polling data can be useful, but it is difficult to get clear results about how climatage causes changes in public opinion, issue salience, and climate policy, given all the confounding variables. In their inventory of direct action tactics, the scholars Benjamin Sovacool and Alexander Dunlap argue that "unsavory" actions in some contexts do offer a chance of creating social change, although violence against humans would likely backfire. 44 As the philosopher Laurence Delina notes, there is a real risk of violent climate activism being branded as terrorism, and the movement being unable to rein in the activities of less principled members of their cohort.⁴⁵ If the movement did carry out radical violence against humans in service of political goals—like the Rote Armee Fraktion's 1977 kidnapping of industrialist Hanns Martin Schleyer, a representative of a capitalist German state they felt was still infested with fascism46; or Luigi Mangione's alleged 2024 killing of a healthcare executive in New York City, meant to strike a blow against what he called a "greed fueled health insurance cartel" it could backfire on climate activists at large. ⁴⁷ The U.S. Federal Bureau of Investigations has long treated animal rights activists and environmental activists as terrorists.⁴⁸

On one hand, it is possible that the backlash against climate action could make some activists feel as if climatage or obstruction is their only option, as Oscar Berglund also notes. In the United States in 2025, for example, U.S. President Donald Trump's administration has sought to reverse climate protection policies that it dismisses as a "Green New Scam," removing pollution limits on power plants and subsidizing coal.⁴⁹ When the U.S. government threatens reprisals against peaceful protesters, as the Trump administration has threatened to deport noncitizens who speak up for Palestinians' human rights, some activists may feel their only option is masked sabotage in the cover of night.⁵⁰ A number of U.S. states are also seeking draconian sentences for peaceful protests against oil or gas pipelines.⁵¹

On the other hand, the risks of sabotage tactics have likely increased as well. Trump and Attorney General Pam Bondi have said that direct action against allies of the president, such as against the Tesla dealerships of former Trump adviser Elon Musk, will be treated as "domestic terrorism," with the president adding that perpetrators will "go through hell."52

Those who perceive climatage as the least bad option could be wrong. Climate activists' challenge is distinct and perhaps even more daunting than the challenges previous activists faced in other contexts. In some social struggles, activists seek to influence the

decisionmaking of a relatively small set of actors. The Great Sit Down Strike of 1936–1937 at General Motors auto plants, for instance, helped force the company and other automakers to eventually accept the unionization of their factories.⁵³ Sabotage played a key role: Workers strategically occupied and shut down the few critical factories that produced car bodies, without which other factories could not operate.⁵⁴

But activists who want to stop the fossil fuel industry must change more than the behavior of a small number of firms or politicians. The fossil fuels, factories, and farms that cause the climate crisis are deeply ingrained in everyday life, all over the world, and the injustice and suffering they cause is indirect and diffuse. It would take sabotage on a tremendous scale to noticeably raise the costs of fossil fuel extraction and combustion, and doing so successfully could raise energy prices—a driver of much backlash protest in recent years—unless policymakers moved aggressively to blunt the effects of a fossil fuel scaledown.⁵⁵ Wouldbe saboteurs may be tempted to turn to direct action by the sense that the walls are closing in, and they need only temporarily step outside the democratic process

Activists who want to stop the fossil fuel industry must change more than the behavior of a small number of firms or politicians. The fossil fuels, factories, and farms that cause the climate crisis are deeply ingrained in everyday life.

until some emissions target is reached and they can pull down their barricades. Climate change, though, is an open-ended challenge, and climate action will require popular support to endure.56

And yet there is precedent for direct action against a small group of elites that sends a whole society over a tipping point and into reform. In his book Abolishing Fossil Fuels: Lessons From Movements that Won, the scholar Kevin A. Young argues that "the fundamental source of power" of the movements for the abolition of U.S. slavery, for labor rights, or for racial equality was the "direct threat they posed to capitalists through strikes, boycotts, and other mass disruption."57 For the climate movement, Young suggests, the path forward is not for climate-focused parties to win repeated large majorities, but rather for a sizable minority to apply "direct pressure on the elites who control energy-related investments."58

Where Are the Saboteurs?

Back in 2007, the writer John Lanchester commented that it was "strange and striking that climate change activists have not committed any acts of terrorism." ⁵⁹ Eighteen years later, with the climate crisis much deeper, the near absence of violence could be viewed as surprising. It is far from clear whether climatage would achieve its desired ends. But it is clear that as the climate crisis escalates, the conundrum of whether or not to resort to sabotage may gain increased urgency in parts of climate movements.

The Growing Criminalization of Climate and Environmental Protests

Oscar Berglund

The criminalization and repression of climate and environmental activists have intensified globally in the past few years. These are forms of backlash against often impactful social movements. The repressive wave has sparked major concerns in many quarters, with the UN secretary general, the UN special rapporteur on environmental defenders, and many nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), politicians, and social movements speaking out against it. In this article I will draw on findings from a University of Bristol project that I led on this topic. Driven by a combination of state and corporate actors, the repression of climate and environmental protest is a truly worldwide phenomenon that takes place across the Global North and South.

The article first identifies five forms of criminalization and repression. These include using new legal measures, such as anti-protest laws, or misusing existing legislation to treat activists as terrorists or organized crime syndicates, as well as changing judicial processes to make sentences more likely. They also include a range of policing practices from legal (arrests) to extralegal (harassment and infiltration) and criminal (murder). These forms of repression are in turn fueled by the vilification of activists.

The second part of the article discusses how activists respond and adjust to repressive contexts. One long-used tactic is to counteract vilification by legitimizing activists as political actors. This includes bearing witness and calling out the use of extralegal and criminal repression used by state and corporate actors. Another, albeit sporadic, tactic is to engage in sabotage. Lastly, activists may focus on forms of disruptive protest that carry greater legitimacy, thereby making it more costly for state or corporate actors to repress them.

Criminalization and Repression

New Anti-Protest Laws

Such laws may create new offenses, extend maximum sentence length for existing offenses, give police more powers to stop protests and surveil activists, or stop NGOs from legally supporting activists. The UK's Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Act (2022), for example, allows police to restrict protests' starting and finishing times, as well as noise levels. 63 Likewise, various state-level laws in Australia and the United States expand the definition of "critical infrastructure" and target popular activist tactics, such as lock-ons.⁶⁴ Peru recently passed a law strengthening the ability of the Peruvian Agency for International Cooperation to repress NGOs. It stipulates that if an NGO receives funding from abroad, it cannot contribute to the legal defense of activists without state approval through the agency.65 Many NGOs will now find it difficult to support those persecuted for widespread anti-mining activism in Peru.

Misuse of Existing Legislation

Second, existing laws are used in prosecutions and court proceedings to criminalize and repress climate and environmental activists. Anti-terrorism laws have been used in many countries against environmental activists who are definitely not terrorists. In the Philippines, authorities use a tactic called red-tagging to label activists as terrorists, thereby enabling more violent repression.⁶⁶ In France, the government sought to dissolve the environmental collective Soulèvements de la Terre using anti-separatism legislation originally intended to police so-called Islamic extremist groups.⁶⁷ In Germany and Spain, laws developed to deal with organized crime have been used against climate group Letzte Generation and vegan activist group Futuro Vegetal, respectively.⁶⁸ In the UK, courts have limited both the kind of defenses defendants can use and the kind of evidence that can be taken into consideration.⁶⁹ This has led to absurd situations where climate activists are on trial, but prohibited to speak about climate change.

Public and Private Policing

Policing is carried out not just by the police and other state actors but also by private security companies and corporations. Policing practices span from legal to extralegal to criminal. On the legal end, police arrest climate and environmental activists. Research from my project at the University of Bristol shows that Australia, Canada, and the UK exhibit the highest arrest rates at climate and environmental protests. Countries with lower rates of arrests often have higher rates of police violence, such as France, Peru, South Africa, and Uganda.70 Climate and environmental activists are often exposed to surveillance, infiltration, harassment, threats, and assaults. In the UK, the Spy-Cops scandal revealed how undercover

police officers had infiltrated activist groups that were often not accused of wrongdoing. The most infamous case involved undercover officer Bob Lambert, who fathered a child with an unsuspecting activist.⁷¹ At times, states have condoned extralegal (and even obviously criminal) policing tactics. In a high-profile case in the Philippines, armed forces abducted environmental activists Jonila Castro and Jhed Tamano and tried to force them to make a false public statement admitting to being communists and terrorists. Instead, they told the public about the threats and harassment they had endured during their abduction.⁷² Around the world, including in the United States and the UK, private security companies have often been hired to help surveil or infiltrate activist groups.⁷³ In Peru, the police themselves act as a kind of private security company, as mining companies can pay the police force to provide them security and repress activists.74

Murder of Climate Activists

The fourth and most serious kind of repression occurs when environmental activists are killed because of their activism. The NGO Global Witness conducts the best documentation of such killings, counting over 2,100 murders since 2012.⁷⁵ Most of these killings take place in resource-rich countries with high levels of foreign direct investment, including Brazil, Colombia, Mexico, and the Philippines. ⁷⁶ It is nevertheless a global problem, since the killings are often connected to disputes involving corporations based in the Global North. The perpetrators of the murders vary between countries and cases, with police mostly responsible in India and Peru, armed forces in the Philippines, and hit men and landowners in Brazil.⁷⁷ Killings are often preceded by death threats and other kinds of harassment and carried out by the same actors who do the policing.⁷⁸

Public Vilification

Lastly, vilification processes—attempts to smear and discredit climate and environmental activists—feed all the forms of criminalization and repression discussed above. Politicians, media, corporations, and think tanks contribute to vilification by promulgating discourses that dehumanize activists and encourage and enable the other forms of criminalization and repression. They steer attention away from climate and ecological crises and vastly exaggerate the harm and disruption caused by activists. Swedish Prime Minister Ulf Kristersson and former Australian prime minister Scott Morrison have denounced climate activists as threats to democracy and civil liberties respectively.⁷⁹ In India and Peru, vilification of activists on social media has been followed by arrests and disappearances.80 In the UK, some of the most high-profile and vilified activists have received the longest prison sentences, including Phoebe Plummer, who infamously threw tomato soup on the frame and casing of a Van Gogh painting, and Extinction Rebellion and Just Stop Oil co-founder Roger Hallam.⁸¹ Investigative journalists have published essays about how the same think tanks that promote the antagonization of activists have also helped draft anti-protest legislation.82

An important discursive strategy in the vilification process is to separate the activists from their causes, because the causes that climate and environmental activists strive for are broadly popular with the public. Large majorities in most countries want to see bold action on climate change.⁸³ It is also easier to feel sympathy for local communities fighting against extractive industries than for the corporations who carry out the destructive extraction. Vilifying activists thus relies on convincing people who are broadly supportive of the goals of activists to nevertheless denounce the activists because of their strategies and tactics. This is achieved by separating the activism from the cause, as is often seen in media reporting. Research I helped to carry out in the Policy & Protest project shows that media reporting about Just Stop Oil in the UK was framed around criminal behavior and law and order.⁸⁴ It only rarely mentioned climate change or the oil and gas licenses that Just Stop Oil protested. This separation takes a particularly damaging form in court cases where defendants are prohibited from speaking about the climate crisis, despite this being their motivation.85 In short, vilifying discourses are highly destructive and work in a symbiotic relationship with the very real repression of activists.

Responding to Repression

Legitimizing Climate Activism

One key response from civil society is to counteract a vilification process with a legitimation process. Politicians, NGOs, think tanks, academics, and journalists can support activists in this work. Indeed, this series and all of its contributors can be seen as part of a broader effort to legitimize climate and environmental activism and counteract problematic discourses targeting activists.

The legitimation process has two component parts. Firstly, it involves presenting climate and environmental activists as legitimate social and political actors who are fighting for the survival of civilization. One important way to do this is to avoid speaking about activism in a way that separates it from climate and environmental crises. Vilifiers often suggest that activists are selfish.86 The role of the legitimizers is therefore to show that being an activist for a cause that most of humanity supports, and all of humanity would benefit from, is in

The role of the legitimizers is to show that being an activist for a cause that most of humanity supports, and all of humanity would benefit from, is far from selfish.

fact far from selfish. Rather, these activists are putting their bodies and liberty on the line for the greater good. This does not mean that legitimizers must endorse all tactics used by activists. It is perfectly possible to highlight the very worthy cause and the legitimacy of social and political actors without endorsing their tactics.

Secondly, the legitimation process involves highlighting, denouncing, and bearing witness to the repression and criminalization of climate and environmental activists. This is of course the mission of NGOs like Amnesty

International and Global Witness. Amnesty has long brought criminal state repression of activists to global attention as a way of protecting activists by mounting pressure on authoritarian state behavior.⁸⁷ Indeed, my very existence was made possible by Amnesty and others putting pressure on the Peruvian state in the 1960s not to execute, and then to liberate, my father. 88 Global Witness achieves its goals by mapping and telling the stories of persecuted environmental defenders.⁸⁹ In this case, choice of words is an important part of the protection. While the word "activist" is neutral in that the speaker may agree or disagree with the activist's cause and method, "environmental defenders" leaves little room to disagree that these are important actors who ought to be protected. 90 Together, these acts of legitimation seek to create an environment that makes repression costly in terms of reputation. If this first response to repression, legitimization, is carried out by a coalition of actors who share the goals of climate and environmental activists, the following two are explicitly activist responses.

Sabotage

A second possible response to criminalization and repression is to go underground and pursue more sabotage-oriented tactics, as Noah Gordon explores in further detail in his contribution to this collection. The logic goes as follows: If nonviolent protests land people in jail for several years, then activists may as well carry out acts of sabotage that could cause greater disruption to the actors that drive climate change. One group that adopted this perspective, the UK-based Shut the System, saw some limited success trying to cut internet access to an insurance firm in London in January 2025.91 Similar undercover acts of sabotage, albeit with much lower stakes, have been intermittently carried out by Tyre Extinguishers around various cities as they deflate SUV tires with lentils. These acts of sabotage were encouraged by Andreas Malm's book How to Blow Up a Pipeline, which critiqued the nonviolence of Extinction Rebellion and served as a kind of sabotage manifesto.93 The book also inspired a film with the same title. However, despite the extensive attention given to Malm's book, the film, and the small groups they have inspired, sabotage remains a rare practice. Researchers and observers should then be careful in giving it too much intellectual credibility, since it seems to be driven primarily by the sensationalism of the media and entertainment industries.

Changing Tactics

Lastly, activists in countries with quickly deteriorating protest rights will adapt to increased repression by using tactics with greater support and legitimacy, as a shield against repression. Unlike the legitimation carried out by a range of actors set out above, this last response refers specifically to social movement tactics and strategy. It means moving away from unpopular, disruptive protests toward more popular forms. Just because a state has laws, batons, and guns at its disposal to repress protest does not necessarily mean it will use them. 94 A key reason groups like Just Stop Oil have been criminalized into extinction is precisely that

they had so little legitimacy among the general population.⁹⁵ But draconian anti-protest laws cannot repress all protest equally. Since UK police were given powers to stop any demonstration that violated noise limits, all kinds of protests have continued to be noisy, but the police have only really used those powers against Just Stop Oil.⁹⁶ Hypothetically, if new draconian laws had existed in 2019 and broadly popular European youth climate strikers had blocked traffic, they would have been unlikely to receive prison sentences. Their popularity and public appeal would have acted as a shield.

There is nothing new in this lesson. Activists around the world know that it is harder to repress them if they are many and they are supported by many more. If that were not the case, there would not be protest in authoritarian settings—but there are, always have been, and always will be.

Conclusion

Across the world, state and corporate actors together have been driving a wave of criminalization and repression of climate and environmental protest. The best response is to focus on legitimacy. For social movements, that means acting in greater numbers and seeking support from sizeable minorities, if not outright majorities, of the population. Doing so makes it harder for state and corporate actors to repress activists. Broader civil society also has an important role to play in strengthening the legitimacy of activists and counteracting the vilification that they are subjected to. It can do this by connecting protests to the climate and environmental crises that spurred them and drawing attention to repression and criminalization wherever it takes place.

Broader civil society also has an important role to play in strengthening the legitimacy of activists and counteracting the vilification that they are subjected to.

This last point is the key message. Anybody who is concerned about the threat that climate change and environmental degradation pose to human civilization has an interest in defending climate and environmental activists and social movements. Criminalization processes are taking place practically everywhere, and they need to be contested everywhere. Each person has a role to play in that contestation.

In this series of articles, Carnegie scholars and contributors are analyzing varieties of climate activism from around the world, focusing on the intensification of activity both from the protesters themselves and from the authorities and forces who are the objects of their discontent.

In Iraq and Yemen, Climate Activism Requires Both Defiance and Adaptation

Issam Kayssi and Mohanad Hage Ali

In the Middle East, climate activism is often intertwined with public grievances over perceived governance failures and ongoing regional and national conflicts. Not only are Iraq and Yemen among the countries most vulnerable to climate change, ⁹⁷ compounded by apparent endemic state corruption, but they have also become key arenas for the ongoing regional confrontation between Israel and Iran's axis that began in October 2023. In Iraq, for example, clashes between Iran-backed militias and U.S. and Israeli forces—a symptom of wider instability and governance failures—have enabled Türkiye and Iran to exploit the country's water resources. ⁹⁸ In Yemen, Ansar Allah (commonly known as the Houthi movement) has disrupted international shipping in the Red Sea and attacked Israel, deepening the country's isolation and insecurity. Both countries also grapple with fragmented political authority: Iraq's federal structure includes a semiautonomous region, while Yemen remains divided among competing factions.

This ongoing armed conflict and political fragmentation shape the countries' experiences of climate change and how citizens respond to it. Iraq and Yemen face acute environmental crises, including soaring heat, vanishing water sources, and agricultural decline. But in the current context, climate change is not an isolated challenge—it collides with long-standing governance failures and unfavorable geopolitical shifts. Successive governments have failed to manage natural resources, invest in sustainable infrastructure, and protect vulnerable communities. In both countries, the effects of climate change have become intertwined with public discontent over perceived corruption, marginalization, and the erosion of state legitimacy.

In response, climate activism has emerged in Iraq and Yemen as a vehicle not just for ecological advocacy but also for political expression in the shadow of conflict and hegemony and as civic space shrinks. Environmental mobilization in the countries often doubles as a demand for accountability and reform, even when framed in technical or local terms. Activists and citizens navigate hostile terrain (facing repression, surveillance, or institutional collapse) and yet still organize. In Iraq, youth and civil society groups have linked environmental issues to broader protest movements challenging state corruption and militia impunity. In Yemen, where formal governance has largely broken down, environmental initiatives are sustained through informal networks, community education, and local relief efforts. These movements reflect a deepening connection between ecological survival and political voice.

Examining climate activism in these two fragile states provides insight into how environmental politics unfold under conditions of conflict and fractured governance. Rather than being marginal or apolitical, climate activism here represents broader struggles for dignity, livelihoods, and democratic participation—struggles that are increasingly central to the future of the Global South. When speaking about climate change, activists highlight a salient element of continuity with ongoing struggles against incompetent governance.

Iraq: Struggles, Strategies, and State Repression

From the drying of the Tigris and Euphrates Rivers to intensifying heat waves and saltwater intrusion in the south, Iraq faces an escalating environmental crisis that intersects with existing corruption, misgovernance, displacement, and violent repression. In the southern province of Basra, for example, increased salinity has devastated once productive palm groves and citrus orchards. In nearby Dhi Qar, the slow disappearance of the marshlands has destroyed traditional livelihoods, such as fishing and buffalo herding. 99 Almost 170,000 people in the country have been displaced because of climate-related causes as of October 2024, and desertification is costing the country roughly 250 square kilometers of arable land each year.100

Rather than being marginal or apolitical, climate activism here represents broader struggles for dignity, livelihoods, and democratic participation. In response, various types of environmental activists have begun organizing across Iraq, including some who may not necessarily identify as such. These actors include veterans of the 2019 Tishreen Uprising (which challenged entrenched corruption, sectarian politics, and foreign influence¹⁰¹), youth-led nongovernmental organizations (NGOs), scientists, heritage preservationists, and community organizers. Despite operating in a deeply repressive environment, they have become the most persistent voices advocating for environmental justice and climate adaptation in Iraq. A central theme of protests led by such actors is the demand to reestablish governance as a national priority,

particularly in areas such as public services and climate response, rather than continuing to prioritize sectarian competition and abstract anti-imperialist rhetoric, which has largely been shaped by Iranian influence in Iraq.

One well-known organization is Nature Iraq, established in 2003 to protect Iraq's unique ecosystems, especially the Mesopotamian Marshes. Another is Humat Dijlah (Tigris Defenders), a youth-led group focused on safeguarding Iraq's vital rivers from pollution, overuse, and infrastructural threats. 102 Grassroots initiatives in southern Iraq have also mobilized to draw attention to poor water management, flaring from oil production sites, and the absence of serious pollution controls. Collectively, these groups have demanded better environmental legislation, the end of gas flaring, and more equitable and transparent water governance policies.

Many of today's climate activists were active participants in the 2019 protests against systemic corruption, unemployment, and lack of basic services. These young Iraqis, disillusioned by the failure of political reforms, turned their attention to climate issues, seeing environmental collapse as a symptom of Iraq's deeper governance failures. For them, clean air, potable water, and protection from extreme heat are not just ecological goals; they are rights and prerequisites for human dignity.

One key moment that illustrates this convergence of environmental and political demands came in 2018, when youth-led protests erupted in Basra following the collapse of the water system. Rising salinity and pollution in the Shatt al-Arab river had rendered the water undrinkable, leading to widespread illness. The protests quickly expanded into broader calls for political accountability, and their intensity foreshadowed the nationwide Tishreen Uprising the following year. This moment marked the crystallization of climate-driven mobilization as a form of political resistance. 103

For them, clean air, potable water, and protection from extreme heat are not just ecological goals; they are rights and prerequisites for human dignity.

Popular mobilization around climate-related grievances has not ceased since then. In May 2025, for instance, residents of Al-Madina, a district in northern Basra, escalated protests over the lack of clean water and deteriorating environmental conditions by shutting down the local district council building. Demonstrators cited pollution from nearby oil operations; delayed public works, such as a promised desalination plant; and the failure of local and federal authorities to respond to health risks. Security officers forcibly reopened the building, but protest leaders warned that unrest would continue unless their demands were met. As one resident put it, in reporting by Shafaq News, "Al-Madina fuels Iraq's wealth but receives nothing but neglect." The protest reflected ongoing discontent over environmental injustice and mirrored earlier mobilizations in Basra and the southern marshes, illustrating how climate-related grievances continue to catalyze civic action.

Over the years, however, many Iraqi activists have pivoted toward quieter forms of advocacy. They conduct reforestation campaigns, monitor pollution, or tell personal stories from affected communities (in the hope of at least documenting the situation). Media platforms have become important tools, especially for amplifying voices from Iraq's marginalized south. Stories from displaced farmers, fishers, and marshland residents are documented and shared widely, raising awareness both inside and outside Iraq. In Basra, individual activists have focused on sharing knowledge, raising awareness through social media, and fostering networks of civil society actors, academics, and local activists. 105 These networks provide protective coalitions in a context where activism risks political scrutiny and personal danger. Visual artists lead cultural initiatives that document ecological degradation through storytelling and exhibitions, 106 subtly shaping public consciousness around Iraq's environmental crisis. In this way, activists have created a powerful narrative that links ecological degradation with economic collapse, displacement, and rights violations. 107 The rise of quieter advocacy is due, at least partially, to the fact that climate activism in Iraq comes at a steep price for many. The post-Tishreen crackdown dramatically shrunk civic space, and climate activists (especially those who were also politically active in 2019) are often viewed with suspicion by authorities. 108 This is compounded by the perception among Iraq's entrenched political and militia elites that environmentalists represent a threat to their interests, especially when their demands challenge oil-driven development or implicate the state in mismanagement. As a result, many climate activists face escalating repression, threats, and violence.

In one example, Salman Khairallah, co-founder of Humat Dijlah, was arrested and forcibly disappeared during the Tishreen protests in December 2019. He was eventually released, but continued threats forced him to flee the country. 109 Similarly, Jassim al-Asadi, an environmental expert known for his work protecting Iraq's southern marshes, was abducted near Baghdad in February 2023 by unidentified armed men. He was held for two weeks and reported being subjected to severe torture, including beatings and electric shocks, likely in an effort to silence his advocacy.110

Legal harassment is also common. Activists are routinely accused of having foreign affiliations or being backed by so-called outside agendas, charges that carry serious consequences in Iraq.¹¹¹ Raad Habib al-Assadi, the head of the Chibayish Organization for the Protection of the Marshes, has faced repeated legal and bureaucratic obstacles while attempting to organize environmental campaigns. 112 Activist groups often see their events shut down, funding blocked, or members surveilled and harassed by state-linked entities.¹¹³ Without institutional protection or sustainable sources of funding, even well-established organizations struggle to carry on long-term projects.

However, such work continues at both the individual and organizational levels, with environmental advocacy offering a rare opportunity to carve out civic space in an otherwise authoritarian system.¹¹⁴ Because officials sometimes perceive climate change as a technical rather than political issue, it sometimes allows for limited cooperation between activists and the government. Activists have used this ambiguity to push for reforms (however small)

and engage with international bodies in ways that might pressure the Iraqi state without provoking outright confrontation. This cooperation provides activists with a shield of legitimacy that Oscar Berglund conceptualizes in his article in this series. Tactics include lobbying for stricter emissions standards, pressing for the inclusion of environmental protection in development plans, or seeking international protection (for instance, because of UNESCO heritage status) for ecologically important areas. For example, the campaign to secure global protection for the marshlands in southern Iraq exists not only as a conservation effort but also as a lever to hold the Iraqi government accountable for environmental degradation. 115 In addition, the launch in 2014 of Iraq's National Youth Climate Team under the Higher Youth Council speaks of a nascent, officially backed, but still limited platform seeking to engage young people in climate solutions.¹¹⁶

Nonetheless, entrenched systemic challenges continue to constrain the impact of these incremental forms of activism. Iraq's muhasasa political system, 117 which allocates power along sectarian and elite lines outside formal institutions, often sidelines youth-led and civil society initiatives, making direct political engagement fraught. Political neglect, limited resources, and occasional intimidation further hamper efforts, highlighting the difficult context in which these quieter campaigns operate. Political backing from reform-minded individuals would increase the prevalence of institutional success. Sustaining spaces where young activists and reformists within government can build trust and jointly address systemic barriers is essential, as is the independence and accountability of youth and civil society platforms.

The situation in Iraq today illustrates how climate activism can operate simultaneously as a flashpoint and a conduit for broader civic engagement. On one hand, it can be a deeply risky endeavor. On the other, it serves as a rare opening for young Iraqis to articulate visions of dignity, rights, and a livable future. Whether through institutional engagement, quiet advocacy, or public protest, Iraq's climate activists have found ways to adapt, endure, and continue their work in the face of profound adversity.

Yemen: Activism Navigating Collapse and Conflict

Yemen faces one of the most acute climate emergencies in the world. Climate change in the country manifests in increasingly severe droughts, violent storms, desertification, and chronic water scarcity, all compounded by a decade of war and state collapse. The average Yemeni today has access to just 74 cubic meters of water per year (well below the threshold of absolute scarcity), making Yemen the most water-insecure country in the world. 118 Temperatures are rising at twice the global average, 119 while erratic seasonal rainfall has intensified. In July-August 2024, severe floods damaged or destroyed tens of thousands of shelters, affecting over 60,000 people. In Al-Hudaydah Governorate alone, there were thirty-one deaths, and Al-Mahwit faced home losses, crop and livestock damage, and the destruction of roads and bridges.120

This environmental degradation is closely intertwined with political dysfunction. The country's already fragile, war-battered water infrastructure can no longer provide for the population. Over half of Yemen's land is classified as desert; decades of groundwater overextraction (including for qat fields), deforestation, and weak regulation have intensified desertification and water scarcity.¹²¹ With agriculture and herding providing the backbone of rural livelihoods, ecological degradation is deepening food insecurity and economic precarity.¹²²

Local climate activism has responded to these overlapping crises of climate stress, infrastructure collapse, and institutional breakdown. Youth volunteers, civil society organizations, environmental researchers, journalists, and educators have stepped into the void left by the state, developing grassroots solutions and sounding the alarm on Yemen's climate vulnerability. One clear example came in response to the 2020 floods in Aden. After successive rounds of flooding devastated the Crater neighborhood, youth-led groups organized their own relief operations, as the government failed to offer extensive support. (Aden's Civil Defense Authority operates with just a few firefighting vehicles and has no capacity to carry out evacuations.) Lacking access to public resources, the youth-led groups solicited donations from local philanthropists to rent vacuum trucks to clear floodwaters.¹²³ During that same period, angry residents confronted officials over repeated flood damage and the failure to restore water or electricity. These reactions captured a broader truth: As climate shocks grow more severe, they intensify public frustration with states that are unable (or unwilling) to respond.

As climate shocks grow more severe, they intensify public frustration with states that are unable (or unwilling) to respond.

Climate inaction is a symptom of not only war but also structural dysfunction. Yemen is divided among the Houthis in Sanaa, the internationally recognized government based in Aden, the Southern Transitional Council, and other Gulf-backed forces, including Salafist militias. Neither the internationally recognized government nor the Houthi authorities have the capacity or political will to enact or enforce green policies. Groundwater depletion, overfishing, and land degradation continue unchecked. Environmental law is outdated and unenforced, and no agency has the power to coordinate a national response. As a result, citizens and activists have had to step in, offering both practical solutions and political critique.¹²⁴

In Al-Mahra Governorate, the devastation wrought by Tropical Cyclone Tej in 2023 laid bare this institutional vacuum. Neighboring Oman mobilized shelters and evacuations in advance, ¹²⁵ while in Al-Mahra the response relied heavily on humanitarian partners and local authorities amid limited national capacity. 126 Roughly 22,000 people were displaced, and the flooding destroyed infrastructure, livestock, and crops. With no disaster preparedness plans in place, communities were left to fend for themselves.¹²⁷ For activists and local observers, this episode was not simply a weather event but also a demonstration of the deadly consequences of Yemen's fragmented and under-resourced governance.

Despite these challenges, some civil society organizations and researchers are working to reframe the national conversation on climate and environmental governance. One prominent organization, Holm Akhdar for Environmental Consultancy, highlighted that more than half of Yemen's internally displaced people have been forced to adopt harmful coping mechanisms (such as selling livestock or reducing food intake) because of worsening extreme weather.¹²⁸ The group called for the establishment of a national disaster response plan and greater international engagement. Environmental researcher Maha Al-Salehi has issued similarly ambitious proposals, advocating for the revival of Yemen's suspended Water Law, modernization of irrigation techniques, and the declaration of a national climate emergency.¹²⁹ She points to the collapse of groundwater systems as a case study in institutional failure, emphasizing the lack of regulatory oversight and the disappearance of state authority.

Other experts, such as an agricultural engineer based in Aden, have explored how environmental degradation is contributing directly to violence and conflict. They link the rise in land disputes to the erosion of customary conflict resolution systems and the near-total collapse of judicial institutions. ¹³⁰ Droughts and floods have blurred property boundaries, destroyed farmland, and triggered disputes over access to water. In some cases, individuals have taken up arms to defend their land against encroachment from militias or neighboring communities, illustrating how climate impacts can fuel insecurity in the absence of state protection.

In Lahij Governorate, as a 2023 ARK Group survey found, 50 percent of rural respondents saw desertification as one of the greatest threats to their communities. 131 Yet these fears have not translated into regional or national policy.¹³² Filling this gap, a young generation of activists has led autonomous initiatives to educate, organize, and respond to environmental breakdown. In Taiz, a short film featured at the Women Deliver 2023 festival documented grassroots pollution control campaigns led by local women, including engineer Irtifa Amin al-Qubati. 133 The film captured how communities were improvising small-scale solutions to manage waste and mitigate health risks in the absence of public services. In Sanaa, youth activist Ishraq al-Suwaidi launched an educational campaign to integrate climate literacy into local schools, using monthly student competitions and interactive activities to raise awareness. 134 In Aden, activist Ithar Fare'ah spearheaded a UN project to transform organic waste into compost, promoting both food security and sustainable agriculture.¹³⁵

Other responses have taken shape in the media sector. In 2023, the Climate and Energy Transition Journalism Network was launched by the Studies & Economic Media Center, 136 headquartered in Taiz, to strengthen local reporting on environmental issues.¹³⁷ The network connects journalists, researchers, and experts to raise public awareness and document environmental harms. Its founder, Mustafa Nasr, describes the effort as a way to "build local capacity for climate adaptation." Members of the network, including journalist Ihab Zidan, have highlighted the lack of training

Filling this gap, a young generation of activists has led autonomous initiatives to educate, organize, and respond to environmental breakdown.

in environmental reporting as a major obstacle to public engagement. Though limited in scale, initiatives such as these reflect how local actors collaborate in crafting solutions tailored to their contexts.

Still, the work of these activists and journalists carries risk, with environmental advocacy seen as potentially political. One member of the journalism network explained: "You always have to calculate what you're saying . . . if the Houthis or the [Yemeni] government think it's political, you could be in trouble."138 Surveillance, harassment, or even violence are not uncommon, especially when activists speak out about state negligence or environmental destruction in contested areas.

In one interesting example that came with the shield of legitimacy, local authorities in 2023 held a conference on climate-related challenges and solutions. Hosted in Mukalla, it brought together representatives from Yemen's environmental protection authorities, agriculture and water resources offices, and local and international organizations from the southern governorates of Hadramawt, Al-Mahra, and Shabwa. They emphasized the lack of operational budgets, technical personnel, and coordination between agencies and developed a set of concrete recommendations. 139 Although not led by grassroots activists, these incremental, technocratic efforts reflect a quieter form of advocacy rooted in local governance that seeks to strengthen institutional responses to Yemen's escalating climate threats.

Years of war have drained state revenues, and international donors remain hesitant to engage meaningfully with Yemen's environmental collapse, focusing instead on short-term humanitarian relief. In this context, Yemeni climate activism functions both as a form of resistance and of resilience. It addresses immediate environmental harms while also restoring a sense of community agency. Whether in the classroom, on farms, or through emergency flood response, activists are filling the void left by state neglect. Their work is grounded in the daily realities of conflict and climate crisis.

Conclusion

Iraq and Yemen show how climate-induced degradation interacts with deep governance failures and protracted instability, compounding public suffering and fueling wider discontent. Despite these challenges, citizens continue to mobilize. Their responses reveal how climate activism can become a vehicle for broader demands for justice, accountability, and reform.

In Iraq, environmental concerns have become increasingly central to protest politics, especially in the post-2018 period. Activists have linked salinized (and poisoned) water, deadly summer heat, and mismanaged resources to the failures of a political system shaped by sectarian clientelism and militia dominance. In Yemen, where formal activism appears almost impossible in much of the country, a quieter but equally political form of environmentalism has emerged through community-based efforts to preserve agriculture, manage water, and adapt to shifting weather patterns. What ties these two contexts together is the way that the climate crisis interacts with degraded forms of political authority. In both countries, those most affected by climate change are also those least able to influence how resources are managed or how decisions are made. Their vulnerability is not only ecological but political. And yet, this activism (whether in the form of public protests, grassroots organizing, or local resilience initiatives) suggests that meaningful mobilization can emerge even in the harshest of conditions.

Looking at Iraq and Yemen together challenges assumptions about where and how climate activism takes shape, even if this activism does not match the organizational level of established democracies. In other words, climate activism may not always be confined to strong states or liberal democracies, nor does it always take the form of visible mass movements. Instead, it can arise where governance is fragmented, where risk is highest, and where the stakes (access to water, health, and survival) are most immediate. In these contexts, activism becomes a way to contest not only ecological harm but also the structures of violence and neglect that allow it to persist.

Women and Climate Activism in Morocco and Tunisia

Sarah Yerkes and Natalie Triche

The Maghreb countries—Algeria, Morocco, and Tunisia—are facing a variety of acute climate change challenges. Water scarcity is on the rise, and dams are drying: On average, Al Massira Dam in central Morocco holds only 3 percent of the water it did nine years ago. The Maghreb region's coastlines are receding faster than nearly all others globally, and within the region, Tunisia's 1,300-kilometer coastline is eroding the fastest. Temperatures are rising: Since 1950, Algeria's mean temperature has steadily increased nearly every year. Climate change is also impacting traditions across the Maghreb. Farming methods have changed because of land desertification caused by cash crops and prolonged, persistent drought. Government policies attempting to limit water usage have occasionally shut down North African bathhouses, called hammam in Arabic, that play significant cultural roles, including in pre-wedding traditions and religious cleansing rituals. Migration induced by climate change is also on the rise, with the World Bank predicting that North Africa will have up to 19 million internal climate migrants by 2050. The scale of the scale o

These climate consequences disproportionately impact the women of the Maghreb because women bear the burden of domestic labor, including cooking, cleaning, and fetching water—activities impacted greatly by a changing climate. Furthermore, women in the Maghreb are significant contributors to the agricultural sector and make up over a quarter of agricultural workers¹⁴⁶ in an industry facing acute and urgent climate challenges.

Recognizing the crucial role women play in building resilience, each Maghreb country has tasked a woman to lead governmental efforts to mitigate climate change: Leila Rachel Benali is the minister of energy transition and sustainable development in Morocco, Fazia Dahleb is the minister of environment and renewable energy in Algeria, and Leila Chikhaoui is the minister of the environment and sustainable development in Tunisia. Nevertheless, women's voices are often underrepresented in discussions around local climate adaptation

and mitigation. In Morocco and Tunisia, several civil society organizations are attempting to reverse this trend. They pay homage to the fact that women are disproportionately disadvantaged by climate change. 147 The intersection of gender and climate is worth policymakers' attention, as women's knowledge and experiences can be leveraged to develop strategies to mitigate the harmful consequences of climate change, including the aggravation of existing gender inequalities.

The Gendered Impact of Climate Change in the Maghreb

Gender roles in the Maghreb prescribe men and women to certain vocations and duties. The key climate-related challenges in the region—water scarcity, desertification, and extreme weather—primarily impact domains for which women are responsible. The tasks of laundry, cooking, cleaning, and childcare in most Maghreb homes fall to women. In rural farming communities, women are overwhelmed with work requiring water, arable land, and moderate temperatures. 148 Demand for female labor coupled with male control over the flow of money into households in rural provinces puts women in an incredibly vulnerable position. Climate change exacerbates such vulnerabilities.

Women in the Maghreb have engaged in activism around climate change for several years; however, their efforts are often either ignored by local and national officials or disconnected from their country's broader feminist movement. While some efforts aim to connect feminist climate activists who advocate for gender-sensitive climate policies, these efforts have proven to be largely inconsistent and ineffective.¹⁴⁹ There has been a great disconnect between climate activism and gender activism, despite the obvious interplay of the two issues. However, in both Morocco and Tunisia, there are examples of climate activism and gender activism coming together and working in tandem.

Morocco: Despite Occasional Protests, Climate Change and Gender Remain Disconnected

Almost a decade of drought has threatened Morocco's agricultural and livestock industries greatly. For the first time during his more than two decades in power, King Mohammed VI canceled the 2025 Eid al-Adha festivities, which typically involve the sacrifice of a sheep. The minister of Islamic affairs cited the drought-induced lack of livestock and climate change's overall strain on the economy as reasons for canceling the important religious holiday, revealing how pervasive climate change's impact is on Moroccan traditions. 150

Despite Morocco's image as one of the most climate-prepared countries in the world, adaptation programs are facing implementation challenges.¹⁵¹ Protests have cropped up as drought and climate change impact people's lives and as Moroccans feel dissatisfied with the policies of their government. 152 Although the gender and climate activism movements have largely failed to recognize their shared interests, women have joined the climate movement and elevated their gender or gendered perspectives within the climate space. In the case of protest, women have drawn explicitly on their gender to justify their activism.

Over several months in 2024, residents of Figuig, a small town along the border with Algeria in central Morocco, protested a national water management plan that was intended to begin that year. The National Drinking Water Supply and Irrigation Program aimed to strengthen the supply of drinking water and ensure water security.¹⁵³ It would have transferred control over water systems from individual towns to a regional agency.¹⁵⁴ Water management in Morocco is steeped in tradition, with towns such as Figuig using centuriesold canal systems. Facing a threat to their traditions and anxious about a change in control, the residents of Figuig took to the streets. Women organized a protest on International Women's Day in support of the movement aiming to maintain local control. 155 This example illustrates a broader trend: Women are key participants in protests regarding issues related to water scarcity. Simultaneously, such gendered protests around climate change issues remain uncommon.

The fact that women are disproportionately disadvantaged by water scarcity's impacts on the agricultural industry helps explain their involvement in water scarcity activism. For instance, watermelon was introduced to rural, traditionally grazing lands around 2008, when the Moroccan government began assisting with irrigation.¹⁵⁶ A popular cash crop, watermelon has exacerbated water scarcity because of its high water demand. As lands have dried, rendering farming difficult and not financially prosperous, men have migrated to cities such as Rabat and Casablanca to seek work.

Women are key participants in protests regarding issues related to water scarcity.

While men are gone, women take on additional farming responsibilities and simultaneously care for their families.¹⁵⁷ A gender scientist in a Moroccan agricultural organization said that "women, mainly because of their social responsibilities, are unable to use the coping mechanism of out-migration."158 Despite women's workload increasing, "policies are not catching up," said the gender scientist. 159 Women only receive assistance from the government and nongovernmental organizations (NGOs) in very traditional industries, such as soap and carpet making.

Even when policies protecting women's rights exist, gender norms prevent Moroccan women from exercising their rights, most notably in the case of land ownership. Without owning land, the gender scientist indicated, women will not be able to make decisions to adopt climate-conscious irrigation methods. In the Middle East and North Africa generally, women's land ownership is the lowest in the world at only 5 percent of ownership. 160 Despite a successful melkinisation, a privatization of collective lands campaign led by feminist NGOs to grant women land ownership in Morocco in 2019, cultural gender norms have limited the implementation and scope, excluding climate change issues from the picture. 161

Although not always explicitly gender focused, NGOs across Morocco work to create solutions for those who are impacted by climate change, especially women. Youth for Climate Morocco, one of the most prominent NGOs in the country working on climate change and whose board of ten has nine women, uses inclusive activism to improve the ways Morocco responds to climate challenges. 162 Co-founder Fatna Ikrame explained:

"Gender inclusivity is central to our mission. We intentionally create spaces for women and girls to lead, share their stories, and contribute to climate solutions. From training programs and community dialogues to national campaigns, we ensure that women are not just participants but active decision-makers."163

By raising women's voices, the organization contributes to developing solutions to Moroccan climate issues that have long harmed women. Ikrame argues that "climate change has a distinctly gendered impact in Morocco,"164 thus climate policy must consider gender. She pointed to the specific ways women are impacted:

"[Women are responsible for] managing household resources like water, food, and energy. As climate change intensifies . . . women's daily responsibilities become significantly harder. . . . In regions experiencing water scarcity, women and girls are forced to walk longer distances to collect water, which not only affects their health but also limits their access to education and income-generating activities."165

Ikrame reveals exactly why a gendered lens in the climate space is vital: The burden of needing to handle climate change's effects prevents women from actualizing their basic rights, including to education and health. By considering the cultural expectation that women be responsible for daily tasks requiring natural resources, Moroccan activists can push for policies that prevent women from experiencing disproportionate harm from climate change.

Tunisia: A Strong Foundation of Activism but a Lack of Results

Like other Maghreb countries, Tunisia is already experiencing several impacts of climate change, including rising sea levels and changing weather patterns. Climate change has also contributed to a multiyear drought and a water crisis that some experts date back to the 1990s.¹⁶⁶

As in Morocco, water scarcity has a disproportionate impact on women, who are traditionally responsible for water collection and food preparation. As one Tunisian woman put it, "Fetching water, once a routine task, has become arduous due to environmental changes. We spend hours seeking clean water sources, affecting our overall well-being." 167 Access to water is not only a necessity for Tunisian women but also a right guaranteed in the constitution. Article 48 of the 2022 constitution states that "the State must provide potable water to everyone equally, and it must preserve water resources for future generations."168 However, in practice, the Tunisian state is increasingly failing to meet its obligation to provide access to water for women in particular. 169 This has led to protests in some areas, highlighting the intersection between climate activism and rights-based activism. A further challenge accompanies women on their way to access water: Development agencies have reported that women face "harassment and sexual assault" on their way to water standpipes.¹⁷⁰ Women also take on a disproportionate amount of agricultural work, again echoing issues in Morocco. Women in Tunisia make up 70 percent of the agricultural workforce, compared to only 8 percent of the total working population. ¹⁷¹ Over time, women have also taken on more traditionally male responsibilities in the agricultural sector, including in irrigation, livestock grazing, and buying and selling in markets, in addition to their traditional workload, further increasing their exposure to climate-related challenges.¹⁷² Yet women have little access to resources and training to help adapt their agricultural work to the changing climate or address the negative impacts on their lives. This is due, at least partially, to the fact that only 5 percent of women farmers own land. 173

Tunisian climate activism has struggled to address these problems. Beginning with the Arab Spring protests in 2010 and 2011, Tunisian civil society has been globally lauded for its advocacy for change. However, despite a strong civic infrastructure and large amounts of foreign assistance to support Tunisian civil society efforts between 2011 and 2021, "civil society actors have consistently struggled to put environmental issues on the national agenda," according to a report from the Center for Strategic and International Studies. 174 No major climate activism movement emerged in the post-2011 period, and under President Kais Saied, the civic sphere is becoming increasingly restricted. While there is more space for climate activists to operate in Tunisia than other types of activists (such as human rights and prodemocracy groups), the entire civic space is under threat because of a combination of state repression and donor withdrawal.¹⁷⁵

While there has been an uptick in protests related to water scarcity in both rural and urban areas, 176 the number of protesters has been quite small. This is especially true in the ecofeminist space, where few organizations have taken on climate from a gendered or intersectional perspective. Although gender-based climate activism grew in Tunisia following the negotiation of the 2015 Paris Agreement on climate change, which highlighted the importance of addressing gender in climate action on a global scale, a strong gender-based climate movement has not yet emerged in the country.

There are, however, some success stories of feminist climate activism in Tunisia. One female farmer started a women's farmers group in 2016 that has grown to more than 200 members who help each other with technical training and promote each other's agricultural products. 177 The founder, Rim Ben Soud, explains that rural women are "at the front-lines of the battle against climate change, social injustice and a patriarchal society."178

Another example is the Global Water Project's pilot in Beja, Tunisia, which addressed climate change from a "gender transformative approach." The project developed a working group, including representatives from civil society and the local and national governments, whose goal was to create a gender action plan. Participants worked on capacity building; awareness around gender, water security, and climate change; and implementation at the local level. For example, they had trainings about the legal system related to both gender equality and the right to water to help them better advocate for their rights and inform others of their rights.¹⁷⁹

But these positive examples belie a situation where climate activists are operating primarily at a small scale with little interaction across groups. Climate activists often form ad hoc partnerships that are short-lived and can be donor-dependent. Furthermore, there is a lack of coordination between feminist NGOs in Tunisia and climate activists.

Conclusion

Morocco and Tunisia present two similar landscapes of climate activism and gender activism. Their differing governance models—Morocco a constitutional monarchy and Tunisia a republic—result in differing approaches to climate adaptation policy. But women in both countries experience the disproportionate impacts of climate change. Morocco's civic space is currently much more free than Tunisia's because of significant democratic backsliding in the republic. But Tunisia's historic protection of women's rights provides a strong foundation for climate activism to intersect with gender activism. The recent focus in Morocco on land rights for women and the ongoing revisions to Morocco's family law, which governs women's rights, present the same opportunities in the kingdom.

To adapt climate policies in a way that pays tribute to women's experiences, the governments of Tunisia and Morocco should go beyond appointing women to lead their energy ministries. The governments could incorporate the ideas of women from across the country—particularly those hailing from rural backgrounds (who help feed the entire countries with their farms)—into their water policies. Furthermore, a governmentled campaign to educate both men and women in rural areas regarding their rights to education, water, and safety would benefit existing climate adaptation programs. In both countries, expanding women's land ownership could allow women a greater say in how their households adapt to the consequences of climate change, thus helping to mitigate the disproportionate harms that women experience.

At the civic level, there is space to improve climate activism so that it has real benefit for women. Currently there is a disconnect between the work of climate activists and that of gender activists in the Maghreb. Marrying these activists' efforts would make their activism more effective. Better connecting the networks of existing climate activists within the Maghreb and outside the region could also improve the climate movement in Morocco and Tunisia. By joining with organizations from outside of their own contexts, all activists could learn lessons and tools for developing resilient climate policies that will ultimately help women reduce the undue burden of climate change.

In this series of articles, Carnegie scholars and contributors are analyzing varieties of climate activism from around the world, focusing on the intensification of activity both from the protesters themselves and from the authorities and forces who are the objects of their discontent.

Backlash Against Carbon Pricing in Australia and Canada

Jasmin Logg-Scarvell

Backlash is rising against climate policies in the West: Consider farmers' pushback against the European Green Deal, Yellow Vests protests against fuel taxes in France, and U.S. President Donald Trump's administration's stance on environmental laws. This backlash—widespread, sudden countermobilization against a policy—can arise from a combination of economic, social, or practical grievances and threatens the ambition and stability of climate policy. One type of policy in particular, carbon pricing (which places a monetary cost on carbon emissions to encourage polluters to reduce their greenhouse gas output), is favored by Western governments because it is seen as the most efficient way to reduce emissions. Yet, carbon pricing also seems to be at particular risk of backlash due to its perceived unfairness, coerciveness, and association with elites. The puzzling contradiction between government preferences for carbon pricing and its high risk of backlash warrants analysis, as this could inform strategies for those seeking to promote pro-climate policies.

This chapter examines two prominent cases of carbon pricing backlash: Australia and Canada. The carbon pricing mechanism (CPM) introduced in Australia in 2011 faced strong conservative party and public opposition, leading to its repeal in 2013 and a decade of policy instability. Canada's two-part carbon pricing scheme, starting in 2018, encountered persistent pushback from conservative politicians and grassroots movements, resulting in its partial cessation in 2025. These cases demonstrate how carbon pricing implementation faced similar opposition (both led by elites, who spurred public discontent), but it unfolded differently due to unique national characteristics. A comparative analysis offers valuable, albeit sobering, insights into the challenges of ambitious climate policy in Western democracies.

Earlier in this series, Issam Kayssi and Mohanad Hage Ali analyzed climate activism in Iraq and Yemen, two countries where governance is fragmented and climate risk is most immediate. Their analysis highlights how civil society actors are representing direct public grievances and, as much as politically possible, trying to engage the state by relaying popular concerns. This is a contrast to the centrality of elite disputes in Western climate policymaking, where both pro- and anti-climate elites operate largely through formal institutional channels to drive the politics of carbon pricing, though with varied relationships to grassroots efforts.

Indeed, this article first unpacks how pushback against national-level carbon pricing emerged in each case, in both bottom-up and top-down ways. It explores the resilience of climate activism in the face of sustained opposition, including not just overt but also covert strategies employed by pro-climate actors to defend carbon pricing and advocate for greater climate policy ambition. Finally, it identifies common themes and unique differences contributing to backlash and, ultimately, policy failure in each case. While these failures raise questions about the viability of coercive climate mitigation policies, the sometimes-hidden battles involved still hold lessons for other pro-climate actors facing similar challenges.

Case Study: Australia

Australia's first national-level carbon pricing scheme, the CPM, began in 2012. ¹⁸² A previous attempt at carbon pricing had failed to gain parliamentary support due to opposition from parties on both the left and right: The Australian Greens argued the policy was not ambitious enough, and the Liberal Party and the National Party contended it would hurt the economy. ¹⁸³ This meant the CPM's introduction was met with immediate and strong pushback, occurring within an already politically divided landscape.

Backlash against Australia's carbon price manifested in interconnected top-down and bottom-up ways. From the top, conservative political elites, led by Liberal Party leader Tony Abbott, intensely criticized the CPM. Abbott campaigned to "axe the tax" and made a "blood oath" to immediately repeal the "great big new tax on everything" left elected in 2013. After the conservatives were elected and repealed the CPM, climate action remained a political wedge issue, even within conservative ranks. The far right thwarted any carbon-pricing-like policies, even when proposed by their own leadership. From the bottom, backlash emerged through protests and social media, often accentuated and steered by elites. This included heated public rallies, strong criticism from right-wing media figures, and industry-led lobbying campaigns. Civic-level backlash peaked before the 2013 election, after which climate policy divisiveness largely remained in the political sphere.

Pushback against Australia's carbon price was driven by political, economic, and social factors. Given Australia's resource-intensive economy, fossil fuel interests and powerful lobby groups like the Business Council of Australia and Minerals Council of Australia actively fueled this opposition.¹⁸⁹ Their ties to both right-wing neoliberal and left-wing working-class

interests meant that neither political side could ignore industry concerns about the CPM's economic impact.¹⁹⁰ However, their strong opposition was primarily voiced through formal stakeholder consultations. In contrast, conservative political elites strategically mobilized more volatile public opposition through misleading arguments about the CPM's impact on everyday Australians. Abbott claimed it would wipe the steelmaking town of Whyalla off the map, 191 and National Party leader Barnaby Joyce warned of a \$100 leg of lamb. 192 By framing the CPM as a broken promise by then prime minister and Labor Party leader Julia Gillard, these elites also exploited existing distrust in government and entrenched misogyny to mobilize a small but vocal segment of the public. 193 These efforts culminated in 2011, with protests erupting in many state capital cities. Protesters were drawn from far-right members of the public, heavy industry (for example, trucking associations), and leading conservative shock jock radio broadcasters and elites. This so-called Convoy of No Confidence movement converged on Canberra, with thousands attending a rally outside Parliament House on August 22, 2011. Conservative elites such as Abbott, Joyce, deputy opposition and National leader Warren Truss, and shock jock Alan Jones made speeches against a backdrop of visceral protester placards (for example, "Ditch the Witch" and "JuLIAR—Bob Brown's Bitch" [Brown was the Greens Party leader]). 194 Smaller protests against the "toxic tax" 195 occurred when the CPM began in 2012, but the primary locus of opposition subsequently shifted back to the political sphere as the next federal election approached.

In response to the backlash, a broad coalition of proclimate actors, including government politicians and officials, academics, and youth, defended carbon pricing in Australia. The Labor government attempted to mitigate pushback through policy design, compromises, and amendments. This included providing generous industry compensation, income tax cuts, and energy bill relief for vulnerable households, as well as trying to link the scheme to a lower, floating EU carbon price.¹⁹⁶ However, their failure to explicitly connect such benefits to carbon pricing revenue meant these efforts did not alleviate public concerns, 197 and in fact they fueled ongoing criticisms that the scheme gave industry too many concessions. 198 Academics and some think tanks advocated for the

In response to the backlash, a broad coalition of proclimate actors, including government politicians and officials, academics, and youth, defended carbon pricing in Australia

CPM through established channels, producing models and presentations to evidence its effectiveness.¹⁹⁹ Meanwhile, university students engaged in more activist methods, such as holding a protest during parliamentary question time where they unveiled a banner painted on their bodies proclaiming the CPM a "GR8 big new opportunity." 200

In the unstable period of conservative government following the CPM's repeal, pro-climate actors inside and outside government continued to push for greater action. This involved both grassroots campaigns—such as Stop Adani, which sought to halt the development of a new coal mine due to concerns over its negative climate, ecosystem, and land right impacts—and participation in global movements such as the school strike for climate.²⁰¹

Over the subsequent decade of conservative leadership, Australia's climate policy appeared increasingly unambitious. Events like the catastrophic 2019-2020 bushfires (coupled with the prime minister's decision to be in Hawaii at the time) further intensified domestic criticism of the conservative government's inaction on climate change.²⁰²

However, some pro-climate activism, particularly within the government, operated behind the scenes to subtly defend and expand climate policy. These covert, incremental efforts increased after the CPM was repealed. Some focused on promoting alternative policies with climate co-benefits but less risk of backlash, such as funding for hydrogen or renewable innovation.²⁰³ Others quietly laid the groundwork for a new carbon market through the Safeguard Mechanism. This mechanism, which set emissions baselines for large emitters, was initially left unused due to backlash concerns, but it stood ready to be strengthened when political conditions were favorable. 204 It was not until a Labor government came to power in 2022 that the Safeguard Mechanism could be strengthened to become Australia's leading climate policy.²⁰⁵ Reflections on these times show that despite (and often because of) ongoing opposition to carbon pricing, government actors in particular reverted to more covert advocacy for climate action.

Case Study: Canada

Canada's Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing Act (GGPPA), passed in 2018, established a national carbon pricing backstop (starting in 2019) that kicked in when provincial schemes were insufficient.²⁰⁶ It comprised two parts: a consumer fuel charge (often called the "carbon tax") and an industrial pricing system based on emissions intensity.²⁰⁷ The scheme was developed during a rare period of pro-climate political alignment between the federal government and provinces. However, this alignment soon deteriorated, leading to significant provincial pushback against the GGPPA.²⁰⁸

Like in Australia, the backlash climate activism experienced in Canada emerged in an interlinked top-down and bottom-up manner. Interestingly, this opposition mostly targeted the consumer fuel charge (the carbon tax) and not the industrial system, which most big businesses came to accept. From the top, conservative political elites at both the national and provincial levels united against the consumer charge. The governments of Ontario and Alberta not only rejected the federal scheme but also rapidly dismantled complementary provincial policies from previous governments.²⁰⁹ Provinces' formal opposition culminated in a legal challenge to the carbon tax's constitutionality. At the civic level, public protests and other forms of mobilization were concentrated in key provinces and often stoked by conservative elites who opposed the tax. Protests inspired by France's Yellow Vests movement coalesced in late 2018 into the United We Roll convoy. Protesters lined highways, chanting "no surrender" and "resist" in opposition to the carbon tax (alongside broader grievances including delays in building oil pipelines and the Liberal government's relatively open immigration policy).²¹⁰

Despite the Supreme Court ruling carbon pricing constitutional in 2021,²¹¹ public opposition persisted. Small but vocal "axe the tax" protests against annual price increases caused significant disruption to highway and border traffic, especially in 2023 and 2024.²¹² National conservative leaders Andrew Scheer and Pierre Poilievre strongly championed the axe the tax campaign, and provincial elites (notably the premiers of Alberta, New Brunswick, and Saskatchewan) petitioned then prime minister Justin Trudeau about the carbon price's impact on inflation and living costs. 213 The ideological and regional divide over carbon pricing only intensified over time. In late 2024, a leadership crisis within the Liberal Party government, driven by economic management concerns including the perceived costs of the carbon tax, culminated in Trudeau's resignation.²¹⁴ The incoming Liberal leader, Mark Carney, deemed the consumer charge untenable, and it was quietly ceased in April 2025.²¹⁵ The era of assumed dominance for economy-wide carbon pricing has ended in Canada, with the country's remaining targeted industrial scheme now more closely resembling Australia's Safeguard Mechanism.

Top-down backlash in Canada exploited various social, political, and economic tensions. Political elites, especially provincial leaders, significantly shaped a frequently misleading narrative against carbon pricing. This narrative was strongly tied to public concerns about the cost of living, with conservative elites regularly labeling the GGPPA a "job-killing carbon tax."216 Scheer staged a social media campaign at gas pumps, urging people to fill up before the consumer charge's first price rise and claiming the GGPPA would raise the cost of "everything from driving your kids to school, to heating your home,

Political elites, especially provincial leaders, significantly shaped a frequently misleading narrative against carbon pricing, strongly tied to public concerns about the cost of living.

to your groceries."217 In Ontario, Premier Doug Ford repeatedly blamed the GGPPA for economic pressures, and his energy minister stated it "makes life more unaffordable and hits the wallets of Ontario families."218 Ford echoed that the tax would "drain resources from our police, firefighters, and paramedics."219 Ford even mandated gas pump stickers that erroneously claimed the GGPPA added 4.4 cents per liter to gas prices. 220

This rhetoric exacerbated existing social, cultural, and economic regional divides in Canada. Residents in fossil-rich provinces (such as Alberta and Saskatchewan) and manufacturingheavy provinces (such as Ontario) felt the carbon tax would disproportionately impact their cost of living compared to hydropower-rich provinces (such as Quebec and British Columbia). 221 The escalation of conflict to the Supreme Court amplified the link between carbon pricing opposition and provincial autonomy concerns. Even Quebec, a traditionally pro-climate province with its own carbon pricing scheme, intervened in the court case to support the opposition, demonstrating how strong concerns about sovereignty can override other differences and create unlikely alliances against climate action.²²²

Pro-climate elites responded to this well-anticipated backlash through various overt and covert strategies. Overtly, the government designed policies with long lead times and explicit benefits and compensation to mitigate pushback. Government bodies and key think tanks also presented modeling and analysis that projected carbon pricing to be the least-costly policy option.²²³ Behind-the-scenes efforts included advocating for an emissions intensity scheme (rather than a direct carbon tax) to alleviate industrial competitiveness concerns, and continuous reforms to how carbon pricing revenue rebates were paid out to improve public awareness of the scheme's benefits.²²⁴ However, unlike the minor bottom-up activism seen in Australia, no specific grassroots support or defense of carbon pricing emerged. While many Canadians readily advocated for more climate ambition and participated in general pro-climate protests, they also remained divided on carbon pricing. 225 This indicates that while pro-carbon pricing advocacy persisted, it largely remained within the formal and political realms.

Lessons Learned: Countering Backlash Against Carbon Pricing

Australia and Canada both experienced carbon pricing backlash spearheaded by conservative elites using strikingly similar rhetoric. Slogans like "axe the tax" and emphases on cost-ofliving impacts effectively mobilized concentrated yet vocal citizen groups who felt unfairly targeted by carbon pricing. While some elites may have genuinely shared these concerns, the highly polarized nature of the opposition in both countries suggests that political gain was a primary motivation.²²⁶ A key difference between the two countries was the geographic spread of public opposition and countering pro-carbon pricing efforts. Campaigns in Australia remained national, while in Canada, opposition was regionally divided, and proclimate efforts were largely at the national level. In both nations, pro-climate elites, rather than citizens, led the most significant, often covert, efforts to defend and advance climate policies. However, Canadian policymakers were more effective at publicly communicating the benefits of carbon pricing than their Australian counterparts, contributing to the GGPPA's relatively longer durability. These similarities and differences offer crucial lessons for future efforts to counter carbon pricing backlash.

First, effective communication is crucial in linking carbon pricing revenue to tangible benefits and thoughtfully framing these to the public, but it is insufficient alone in countering opposition. In Australia, communication failures, particularly the lack of connection between carbon pricing revenue and compensation, were likely a major factor in its scheme's collapse. Canada's system, with its more transparent and explicit revenue neutrality goals, was more immune to pushback. However, in both countries, official communication about the policy ultimately failed to overcome the policy opposition's simplistic, often misleading, and emotionally charged messages about negative impacts. This is partly due to the inherent difficulty of explaining technically complex carbon pricing and revenue mechanisms. It also suggests that rational and economic arguments alone will not secure public acceptance for ambitious climate policies, especially when the underlying premises or ideologies are contested or the policy is perceived as enacting major economic transformation. In effect, policy supporters and activists, constrained by the need for rational, evidence-based arguments, were on an uneven playing field against opponents. Irrespective of whether they genuinely held fears and grievances, opposing elites successfully leveraged this emotional dimension. This meant rational arguments were often ignored, while irrational ones gained traction.

One way for pro-climate actors to try to level the playing field is to build and strategically differentiate coalitions of policy supporters and opponents. Canada's longer-lasting carbon pricing policy arguably benefited from policymakers explicitly segmenting potential opposition through its design. By establishing a separate industrial scheme, Canada mitigated the influence of its powerful fossil fuel industry on general and more emotive anti-carbon pricing narratives aimed at consumers. The distinct industrial scheme also more explicitly addressed industrial competitiveness than Australia's CPM did, and additional amendments were made over time to further simplify compliance and thus reduce the likelihood of industry backlash. While it may have been at the expense of policy ambition, over time, many major industrial players not only accepted but even advocated for the policy certainty Canada's scheme provided. While the industrial scheme's long-term future is not guaranteed, Canada's relative success in isolating, neutralizing, and even gaining the support of such powerful industrial stakeholders likely extended the durability of the carbon pricing policy.

Another way to tackle the uneven playing field in climate backlash activism is to understand the intricate links between top-down and bottom-up opposition. It is often difficult to discern if climate policy backlash stems from genuine citizen discontent or from strategically framed, elite-led narratives designed to appear grassroots (that is, astroturfing). The Australian and Canadian cases are perhaps exceptional because it was clear that political elites played a central role in stoking backlash, to the point where their actions were more instrumental to policy

Canada's longer-lasting carbon pricing policy arguably benefited from policymakers explicitly segmenting potential opposition through its design

outcomes and often preceded or even triggered broader civic opposition. Yet, elites' clear role does not negate the fact that the groundswell of public fears and grievances was also genuine in both countries. Policymakers and pro-climate actors should anticipate opposition from both levels and be prepared with specific strategies. For instance, clear communication about how carbon pricing revenue is recycled (for example, through rebates or investments) can somewhat help alleviate public concerns about cost burdens. This, in turn, would make tax grab rhetoric a less salient argument against carbon pricing.

Finally, climate activists must accept that any continued or future carbon pricing attempts will likely be linked, accurately or not, to diverse societal and economic concerns. This forces a critical look at carbon pricing's feasibility in achieving the West's decarbonization goals. Directly countering misinformation is increasingly difficult in polarized political systems where fake news (or even AI-hallucinated news) proliferates.²²⁷ Policymakers and pro-climate advocates are more constrained by the rules of the game than their opponents

are. Yet, deviating from these rules could be seen as contributing to the erosion of values that misleading rhetoric exploits (for example, evidence-based policymaking or democratic norms). This suggests that, even in robust Western democracies, the windows of opportunity for carbon pricing, and its pace of rollout, may be far more limited than they appear.²²⁸

Canada's experience, in particular, shows that even seemingly opportune policy windows cannot fully insulate policies from future backlash. Indeed, policymakers are already realizing that carbon pricing is not the panacea that economists once presented it to be.²²⁹ Its eventual failure in both Australia and Canada in the face of backlash adds to growing evidence that Western governments cannot rely solely on hard or coercive climate mitigation policies for durable climate action, despite the strong movement of pro-climate actors asking for urgent action. Yet, carbon pricing remains a relatively common climate policy in the West, both in ideals and in practice. 230 Therefore, pro-climate activists can adapt by both promoting carbon pricing's benefits—while acknowledging its imperfections—and advocating for its implementation alongside more ambitious, complementary policies. Practically, this means policymakers and activists can both design carbon pricing policies that embed backlash mitigation mechanisms (for example, revenue neutrality/rebates) and simultaneously be prepared with plans B through Z—integrated, softer, or sector-specific policies—should option A fail.

Conclusion

This article's comparison of carbon pricing backlash in Australia and Canada reveals several lessons for those seeking to mitigate climate change. First, genuine public concerns can fuel carbon pricing backlash, but these sentiments are often deliberately and strategically exploited and amplified by opportunistic elites. Pro-climate actors can anticipate opposition from both grassroots and top-down sources, recognizing that elite-led efforts can precede or even trigger broader civic unrest. Second, even well-intentioned carbon pricing policies, designed to mitigate unfair impacts and include built-in backlash mitigation mechanisms, can still succumb to pushback when economic and social contexts shift. Particular characteristics make Australia and Canada more susceptible to climate backlash: They both have two-party political systems that likely enabled greater political polarization around contentious issues, and both are relatively fossil-reliant economies with a powerful incumbent industry. However, their experiences with policy failure still underscore that advocacy for climate action must persist long after ambitious legislation is enacted.

On a more optimistic note, the covert strategies employed by some policymakers in both countries demonstrate that pro-climate actors can continue to advance climate policy ambitions, even in the face of significant backlash. Such efforts necessitate pragmatism above all else: the perfect cannot become the enemy of the good. This approach, however, raises a morally complex question for Western climate activists: In the face of the climate emergency, is a durable plan B (like Australia's Safeguard Mechanism or Canada's targeted industrial scheme) truly sufficient, or merely better than nothing?

Confronting Backlash Against Europe's Green Transition

Erin Jones and Richard Youngs

Pushback against the European Green Deal and the continent's wider climate action has been gathering momentum across Europe. This trend has attracted political and media attention as one of the most significant current developments in the European Union. The EU has recently diluted various elements of its climate change policies, including through a February 2025 omnibus law that rolled back various sustainability-related requirements for businesses.²³¹ The EU has been a frontrunner in the green transition, so this pushback against climate action—what has been termed greenlash—is of particular importance.

But the extent and nature of Europe's greenlash remain hard to pin down with precision. Some of it flows from genuinely grassroots, citizen concerns about the energy transition, while some is driven in a more top-down manner by political parties and leaders with their own sets of interests. The current greenlash is rooted in the far right but is a more extensive phenomenon present across the political spectrum, and its combination of top-down and bottom-up dynamics echoes those described in another piece in this series by Jasmin Logg-Scarvell. We explore how climate activists are responding with upgraded strategies and tactics that may yet help protect and reform the EU Green Deal. With the future of EU climate policy hanging in the balance and the world careening toward critical tipping points for climate mitigation, those who wish to advance climate action must find ways to address the multifaceted drivers of the European greenlash movement.

Bottom-Up Versus Top-Down Greenlash

There are both bottom-up and top-down strands to European greenlash, and the relationship between these twin dynamics is shifting in politically significant ways. Grassroots mobilizations against Green Deal policies have spread across Europe over the past several years, and they often go hand in hand with an opposition led by elite figures in politics, industry, and the media. While political and corporate actors have harnessed the sentiment to push their own agendas, bottom-up greenlash is also real and needs to be examined.

Farmers' protests have been the most high-profile element of greenlash. Images of farmers driving tractors through capital cities have dominated headlines, with participants demanding the rollback of environmental protection regulations that they argue threaten their livelihoods. Farmers are the most prominent and unified group mobilizing against the Green Deal, and they tend to cite concerns not only about the energy transition's affordability but also more broadly about globalism and elitism. Many are angry about cheap imports, rising production costs, and falling prices for food sales—problems they see as exacerbated by Green Deal policies.²³² Farmers also object to what they view as the closed and unaccountable nature of EU-level policymaking embodied by the Green Deal. They have not only called for the reversal of environmental policies, such as emissions regulations, but also demanded policies to address their broader grievances about the rising cost of living and the lax trading rules on imports, calling for protectionist strategies that sit uneasily with the kind of global coordination necessary to tackle climate change.²³³

Farmers' protests have won significant policy shifts from the EU, in part because they have framed their grievances in terms of very tangible and immediate crisis imperatives. Large agri-businesses and farmers also benefit from a relatively privileged position in EU decisionmaking; their protests have achieved tangible policy changes to address their grievances, to the detriment of ambitious climate action. ²³⁴ In the Netherlands, for instance, farmers' protests morphed into the Farmer-Citizen Movement, a right-wing political party

The targets of this wider, bottom-up greenlash have most commonly been the costs, fairness, intrusiveness, and ideological underpinnings of climate policies.

that ultimately scored electoral success as a direct result of bottom-up greenlash dynamics against the Dutch government's approach to implementing the EU's nitrogen directive.²³⁵

Beyond the public attention given to the farmers' protests, grassroots dynamics have nourished greenlash across European society more generally. The targets of this wider, bottomup greenlash have most commonly been the costs, fairness, intrusiveness, and ideological underpinnings of climate policies.²³⁶ The sentiment undergirding bottom-up greenlash is widespread and extends well beyond protesting farmers. It ranges from other demographics at the grassroots level to more institutionalized forms of resistance to climate action.

Some of the societal fear flows not from the climate agenda per se but more from the opaque nature of political decisionmaking. Polls show that many European citizens feel left out of the decisionmaking process and concerned that they have little chance to influence policies; notably, there is a correlation between climate skepticism and political disaffection. ²³⁷ The Yellow Vests protests in France, for instance, grew out of opposition to raising carbon taxes on fuel and included a range of ordinary people from across the country, who took to the streets to protest the costs of living and French state policies more broadly. A 2025 report from the Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development concluded that citizen trust in the green transition is still lacking, with only a minority of citizens believing their governments will make progress on reducing carbon emissions. A few European governments (such as France, Portugal, and Spain) have initiated municipal-level, green participatory budgeting to address this.²³⁸

Recently, local activism has intensified against wind farms—for example in Spain and in Italy.²³⁹ There have been protests and attacks against solar farms, too, in the UK and Italy.²⁴⁰ In Poland, thousands demonstrated against the closure of coal power plants and argued that the EU's green policies threatened their livelihoods; steel workers staged similar protests.²⁴¹ Protests against low emissions zones have spread from places like London and Oxford to cities all over Europe. 242 When Germany tried to require new heating systems to be more climate friendly in 2023, thousands took to the streets to march against what they called the Green Party's "heating ideology," resulting in the government diluting the law.²⁴³ And as European leaders promote critical minerals as a crucial part of the green transition, local community organizations and individuals in places like Portugal, Spain, and Serbia have begun mobilizing against these mining projects.²⁴⁴

Grassroots greenlash has increasingly fed directly into more institutionalized political movements. Coalitions between grassroots greenlash and political parties that organize against the European Green Deal and similar, national-level policies have strengthened, with climate-skeptic parties gaining traction at the polls across Europe. In France, for instance, public backlash led the National Assembly to vote to abolish low-emission zones, with critics arguing that the measure put a disproportionate burden on those who cannot afford low-polluting vehicles. Reinforcing local community greenlash dynamics, right-wing political actors campaigned on this controversy, framing such ecological protections as anti-working class.245

Indeed, the nexus between the civic and political spheres tends now to function more effectively on the anti-climate than the pro-climate side of EU policy debates. Environmental activists lament that fissures between the grassroots pro-climate movement and green parties are deepening. In the June 2024 EU elections, the tally of green parties' seats dropped from 71 to 53, while more climate-skeptic parties made gains across the board.²⁴⁶ As green parties have made uncomfortable compromises over the years, a gap has widened between pro-environment political leaders and their environmentalist base; in contrast, among climate skeptics, such unity has tightened.²⁴⁷

The Far Right and Beyond

Much greenlash is tightly entwined with the continent's far-right surge. Indeed, greenlash and the far right have become mutually reinforcing, each playing a major role in driving the other. European far-right parties have now incorporated opposition to climate policies as a key tenet of their political platforms. Right-wing populist leaders across Europe, such as Geert Wilders in the Netherlands and Marine Le Pen in France, have increasingly stressed their opposition to climate policies, alongside their traditional nativist ethnonationalism.²⁴⁸ In the February 2025 German elections, the Alternative for Germany (AfD) made great play of the need to resist what it termed the country's emerging "eco-dictatorship." ²⁴⁹ And the presidential candidate from Poland's Law and Justice party, Karol Nawrocki, won in June 2025 after promising to call a referendum on the Green Deal.²⁵⁰ These political parties tend to fuse opposition to the Green Deal with their wider illiberalism and euroscepticism.

However, the focus on the far right's relationship with greenlash should not detract attention away from the elements of greenlash that come from other actors, such as corporations and centrist parties. The far right is only one actor mobilizing against Europe's green transition.

Businesses across Europe have been advocating for the overhaul of environmental laws that they frame as burdensome and inefficient. This narrative is part of a broader trend in the EU, away from a focus on green transition priorities and toward a focus on economic competitiveness and security, particularly as the international order corrodes. Corporate lobbying groups have spearheaded campaigns against legal protections aimed at a wide variety of environmental and social issues, in favor of competitiveness for European business.²⁵¹

Furthermore, the links are tightening between far-right institutes and the fossil fuel industry. This trend is part of what has become an increasingly multilevel European greenlash, in which different levels of action entwine with each other. In the past several years, shadowy networks have taken shape among far-right actors, online communities, populist parties, right-wing news media, and corporate actors. These networks have gained considerable influence and have become a powerful axis of the connection between bottom-up and topdown greenlash dynamics.²⁵²

Some of the trends extend to more mainstream parts of the political spectrum. The centerright European People's Party has dramatically pivoted from climate pioneer to prominent Green Deal critic. Center-right and even some centrist European politicians are now rowing in the same direction as major polluting corporations and far-right parties, even if they have not yet deepened or formalized their cooperation. ²⁵³ Center-right leaders are still hesitant to work with the far right fully, but as they too turn on the Green Deal, they have formed loose cooperative arrangements on some environmental issues.²⁵⁴ This shift is coming to shape EU policies, with the European Commission adopting two omnibus packages slashing corporate due diligence and reporting requirements aimed at environmental and human rights protections.²⁵⁵ The greenlash is driving a reconfiguration of EU-level political alliances and prizing apart the decades-long, mainstream pro-European coalition.

An especially sinister dimension of greenlash is also on the rise. As both a driver and a consequence of multifaceted greenlash, governments' criminalization of environmental activists has appeared as the most alarming and aggressive form of resistance to climate action. As Oscar Berglund argues in his piece in this series, 256 this phenomenon has emerged in Europe out of a discourse that vilifies climate activists. Powerful actors in political institutions, the media, and elsewhere have normalized such a discourse. In this sense, greenlash is contributing to a crackdown on civic freedoms across Europe, even under so-called mainstream governments. Serious instances have occurred in France, Germany, Italy, the

Greenlash is driving a reconfiguration of EU-level political alliances and prizing apart the decadeslong, mainstream pro-**European coalition.**

Netherlands, Sweden, and the UK, among other states—showing that this shocking turn goes well beyond the far right, even if right-wing civic organizations have been prominent in peddling the line that climate activists are terrorists.²⁵⁷

Climate Activism's Response

While the political tides seem to be turning against the Green Deal, grassroots climate activists are responding to the greenlash and revising their tactics. Despite the apparent momentum of attacks on green policies and the environmental movement in Europe, there is still a strong push for climate action across the continent. Greenlash has pushed many environmental activists to rethink their tactics.

Many are trying to bridge divides and build the kind of broad coalition necessary to facilitate a socially just green transition. They are focusing far more on the concerns related to the economic costs of the climate transition and democratic decisionmaking. Activists have focused on network-building and cultivating a positive vision of climate action, through initiatives like Absurd Intelligence and Speak Up, which showcase speakers and connect cultural and artistic movement leaders. ²⁵⁸ Much activism is responding to greenlash concerns, even if a strong enough coalition to reenergize the Green Deal has not yet emerged in a formal way.

European citizens have continued to mobilize for climate action as greenlash has gained ground. The successes of the Extinction Rebellion (XR) and Fridays for Future mobilizations were more immediately visible in 2019 with the launch of the Green Deal, but XR has continued to grow and develop new chapters around the continent in recent years. It has organized more frequent protests, including in Brussels, explicitly targeting EU inaction and its rightward turn.²⁵⁹ When the German government cracked down on Last Generation, the group formed a follow-up project, New Generation, which broadened its mandate beyond the climate crisis to also include fighting "the alliance of the right and the rich." ²⁶⁰

The phenomenon of radical tactics such as climatage, a portmanteau of climate and sabotage explored by Noah Gordon in this series, has received much attention across Europe but still comprises only a small portion of the overall movement.²⁶¹ The A22 Network, for example, includes prominent climate activism organizations across Europe, many of which have engaged in both formal tactics like petitioning as well as more disruptive or even climatage-type tactics. Since its inception in 2022, the network has expanded from earlier members, such as Ultima Generazione in Italy and Emergency Break in Denmark, to also include groups founded just last year, such as Folk Mot Fossilmakta in Norway and Ostatnie Pokolenie in Poland. Other groups, such as Shut the System, are increasingly engaging in acts of sabotage against corporations they see as responsible for the climate crisis, as government regulation fails to restrict polluters and at times instead targets peacefully demonstrating activists.²⁶² Mainstream media tends to paint climatage and other disruptive protests in an unfavorable light, but public support for more ambitious policy to combat the climate crisis has, if anything, grown in Europe. 263

Recognizing that a key political vulnerability of the Green Deal lies in the argument that it is too expensive, pro-climate civil society and political leaders have focused on the strategic redistribution of costs as one possible route to mitigate greenlash. In Spain, for instance, the government managed to close twenty-eight coal mines without suffering electorally, because it agreed to financially support the affected areas. 264 Such redistribution represents a promising area for potential coalition-building between grassroots pro-climate groups and political actors.

Greenlash has also highlighted divisions among climate activists in Europe.

However, greenlash has also highlighted divisions among climate activists in Europe. Activists are divided on how to bridge concerns about the economy with concerns about climate change. While some seek a middle way that emphasizes the economic benefits of the green transition, others advance a more radical view that transformative system change is needed. As activism gathers force, high-profile splits and controversies have pushed groups like XR to reconsider their tactics to limit the public discontent they caused. 265 The group Just Stop Oil, having achieved its original goal of stopping government oil and gas

extraction from the North Sea, earlier this year announced its move to disband and cease disruptive tactics like throwing soup at art. 266 These trends reflect divisions between those drawn to more radical approaches like climatage and those advocating for less controversial tactics and broader alliances behind climate action.

Greenlash has helped reinvigorate calls to make the Green Deal more democratic. While many climate activists have demanded that decisionmakers "listen to the science," others view this as an undemocratic kind of technocratic ecocentrism that elevates scientific actors above others in the environmental decisionmaking process.²⁶⁷ Criticism against both the privileged position of science in climate action and the technocratic, top-down, and bureaucratic nature of EU decisionmaking has pushed activists to advocate for participatory democracy mechanisms. Climate assemblies have been an especially prominent method

to counter resistance and feature citizens' voices on climate issues, with varying degrees of success. A new coalition of EU civil society organizations formed in 2025 to push for more systemic citizen participation to upgrade the democratic quality of the Green Deal.²⁶⁸ This is a significant shift in activist strategy as the mass-protest, NGO, and citizen-assembly routes show some signs of coming together in efforts to counter greenlash. ²⁶⁹

Conclusion

The European Green Deal hangs in the balance, and it is now more viscerally debated in EU institutions, national legislatures, and civil society than at any point since its inception. Commissioners and members of the European Parliament are split over whether to water down green mandates. Still, greenlash is not all-dominant: A new phase of climate activism entails more determination and resilience and is employing new strategies to defend EU climate action.

EU policymakers interested in pro-climate policies need to be alert to the multifaceted nature of Europe's greenlash and the need for a similarly multipronged response to it. While some greenlash comes from top-down elite interests, the depth of genuine concern among citizens should not be underestimated. Policymakers should take care not to reduce greenlash to a problem of the far right, as this framing simply adds fuel to popular frustration with current EU policymaking.

Formal EU climate policies are not yet fully harnessing the growing, bottom-up momentum behind climate action. Pro-climate activists can take lessons from the impact of climateskeptical mobilizations in recent times. Those advocating for climate action need to fashion an activism that recasts the Green Deal as a broad, collective social project as opposed to an elite, scientific agenda. If they can frame the Green Deal as geopolitically and economically favorable, it will be more broadly accepted. Pro-climate activism and advocacy will help produce stronger climate policy if its leaders focus more on the thorny challenge of how to fairly distribute the costs of the green transition. As attention to climate justice grows alongside greenlash, more people are calling for an approach to climate action that links planetary health with tangible improvements to everyday life. The need to reshape climate policy in this more democratic fashion is the defining task of the times.²⁷⁰

In this series of articles, Carnegie scholars and contributors are analyzing varieties of climate activism from around the world, focusing on the intensification of activity both from the protesters themselves and from the authorities and forces who are the objects of their discontent.

The Paradox in Southeast Asia's Decarbonization Agenda

Debbra Goh

Efforts to reduce emissions, decarbonize, and mitigate global warming can often produce significant negative externalities. Whether it be resource extraction for renewable energy technologies (for instance, nickel mining to build electrical vehicle batteries) or the installation of clean, firm power (such as geothermal energy), the clean energy transition disrupts local ecosystems and can disproportionately disadvantage the immediate communities where power generation or resource extraction occurs. Given the undeniably urgent need to increase clean energy production, these consequences can be overlooked or downplayed to the detriment of communities who are most impacted.

This problem presents a paradox: Reaching global decarbonization goals may come at the expense of biodiversity, ecosystem health, and principles of environmental justice. This misalignment underscores a growing tension between the modern climate movement, concerned with a societal transition away from fossil fuels, and traditional environmentalism, concerned with local conservation and environmental protection. Inherent in this conundrum is the impossibility of separating climate goals from environmental considerations: Biodiversity supports key ecosystem services and can regulate climate systems while mitigating climate risks.

Protests against climate policies or climate infrastructure development—also known as anti-climate protests—accounted for more than 45 percent of the 140 climate-related protests recorded in the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace's Climate Protest Tracker in 2024, a sharp increase from 31 percent in 2023. Within that, 82 percent of the anti-climate protests in 2024 were rooted in grassroots opposition to clean energy infrastructure projects: mineral mining, hydroelectric power plants, wind turbines, and solar

farms. While some of these protests came from residents resisting such developments in their communities—a "not in my backyard" attitude—others were rooted in broader concerns about the environmental costs and biodiversity impacts of such projects. This signals a deepening tension between the decarbonization goals of the climate movement and the sociocultural, economic, and environmental costs of achieving them.

This trend is particularly evident in Southeast Asia, where grassroots protests against climate infrastructure projects are gaining steam. The Association of Southeast Asian Nations (ASEAN), which includes Brunei, Cambodia, Indonesia, Laos, Malaysia, Myanmar, the Philippines, Singapore, Thailand, and Vietnam, sits at a crossroads between regional ecological protection and advancing member countries' clean energy transitions. As one of the world's most biodiverse regions with the highest proportion of threatened species, Southeast Asia provides key ecosystem services that are under increasing pressure.²⁷² At the same time, it possesses resources critical for clean energy development. Indonesia and the Philippines, for instance, account for around 65 percent of global mined nickel production.²⁷³ ASEAN countries also collectively represent 15 percent of the global technical potential for enhanced geothermal energy generation.²⁷⁴ The region is positioned to be a major player in the clean energy transition.

As Southeast Asia rapidly urbanizes, energy demand for everything from air conditioning to global manufacturing is projected to soar. Although eight of the ten Southeast Asian countries have net zero emissions goals, fossil fuels—predominantly coal—currently supply over 70 percent of the region's energy demand.²⁷⁵ To decouple energy growth from emissions growth, Southeast Asian countries must turn to renewable solutions. However, the same

The same projects meant to drive development and decarbonization are also provoking citizen unrest.

projects meant to drive development and decarbonization are also provoking citizen unrest. As Southeast Asia turns increasingly toward clean energy, so too the region contends with growing civic backlash.

This article examines how Southeast Asia's pursuit of clean energy infrastructure—driven by development dreams and national climate commitments—is unfolding in areas rich in both ecological and cultural value. The case study of geothermal

development in Flores, Indonesia, explores how clean energy projects are experienced by local communities as environmentally harmful and socially disruptive, resulting in a growing coalition of Indigenous communities, activists, and religious leaders opposing such projects. Protesters highlight that while climate infrastructure projects are essential for mitigating the climate crisis, their implementation risks reproducing social inequalities and ecological damage. The challenge ahead lies in ensuring that an ambitious energy transition is coupled with ecologically conscious practices and justice-oriented community considerations.

Putting the Heat on to Keep the Heat off: **Geothermal Development in Indonesia**

Indonesia has the world's greatest geothermal potential. A renewable form of energy production, geothermal energy uses wells drilled into the Earth's crust to pull up heat that can power turbines and generate electricity. In 2024, installed geothermal capacity in Indonesia stood at 2.68 gigawatts, second only to the 4 gigawatts of installed capacity in the United States. 276 While Indonesia possesses substantial geothermal energy generation potential, only a fraction is used to generate energy. The National Electricity Supply Business Plan (Rencana Usaha Penyediaan Tenaga Listrik 2025–2034) targets an additional 5.2 gigawatts of installed geothermal capacity in Indonesia by 2034.²⁷⁷ Increasing geothermal energy development remains a key priority for the country, as part of its commitment to achieve net zero emissions by 2060.

In Indonesia, geothermal energy is the only renewable energy source that is statutorily regulated.²⁷⁸ One of the country's most significant geothermal policy developments was the introduction of Law Number 21 of 2014 on Geothermal Energy, which replaced Law Number 27 of 2003 on Geothermal Energy. The law recognized that geothermal is a renewable natural resource, "the potential of which is large and the utilization has not been optimum."²⁷⁹ The new legislation identified a national goal "to promote and intensify [geothermal] utilization" to meet Indonesia's growing energy demand.

Most geothermal resources in Indonesia are located within protected and conservation forest areas. To support the expansion of geothermal energy, the 2014 legislation provided a new legal basis for geothermal activity by repealing its prior classification as a form of mining. In Indonesia, mining activities are prohibited in areas of high biodiversity and conservation value and require the issuance of specific mining licenses; geothermal and other forms of mining were thus restricted in conserved forest areas.²⁸⁰ When the 2014 law passed, geothermal activities could expand to areas including production forests, protected forests, conservation forests, and coastal waters.²⁸¹ Separating geothermal activities from existing mining restrictions thus allowed for increased resource exploitation in those areas.²⁸² While government policy has created a more favorable environment for geothermal exploration, local support for such developments has not followed suit.

Citizen Opposition to Geothermal Development in Flores, Indonesia

A key site of citizen opposition to geothermal development has been on the island of Flores in Nusa Tenggara Timur Province, which the national government designated as a "geothermal island" because of its significant geothermal resource potential. Geothermal development on the island has received international funding from the World Bank while being implemented by the Indonesian government. ²⁸³ Yet the designation of Flores as a site for geothermal development came as a surprise to its residents, who were not consulted.²⁸⁴

Several proposed projects across the island—including in Wae Sano, Poco Leok, Ulumbu, and Mataloko—have been met with protests and public opposition from citizens and activist organizations that are concerned about the environmental and biodiversity hazards and the impacts on Indigenous communities and livelihoods.²⁸⁵

While geothermal energy has clear decarbonization benefits, its development often disrupts local ecosystems and communities. Constructing a geothermal power facility involves site clearing, road construction for heavy machinery, and borehole drilling. These activities can result in substantial water waste, induce seismic activity, and lead to lasting biodiversity impacts. As is the case in Indonesia, areas with high geothermal resource potential are often also areas with high endemic biodiversity, intensifying the impacts on the ecosystem.²⁸⁶ Open-loop geothermal systems, while cleaner than equivalent fossil fuel power generation, can also emit harmful hydrogen sulfide and sulfur dioxide gases, posing significant health risks to neighboring communities.²⁸⁷ Although renewable energy projects can create employment opportunities, displaced agricultural workers typically lack the education or technical skills to transition into such positions. This disconnect has led to resistance among communities that rely on traditional livelihoods.

In 2021, Wae Sano community members issued an open letter stating that they "rejected entirely the existence of the Wae Sano geothermal project," which they argued failed to consider the social and ecological risk to locals and provided them with little direct benefits.²⁸⁸ At community meetings filmed for the 2023 documentary Barang Panas (Hot Stuff), residents compared the geothermal development to resource extraction experienced under colonialism: "It's like the colonial era. They're taking away our economic resources. It's like in 1945, in my opinion. This is colonialism all over again, oppressing the local communities . . . that's what the current situation feels like. So, we do reject it." 289

Drawing from examples in neighboring communities, residents of Wae Sano highlighted the ecological and cultural impacts of the proposed project and argued that the development would affect their crop yields and livelihoods. They cited the geothermal power plant in Dieng, Central Java, which residents claim resulted in toxic air pollution, water contamination, water shortages, and earthquakes.²⁹⁰ The large quantities of water required in geothermal projects can also impact crop production—in the Batur District, a potato

Residents of Wae Sano highlighted the ecological and cultural impacts of the proposed project and argued that the development would affect their crop yields and livelihoods.

farmer highlighted that local farmers were "competing with a company that can pump water more extensively and quickly. If we don't farm or fail to harvest, we can't eat, our children can't go to school. The losses are much greater for the local people."291 Moreover, opposition to the project was also rooted in the Indigenous communities' long-standing ancestral relationships to the land. Community members feared the potential relocation would mean leaving their ancestors behind and angering them. One resident of Wae Sano said that the communities "cannot run

away [from our homes], [since] our ancestors also cannot run away . . . leaving our birthplace or homeland . . . leave[s] our ancestors behind who then search for us . . . that is why we, as one tribe, declare our rejection [of the geothermal project]."292

While the 2014 Law on Geothermal Energy reclassified geothermal as nonmining activity, many villagers continued to understand geothermal as akin to mining—part of a suite of extractivist practices that undermine their cultural and environmental well-being. In a community consultation, Wae Sano residents even called for the World Bank to stop funding the program. They argued that funding the geothermal development would be akin to "killing" residents and that World Bank involvement would be "complici[ty] in committing a crime against humanity."293

This situation illustrates the paradox: While the geothermal project was promoted as a contribution to Indonesian—and global—climate goals, citizens were concerned about the immediate impacts on their communities and local biodiversity. The Wae Sano project was hotly contested by citizens who worried it would affect the local water supply, including the biggest lake in the area, the key source of agricultural irrigation and drinking water for residents. Wae Sano developers framed the project in the language of climate action and low-carbon development, campaigning for local support in the media and asking locals to "play an active role in overcoming the increase in earth's temperature due to climate change by supporting the geothermal project."²⁹⁴ In response to the language of climate action, Wae Sano residents, looking at similar geothermal projects in the region, critiqued the rhetoric as just "campaign material" that failed to consider the environmental and biodiversity effects of the project.²⁹⁵ To the residents impacted, opposition to the project stems from concerns

about protecting local ways of life and biodiversity.²⁹⁶ Their opposition is especially striking given how geothermal development is touted as requiring the smallest land and resource footprint among most renewable power technologies.²⁹⁷

No clear victor has yet emerged in the push and pull over geothermal energy in Flores. Years of sustained community resistance led the World Bank to upgrade its risk rating of the environmental, social, and stakeholder impacts of the Wae Sano project, before ultimately withdrawing its financing

Citizen opposition is especially striking given how geothermal development is touted as requiring the smallest land and resource footprint among most renewable power technologies.

from the project in 2023.²⁹⁸ However, in a letter announcing the withdrawal of World Bank financing from the project in Wae Sano, the regent of West Manggarai announced that Indonesia's government would use alternative funding mechanisms to continue the project.²⁹⁹ Community members remain resolute in their opposition to the project—to them, "the main problem is not the funding, but that the project disrupts people's lives, both environmentally and socially."300

As the debate has dragged on, new voices have joined the Indigenous villagers' opposition, most notably a coalition of activists and Catholic religious leaders. In January 2025, Archbishop Paulus Budi Kleden of the Archdiocese of Ende voiced his moral opposition to geothermal development after consulting with affected constituents in Flores, and he spoke about the need to encourage resistance.³⁰¹ In March, the Archdiocese of Ende issued a pastoral letter that rejected the development of the Flores and Lembata geothermal projects. That month, Catholic priests and nuns joined hundreds of activists rallying outside of the Ministry of Energy and Mineral Resources in Jakarta as well as outside of the regent's office in Ngada Regency to demand a halt to geothermal development in Flores.³⁰² Amid growing interventions by the Catholic Church in Indonesia, the governor of East Nusa Tenggara issued a moratorium on the development of new geothermal energy projects on Flores in April 2025 and promised to review all geothermal development.³⁰³

The involvement of religious leaders symbolizes the expansion of the movement to encompass broader ideological considerations beyond immediate community concerns about direct socioeconomic and ecological costs. The inclusion of religious leaders in the coalition not only accorded the movement with greater visibility but also invoked a moral dimension of resistance to destructive practices. Indeed, one Wae Sano resident described geothermal developments as "a killer of living beings created by God,"³⁰⁴ while the open letter described the community's rejection of geothermal development as being "in the name of justice, peace and the integrity of creations."³⁰⁵ As civic opposition to the Wae Sano geothermal project grows, coalition-building has become an essential way to effectively amplify the voices of marginalized communities most disadvantaged by climate infrastructure development.

Conclusion

The case study of Flores, Indonesia, makes clear that the clean energy transition in Southeast Asia is experienced through contradictory realities. While national governments attempt to respond to the urgent need for decarbonization, local communities often experience such projects through the fears of environmental degradation, displacement from ancestral lands, and economic marginalization. The future of climate infrastructure development in Southeast Asia must thus contend with the challenge of balancing climate goals with respecting local rights and protecting the rich biodiversity of the region. There is no panacea to this paradox. Crafting climate policy that is ambitious in its targets, centered on tenets of environmental justice, and protective of ecosystem health will require navigating significant complexities and trade-offs.

As governments respond to growing civic opposition to climate infrastructure projects, activists may also face restrictions on civic space. This is especially notable in Southeast Asia, a region marked by a diverse spectrum of regimes. Authoritarian governance practices in these nations—many of which maintain inherited colonial-era regulations I limit freedom of expression or assembly. Across the region, environmental activists are particularly vulnerable. Southeast Asian countries such as the Philippines consistently

rank among the deadliest countries in the world for environmental activists, with activists subject to harassment, detention, and violence.³⁰⁹ In Wae Sano, stories have emerged of the intimidation of Indigenous protesters who oppose geothermal development. During the public consultations held in 2020 regarding the geothermal project, police and military personnel were stationed both within and outside of the meeting room, which local community members viewed as an intimidation tactic that prevented the local community from "standing up for their rights." 310

The growing global trend of citizen protests against climate infrastructure projects alongside the trend of criminalization elaborated in Oscar Berglund's article³¹¹—underscores that much more has to be done to ensure that communities not only understand the global need for decarbonization but also receive localized benefits from such activities. This is especially critical in marginalized communities, where such developments risk replicating colonial histories of repression and extraction if not carefully managed. In the case of geothermal development in Southeast Asia, possible paths forward should prioritize free, prior, and informed consent. Acquiring true consent that is free from any form of coercion will help to facilitate bottom-up participation before development occurs on Indigenous territory. Moreover, such projects should consider the local communities as partners and not merely obstacles to the development. This might entail starting with smaller-scale projects that can deliver immediate, localized benefits, which can foster trust and prevent residents from feeling like they have been sacrificed for national development. Community involvement in the ownership and benefits of energy infrastructure—such as forming energy cooperatives or allowing local stakeholders to become shareholders—can further align projects with local interests and reduce their economic losses. As these benefits are realized, capacity can gradually expand, creating pathways for the community to adapt, including shifting local expertise and livelihoods. Such measures will take time but can ensure a more equitable and durable transition.

Ultimately, decarbonization is not a goal in and of itself. The fundamental mission behind climate action should be to build a livable world. Achieving this vision demands more than just deploying clean energy infrastructure at scale. It requires interrogating who benefits and who bears the costs of such processes. This might entail rethinking metrics of success beyond megawatts deployed or emissions reduced to also include how local communities are empowered. To build sustainable and enduring climate policy, decarbonization efforts must be aligned with the broader missions of environmental justice and biodiversity protection.

Northeast India's Environmental Movements Have Taken a Climate Edge

Daevan Mangalmurti

Climate change has the potential to dramatically disrupt the lives and livelihoods of millions of people in South Asia. The trends that loom largest are less predictable rainfall and hotter temperatures.³¹² To counteract these developments, governments in the region have called for international investment and aid, sought to expand the use of renewable energy, and begun planning resilience and adaptation measures with potentially major effects on their citizens' lives.³¹³

As Jasmin Logg-Scarvell detailed earlier in this series, mobilizing resources to mitigate and adapt to climate change requires governments to draw on climate science, which can be used to support state-led policies. But it can also be used to oppose them. This article examines an instance of the latter: the integration of climate science into the anti-dam movements of Northeast India. The Northeast, a topographically and culturally diverse region, has long had a fractious relationship with the rest of India. Dams represent a flashpoint that symbolizes the state's power to reshape the landscape and the lives that depend on it.

Since the late 1990s, the Indian government has presented large dams in the Northeast as an environmentally friendly and necessary means of meeting power demand.³¹⁴ For almost as long, activists have used the rhetoric of mitigation and adaptation to push back. In the process, they have blurred customary distinctions between environmental and climate-focused activism. The history of activism around such projects exemplifies how activist movements that begin with cleavages over jobs or the local environment can reorient themselves toward climate change in response to international influences and the worsening climate crisis.

This article begins with a depiction of environmentalism and dam development in India, particularly the Northeast. It then zooms in on the Lower Subansiri Hydroelectric Project (LSHEP), an especially contentious dam, to examine the role of climate science in the rhetoric used to try to stop its construction. The article concludes with a reflection on the prospects for the continued integration of climate-focused rhetoric into the region's environmental protection and conservation movements.

Environmentalism and Development in Northeast India

Indian environmentalism has three broad traditions, each associated with a socioeconomic class. Elite-led conservationist movements began before independence and emphasize protecting wild spaces, flora, and fauna. Middle-class environmentalism centers access to clean air and water, especially in urban areas. Environmentalism of the poor is produced mostly in rural contexts and involves marginalized populations staking claims to natural resources in opposition to state- and corporation-led extractive development. Sharachchandra Lele, an environmental researcher, describes this third form of environmentalism as positing "that communities living in close proximity with natural resources, especially the poor, are generally predisposed towards sustainable use of resources, and the problem of degradation originates in their powerlessness in the face of takeover/ handover of these resources by/to industry in the name of development."315

Most environmental movements have involved an overlap of traditions. But India's large rural population and many ethnic cleavages have resulted in environmentalism of the poor being the most visible. India's most famous environmental movement, the Chipko Andolan, erupted in the 1970s when villagers in the erstwhile hill tracts of Uttar Pradesh mobilized to prevent contract logging by lowlanders and protect their own claims to forest resources.³¹⁶ Chipko is the archetypal example of sociologist Pradip Swarnakar's statement that "protest is an outcome of the livelihood crises faced by marginalized populations that are highly dependent on natural resources."317 Similar tensions produced the Narmada Bachao Andolan, an anti-dam movement; the Jungle Bachao Andolan, an anti-plantation movement; and many efforts to guarantee tribal access to minor forest produce. 318 These movements have all been organized around a central question: Who is more deserving of the right to extract and make use of natural resources? Is it the poor, the rural, and the marginalized or corporations, urban elites, and the centralized state?

The Northeast, as is the case with many peripheries, has often been the target of extraction—for tea, oil, and now, electricity—the benefits of which have not accrued to the grassroots.³¹⁹ As a result, the region has long played host to secessionist movements and ethnic insurgencies.³²⁰ Though lauded by India's first prime minister, Jawaharlal Nehru, as "temples of the new age," dams in the Northeast have often been an irritant, not a balm, to these tensions.³²¹ The initial phase of dam construction in the Northeast, which took place in the 1970s, featured the construction of Ithai Dam in Manipur and Gumti Hydroelectric Project in Tripura. Both schemes resulted in flooding and displacement that dispossessed

locals of both land and ecological stability without clear resettlement measures.³²² In Assam, the Brahmaputra Board, which was established to control flooding and erosion on the eponymous river, received more public buy-in but was also criticized when it appeared distracted from local concerns.

While early dam projects in the Northeast were intended to deliver a trifecta of flood control, irrigation, and hydroelectricity, in the 1990s, dam construction moved toward exclusively generating power. This was partially a consequence of intense local and national opposition to impoundment dams.³²³ Run-of-the-river projects, the new favorite technique for dam construction, caused less displacement and were less costly than multipurpose projects. But the renewed push for hydroelectricity also reflected development imperatives. In the Brahmaputra River and its tributaries, the central government

Dams in the Northeast have often been an irritant, not a balm, to underlying tensions.

saw underused potential for hydropower that could meet power demands for swaths of the country beyond the Northeast.³²⁴ In 2003, then prime minister Atal Bihari Vajpayee "directed India to generate 50,000 megawatts of power by constructing 162 big new hydropower stations—most of them planned for the Himalayas," according to journalist Keith Schneider.³²⁵ At one point that decade, 165 large dam projects had been proposed for the Northeast alone.³²⁶ Dam construction was to be implemented by federal entities, such as the National Hydroelectric Power Corporation (NHPC) and North Eastern Electric Power Company (NEEPCO), as well as a host of private companies, some with no prior dambuilding experience, lured in by liberalization and generous governmental risk-reduction policies.327

The 1998 Policy on Hydro Power Development used climate science to justify dam projects: "Hydro power is a renewable economic, non polluting and environmentally benign source of energy. . . . Hydroelectric projects have long useful life extending over 50 years and help in conserving scarce fossil fuels."328 Through 2008, the framing of hydroelectricity as a substitute for fossil fuels took on a more environmental tinge. The foreword to the report for Hydro Power Policy 2008 by Sushilkumar Shinde, the then union power minister, showcases this shift:

While on the one hand, we are under tremendous pressure for quick capacity addition, to meet the rising demand for power, on the other hand there is a global concern on the Green House Gas (GHG) emissions by coal based power plants. In the face of this, we have to make the most appropriate choice of technology and fuel. We are blessed with a vast hydro potential in the country. This environmentally benign source of energy is capable of providing clean and environment friendly energy at affordable rates. 329

Shinde's words were echoed in the same report by Jairam Ramesh, the then union minister of state for power.

By 2019, the idea of dams as a form of climate-friendly power had advanced further. That year, the government designated dams generating more than 25 megawatts of power as sources of renewable energy to facilitate their financing.³³⁰ Commentators in the Northeast speculated that the move was also intended to help achieve India's nationally determined contribution to the Paris Agreement on climate change.³³¹ Though no large dams have received green infrastructure financing yet, the state of Arunachal Pradesh has been successful in registering small hydroelectric plants for carbon credits.³³²

More than two decades after Vajpayee's directive, only a few of the proposed projects have been completed. Many exist in a state of limbo, opposed not just by upstream populations but also by downstream communities all too aware that run-of-the-river projects often worsen water quality, produce siltation, and cause rivers to dry up.³³³ Other criticisms and pitfalls include inadequate environmental reviews, a lack of resettlement compensation, seismic risk, and generated electricity directed to faraway cities rather than developmenthungry locals.334

Case Study: Climate Rhetoric and the Lower Subansiri **Hydroelectric Project**

The opposition movement against LSHEP began in the tradition of environmentalism of the poor. As it has continued over the past two decades, activists have used climate science to argue that the dam does not make economic or ecological sense for either the nation or the inhabitants in the immediate vicinity of the dam and its effects. Through this rhetoric, a network of rural activists, nongovernmental organizations, and scientists working in Northeast India have demonstrated that climate science does not belong solely to elites, whether environmentalist or developmentalist. The invocation of scientific authority provided activists with additional legitimacy and an internationally legible vernacular in the struggle to assert local claims to resource use over those made by the state. In the process, the need for climate adaptation was integrated into arguments for locally driven development and resource-use decisions to form a novel kind of climate activism.

The need for climate adaptation was integrated into arguments for locally driven development and resource-use decisions to form a novel kind of climate activism. LSHEP was proposed in the 1990s as a dam with hydropower, irrigation, and flood control components on the Subansiri River, the greatest of the Brahmaputra's tributaries, near the Arunachal Pradesh-Assam border.335 By 2003, locals downstream in Assam had formed the Subansiri Bachao Samiti (Save Subansiri Committee) to oppose the dam. Environmentalists were concerned about legal violations in the dam's planning, its implications for biodiversity, neglect of community consultations, and consequences for downstream river flow.

Protests took off in 2005, when construction on the dam officially began. The initial mobilizations focused on jobs, not the environment. Activists argued that the NHPC, the dam's developer, was allocating too few jobs to locals in Lower Dhemaji district, a poorly connected part of Assam sandwiched between the north bank of the Brahmaputra and Arunachal Pradesh.³³⁶ But the tenor of the protests changed in 2008, a year of significant monsoon floods, to emphasize the dam's safety risks and its consequences for downstream populations left out of the consultation process for the dam. Civil society organizations the All Assam Students Union, Krishak Mukti Sangram Samiti, Takam Mising Porin Kebang, and Asom Jatiyatabadi Yuba Chatra Parishad—and a political party, the Asom Gana Parishad, joined the opposition. In 2011, the Krishak Mukti Sangram Samiti sent a petition with 110,000 signatures on it to then prime minister Manmohan Singh to ask for a moratorium on dam building.337

Popular pressure produced short-term gains. Ramesh, by then minister of environment and forests, met with protesters. The central government shortly thereafter set up a committee to examine issues with the dam, and construction was halted in 2011. Even after this, though, opponents of the project and the government continued to put forward competing assessments—both asserting objectivity—of the dam's vulnerability to earthquakes, impact on environmental conditions, and benefits for surrounding communities.³³⁸

The movement against LSHEP is a textbook example of activism in the tradition of environmentalism of the poor. Much of the opposition to the project came from local farmers and fishermen downstream of the project who feared the loss of their livelihoods because of the dam's construction and who had not been included in consultations about the project despite the large, negative, downstream impacts of dams.³³⁹ They objected to the central government's strong belief in the necessity of investing in hydroelectric power for development.

The invocation of climate change to oppose LSHEP and mega dams broadly emerged around 2009 or 2010. The spread of these ideas was facilitated by a web of connections between both local and international nongovernmental organizations, scientists, journalists, and activists. 340 These grew out of existing efforts to improve water management, protect tribal and customary rights in the Northeast, and manage development sustainably. Many of the participants in this network were highly locally rooted but conversant with an international community that shared their priorities around climate and environmental justice.

Much of the opposition to the project came from local farmers and fishermen downstream of the project who feared the loss of their livelihoods because of the dam's construction.

Costanza Rampini, an environmental scientist, has described the condition of riparian communities near dams in the Northeast as "double exposure." Her work in Arunachal Pradesh finds that "dams along the Brahmaputra are worsening floods, reducing winter season flows, and increasing overall flow variability, hence compounding the impacts of climate change on river flows."341 Residents of the riverbanks are highly sensitive to this, as journalist Snigdhendu Bhattacharya highlights in his reporting on the Northeast:

Hemanta Madhab Gogoi, a resident of Lakhimpur district and an activist of the Raijor Dal political party, said one of the reasons they are opposing the Lower Subansiri project is the changing rainfall pattern. "Heavy rains are coming in quick bursts following prolonged dry seasons. Droughts and floods have both increased. Playing with nature in this unpredictable period is like committing hara-kiri," he said.³⁴²

Opposition to the dams, while certainly linked to issues around compensation and exploitation, is also deeply connected to the desire among rural populations for a stable relationship with the Brahmaputra and its tributaries. The already unpredictable rivers and the increasingly unpredictable rains are made even more difficult to prepare for by dam projects with limited parochial benefits and high-variance outcomes for farmers, including drought and flash floods. Access to climate science allows activists to link rural and agrarian

> concerns with the work being done to adapt to and mitigate climate change at the international level.

Access to climate science allows activists to link rural and agrarian concerns with the work being done to adapt to and mitigate climate change at the international level.

Connections between climate scientists and activists on the front lines allowed scientific arguments to be foregrounded in protest rhetoric. In 2010, climate scientist Partha J. Das, who leads water and climate research at the conservation nonprofit Aaranyak in the city of Guwahati in Assam, contributed a section on "The Hydropower-Climate Change Nexus" to a white paper on dams in the Northeast. The article warned of severe, negative consequences for adaptation from construction, pointing to the possibility that dams might exacerbate both water scarcity, as increasingly intermittent

rainfall could end up trapped behind dam walls, and flash flooding, as outbursts could dump too much water for dams or land to absorb, forcing the release downstream of large volumes of high-velocity flow.³⁴³

Das was networked with activists such as Monoj Gogoi and K. K. Chatradhara—both from the town of Gogamukh, which is close to the site of LSHEP—through nongovernmental organizations such as the Rural Volunteer Centre, "a non-governmental and non-profit organization committed to fostering sustainable development and resilience among vulnerable communities."344 These connections enabled the rapid uptake and sharing of information between urban and rural contexts, and between researchers and activists. Gogoi was among several interlocutors to point out to me that increasingly intermittent rainfall patterns cited by the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change were likely to make hydroelectric dam projects white elephants with far lower actual generation than their nameplate capacity—all while still cutting off the downstream from regular flows.³⁴⁵ From

his perspective, "everything is linked to the Subansiri" in his part of Assam. Thus, the combined disruption of climate change and the dam project threatened fishermen, farmers, and riverbank communities alike.346

By the early 2010s, the effects of climate change appeared in activist writings on dams in the Northeast. A communiqué released by civil society groups from the states of Manipur, Meghalaya, and Assam after a 2014 Consultation on Dams and Climate Change in India's North East criticized large dams on climate change-related grounds. The passage about LSHEP argued that:

The 2000 MW Lower Subansiri Dam will not only destroy forest areas in Arunachal Pradesh but also huge agriculture land in Assam. Destroying massive forest areas will only liberate colossal quantum of Green House Gases, viz, Carbon dioxide, Methane etc, responsible for climate change and crisis in the Earth's atmosphere. The climate change implications of the submergence of agriculture land and forest areas by these mega dams has never been assessed.347

The communiqué made similar arguments about the Tipaimukh project in Manipur, and dam developers were criticized for seeking to receive carbon credits through the United Nations' Clean Development Mechanism for their projects.

Chatradhara, who represented the People's Movement for Subansiri Valley during the aforementioned consultation, has carried its message further. His work has linked the antidam movement to the perception of a water crisis centered on a more unpredictable riparian environment. In an interview with Assam Times, he said, "The water crisis in Northeast India is no longer a distant threat—it is happening right now. Our rivers are drying, floods are more destructive than ever, and communities are struggling for reliable water access. We cannot afford to wait any longer." 348 The message from groups such as his is that the region needs investment in climate-resilient infrastructure to withstand increasingly erratic rains and floods. Dams are too static and inflexible to form a part of this future.

By presenting dams as actively contrary to the goals of climate change mitigation and adaptation, activists, informed by climate science communicated through interlocutors including Das, have sought to foreclose the possibility of using the green transition to justify dam construction. Unlike anti-developmentalists focused on ecosystem health or biodiversity, they do so with a focus on the consequences of dam construction for both development and climate adaptation. Dams are presented as nonresilient infrastructure that hurt people's ability to earn their livelihoods, jeopardize public safety by making flash flooding more likely, and remain economically infeasible because climate change may reduce the consistency of the flows of water they depend on.

Conclusion

After the National Democratic Alliance coalition, led by the Bharatiya Janata Party, came to power in New Delhi in 2014 and in Assam in 2016, it slowly became clear that LSHEP would be completed.³⁴⁹ Activists turned to coalition-building. In 2019, Chatradhara and S. K. Chakraborty, a journalist from the city of Shillong in Meghalaya, convened the first North East India Water Talk (NEIWT). Envisioned as a platform for grassroots conversations about water-related issues in the Northeast, NEIWT represented an attempt to create a kind of broad, open civic space for important but underrecognized issues related to flooding, water scarcity, clean water, and dam construction. 350

The most tangible product of NEIWT has been A Compendium of Water Stories from North-East India, a Heinrich Böll Stiftung-funded project that collects thirty essays about water from across the Northeast. The essays reflect the varied relationships and experiences of water that citizens of the Northeast have, such as the terror of the Brahmaputra in spate and the sacred relationship between local communities and water sources in the hills of the Shillong Range of Meghalaya. Contributors to NEIWT have linked the kinds of water crises experienced in the Northeast to climate change. When floods swept Tripura in 2024, Thomas Malsom, a NEIWT affiliate, wrote, "Tripura's heavy rainfall is a testament to the ecological imbalance caused by anthropogenic activities, which has fuelled the state's climate catastrophe. Tripura's August downpour, which resulted in record-breaking flooding, serves as yet another warning sign of growing apprehension about future climate events."351

NEIWT's readiness to discuss both environmental and climate issues demonstrates a phenomenon that is occurring around the world but is especially clear in Northeast India: the gradual merger of the two issue categories as the conversation about climate change expands to be more inclusive of adaptation-related issues that are clearly connected to environmental justice. The example of the past decade shows how climate science can and does inform movements that stem from very different roots—in this case, the Indian tradition of the environmentalism of the poor. By accessing climate science and understanding the implications of climate change for local contexts and issues, activists are able to construct movements that are simultaneously local and integrated with international audiences and concerns.

For Arab Youth, Mass Mobilization Won't Fight Climate Change

Valerie Boutros and Amr Hamzawyi

Throughout the Arab world, climate change has led to brief episodes of mass mobilization by impacted communities and put forward popular demands for more effective mitigation and adaptation efforts. At the core of the Hirak Rif Movement in Morocco in 2016–2017, the grassroots mobilization in Libyan Derna following the 2023 devastating floods, and local mobilization in Yemen demanding accountability for polluted water and other environment issues has been citizens' realization that their governments fail to address the impacts of climate change as well as continue to exclude them from governance.

However, these climate mobilizations build upon more than a decade of Arab experiences with mass mobilization. When the first wave of Arab Spring uprisings broke out in 2010, citizens memorably seized upon public spaces demanding bread, freedom, justice, and dignity. Young people in particular organized powerful movements and coalitions capable of credibly demanding political change. Fueled by existing grievances and long-standing deficits, the region's youth bulge came at a historic juncture, resulting in unexpected turnout and, later, unanticipated consequences.

But the unexpected activism of Arab youth in 2011 triggered a paradigm shift toward consideration of the agency of activists and the possibility of mass mobilizations as drivers of change in the region. Since then, mass mobilizations in the Arab world have articulated a range of grievances against citizens' lack of representation and the failure of authorities to consider their interests. Increasingly, the grievances of Arab youth have focused on the climate space. Weak climate mitigation and adaptation efforts, the fallout of major climate

disasters, and increased hardship induced by civil wars have led youth groups to organize and mobilize for the climate using issue-based strategies. Through this lens, this article explores the emergence of the Arab uprisings in the early and late 2010s and examines how these protests laid the groundwork for climate activism in the Arab world today.

Youth Bulge and Cyber Activism

The 2011 surge in activism brought to the fore the sociopolitical significance of certain Arab demographics,³⁵³ especially those under the age of twenty-five. Reports from the prior decades revealed that since 2002, Arab governments had failed to attend and respond to the legitimate needs and demands of their young populations aspiring for better education, work opportunities, social mobility, true political representation, social justice, and freedom of expression.354

Central to the Arab Spring were the ways that young Arabs organized protest networks and coalitions, and how they mass mobilized for change. Young Arabs' activism employed social media—especially Facebook and Twitter (now X)—to raise awareness of their political demands and mobilize, first online then on the ground.³⁵⁵ Thus, cyber activism resulted in protest activism and mass mobilization among the Arab youth, 356 spearheading the 2011 uprisings and, in turn, motivating a wider range of Arab populations to protest. This trend persisted in the outbreak of the second wave of uprisings in 2018–2019, with cyber activism again forming a central pillar for mobilization and coalition building for democratic change and social justice.

For instance, Algeria's peaceful (or silmiya) Hirak movement used a social media campaign as a core strategy to mobilize.³⁵⁷ Learning from the some of the shortcomings of the first wave of uprisings, in which online organization did not result in sustained, on-the-ground mobilization, Algerian activists used online organizing for peaceful protests and, with this form of innovative collective action, forced security forces to exercise restraint and motivated others to participate in the public sphere. Iraqi youth, for example, employed cyber activism to combat censorship and control,³⁵⁸ engage in resistance and political action, and promote citizen-led journalism. Thus, the effects of cyber activism endured beyond the first wave and carried over to second wave movements.

Religious Radicalism and Resistance for Change: Disenchantment and Retreat

However, the first wave of Arab uprisings brought about winds of change that did not always align with the aspirations of young citizens. The removal of sitting presidents in Tunisia and Egypt resulted in neither sustained political openings nor orderly paths to democratic transition.³⁵⁹ Confronted with the continued dominance of old elites and the hijacking of the uprisings by religious radicals, 360 youth movements and coalitions lost hope in achieving

sustained change. Furthermore, as members of the enduring old political guard joined the new ruling structures, the youth were again marginalized by the very power structures they protested against.³⁶¹ The collective view of young citizens in Tunisia and Egypt shifted drastically starting in 2013-2014 from feeling empowered and believing in their ability to democratize politics and modernize society,³⁶² to resignation and disenchantment resulting from the rise of religious radicals, to a preference for stability.³⁶³

Ambitious youth expectations clashed with power dynamics and societal realities that severely hindered opportunities for modernization and democratization. Youths' sense of elevated agency was confronted by the political entrenchment of old elites and religious right-wing movements, 364 both willing and ready to hijack the youth uprisings and push young Arabs back to their previous state of marginalization and ineffectiveness. Therefore, while some activists continued the fight, many saw the survival of old political elites and religious radicals as a definitive loss for their movement, accepting that it had been hijacked by the very people they sought to overthrow.³⁶⁵ Public opinion polls indicated that this resignation also translated into an overall decline in political interest and participation.³⁶⁶ Youth participation in elections and referendums plummeted.³⁶⁷

Since then, Arab youths have been generally disengaged from formal and informal politics. In the years after 2011, youth civic engagement decreased in all forms: political party membership, electoral turnout, attendance of campaign rallies, participation in protests, attendance of meetings, and signing petitions. Key findings on youth opinions, reported by Arab Barometer,³⁶⁸ indicate that youth in the Middle East and North Africa have little trust in government, look negatively at politics, and favor stability and gradual reform over sudden change.³⁶⁹ Young activists refrained from transforming their movements and coalitions into political parties, labeling political parties corrupt instruments geared to domesticate the youth.³⁷⁰

Meanwhile, in Libya, Syria, and Yemen, by 2012 peaceful uprisings had already begun to degenerate into violent clashes between incumbent regimes that refused to surrender to popular pressure and emergent militarized opposition movements with radical political and ideological backgrounds.³⁷¹ Violent clashes in these countries led to civil wars that exerted great pressures on states and societies.³⁷² The results have been a combination of state fragmentation; collapse of coexistence across multiethnic, multireligious, and multitribal settings; and the end of peaceful mass mobilization as a means of change.³⁷³ In these horrific conditions, youth activism for democracy and social justice in the three countries receded and was replaced with mere survival activism in the homeland and in the exiles to which many Libyans, Syrians, and Yemenis started seeking safety.

State Repression and the Loss of Faith in Political Change

The second wave of uprisings in 2018–2019 were also led by young activists and students seeking to mobilize their respective populations.³⁷⁴ Their primary grievances were related to unemployment, social injustice, political corruption, electoral fraud, and restrictions

on personal freedoms. Unlike the first wave, the second wave understood how deeply entrenched ineffective governance was in all areas of society—political, social, and economic.³⁷⁵ Thus, protesters' goal became to establish a new political order: what scholars have labeled an orientation "against everyone." ³⁷⁶ In contrast to the protesters of the first wave, those of the second wave had a widespread cognizance that both their governments and their opposition forces were incapable of delivering on promises of political and economic reform.³⁷⁷ They did not trust their political leaderships would meet their demands, ³⁷⁸ whether it was the incumbent or opposition leaders. Furthermore, the protesters rejected sectarian divisions, 379 such as those present in Lebanon and Iraq, in favor of cohesion in order to achieve a new beginning. Hence, any reforms short of restructuring entire political systems were insufficient and could not satiate the grievances of the second wave's protesters.³⁸⁰ This was a tall order that was both unattainable and destabilizing.

In Algeria, the Hirak movement protests to oust the president started in February 2019. They were peaceful in nature; however, the young activists were met with extreme violence and intimidation in order to subdue their revolutionary initiatives.³⁸¹ The state also employed selective repression, legal reforms, and carefully stage-managed elections to slow protesters' momentum.³⁸² In Iraq, the Tishreen uprising—a series of demonstrations, marches, sit-ins, and civil disobedience spanning 2019-2021—was made up of young Iraqis seeking better services and opportunities in their country.³⁸³ The youth coalitions were violently subdued, allowing entrenched authoritarian powers and political parties to regain their foothold on society.³⁸⁴ In both countries, the result was a stalemate, with both the government and opposition incapable of exacting definitive results. Youth were left with a sense of resignation: Public opinion polls found that majorities or near-majorities of the youth populations expressed a desire to emigrate and seek opportunities elsewhere.³⁸⁵

Young Algerian and Iraqi activists, specifically those supporting opposition movements, have since retreated from the political sphere, their faith in political change and newfound sense of agency squandered.³⁸⁶ Fear of violence and punishment has eliminated youth engagement in public space activism—which also has implications for climate activism in one of the world's hottest and driest regions.

Climate Activism and Youth Representation

In the countries of the Arab uprisings, youth have largely withdrawn from politics and public affairs. However, some forms of youth activism continue today, particularly those more specifically focused on certain issue areas such as climate change rather than broader regime change. In other words, youth activists working in the climate space have come to favor working with existing governments either to avoid repression or to ensure more immediate and tangible outcomes that alleviate some of the hardships resulting from climate change.

In the countries of both the first and second waves, youth groups, networks, and organizations have emerged that focus on sectoral and specialized issues such as women's rights and freedoms, the conditions of marginalized populations, access to basic services, and the issue of climate change and its societal implications.³⁸⁷ For example, groups such as Djerba, Authenticity, Heritage and Environment network in Tunisia; VeryNile in Egypt; Ecological DZ in Algeria; and Humat Dijlah (Tigris River Protectors Association) in Iraq are active in the climate space.³⁸⁸ As was the case in 2011 and 2018, these actors operate throughout civil society rather than as formal political parties or movements, seeking to influence policy by raising public awareness on the one hand and engaging in dialogue with governments through various civil society groups on the other.³⁸⁹

However, these efforts have mixed success. A preliminary survey of citizens assessing state responses to climate issues in Egypt, Tunisia, Algeria, and Iraq indicated a wide perception among citizens that the ongoing policy dialogue between civil society organizations and governments on environmental strategies has been limited. The survey also found a common preference—particularly among urban populations—for governments to focus on climate adaptation and resilience projects and efforts, such as financing green economy projects.³⁹⁰

Alongside the need for greater government initiatives, the survey also indicated citizens were enthusiastic about raising awareness about climate issues and the current impacts of climate change on human security in its broadest sense among specific social groups, such as the urban, educated, or middle-class; women; university students; and youth entering the labor market.³⁹¹ These youth-led networks and organizations often form the core of their countries' civil society representation at global climate summits.

While the countries of the first and second waves have some civil society activity working on climate issues today, they still lack a cohesive sector of nongovernmental actors working among marginalized populations disproportionately affected by climate change.³⁹² For instance, few organizations work in rural areas or among farming communities or fishermen, despite these groups experiencing disproportionate impacts of climate change.³⁹³ Representing the concerns and interests of these groups is typically left either to governments and their local structures—which vary significantly in their governance and empowerment capacities—or to development agencies and a mix of local and foreign NGOs.³⁹⁴

As Amir Gohar's article from this series explains, government administrations—across all levels and titles, from provinces and districts to local councils and units—governing water, energy, and agricultural issues that especially affect the rural sector tend to suffer from limited effectiveness, transparency, and popular participation.³⁹⁵ Simultaneously, the dysfunctionality and limited presence of environmental groups, networks, and organizations exacerbate the conditions experienced by low-income and resource-dependent populations. As a result, governments in the Middle East and North Africa continue to develop and implement policies in areas such as agriculture, water consumption, and energy without genuine community participation.³⁹⁶ The voices of women, youth, farmers, and local government representatives are not seriously heard, nor is there a robust NGO infrastructure that can bring those voices into the public sphere.

Beyond the exclusion of rural communities from governance frameworks, another constraint lies in the fact that many climate activists tend to build bridges and maintain continuous coordination and communication with governments—whether in the context of global climate summits or regarding environmental policies applied in rural and urban areas.³⁹⁷ This stems from a legitimate desire to influence public policy and aims to protect these groups, networks, and organizations from governmental restrictions on their activities and funding sources. However, the flip side of this pragmatic approach is that the independence of these actors is also subject to legitimate doubts, and their ability to democratically oppose adopted policies and propose practical alternatives remains a topic of public debate.

In many ways, these tensions can be considered a natural response to the lessons learned from the uprisings of the 2010s and especially the young activists' retreat from politics that followed them. Climate activists are probably keen to avoid being associated with radical demands and sudden change. On the other hand, their younger cohorts have very little trust in politics. There is no doubt that the limited grassroots and institutional reach of climate change actors—in addition to the issue-specific nature of their advocacy—makes it difficult for them to influence public policies in the climate space. However, dialogue between activists and governments can promote a societal and political environment conducive to gradual reforms that aim at climate mitigation and adaptation.

Climate Activism Across Urban and Rural Divides in the Middle East

Amir Gohar

Countries across the Middle East and North Africa (MENA) are contending with rising temperatures, water scarcity, and extreme weather events that impact ecosystems and livelihoods unevenly across geographic and socioeconomic contexts. In response, the governments of Egypt, Morocco, and Jordan have adopted long-term policy frameworks that emphasize mitigation, adaptation, and sustainable development: Egypt's National Climate Change Strategy 2050, Morocco's National Adaptation Plan 2030, and Jordan's 2022–2050 National Climate Change Policy. While these national agendas align with international climate commitments, they often obscure important differences between urban and rural settings. Local actors, including civil society organizations, youth groups, farmers, and informal workers, have stepped in to fill these policy gaps and confront climate challenges through both organized activism and everyday environmental practices. 399

Focusing on Egypt, Morocco, and Jordan, this piece explores how civil society actors operate within and around state climate policies, attending to the political and spatial conditions that shape the policies' visibility, legitimacy, and impact. It compares expressions of climate engagement—whether activism, adaptation, or everyday environmental struggle—in urban centers such as Cairo, Rabat, and Amman with those in rural or peripheral areas such as El Minya, Errachidia, and Tafileh. While national strategies are presented as inclusive and forward-looking, local realities often reveal a disconnect between centralized policy and the lived conditions of climate vulnerability. This article considers a variety of actors from formal NGOs and youth-led campaigns in capital cities to community protests over water, land, and environmental degradation in rural regions. These actions—whether visible or marginal, tolerated or repressed—expose the political contours of climate response shaping who gets to act on climate and under what conditions.

Egypt

Egypt's climate activism unfolds within a heavily regulated civic space, shaped by statecontrolled sustainability agendas and limited freedoms of association. The government promotes strategies such as the National Climate Change Strategy 2050 and its updated nationally determined contributions (NDCs), emphasizing green energy and water efficiency. 400 However, implementation remains tethered to donor agendas and investment logics, often privileging visibility over equity and megaprojects over community resilience, with real participation restricted to a narrow circle of approved stakeholders. 401

Civil society actors outside of the narrow circle, ranging from social enterprises such as VeryNile and Banlastic Egypt to informal networks like the Zabbaleen waste collectors, fill critical gaps by leading awareness campaigns, clean-up initiatives, waste reduction programs, and environmental education in marginalized communities. Yet these actors confront pervasive constraints: The 2019 NGO law, bureaucratic surveillance, travel bans, and the threat of dissolution limit their scope and silo activism, so actors must often work in isolation and compete for limited external support. 402

In 2024, Egypt's decentralization plan, announced at the World Urban Forum 12 in Cairo, signaled a supposed shift toward local governance. However, the centralized control over governorates was maintained, and civic engagement in local affairs (especially decisionmaking and budgeting) was selectively permitted through state-controlled channels. This reorganization, including restructuring the Civil Society and Civic Participation Platform in 2023-2024, has allowed the government to maintain control over local political dynamics while projecting a reformist image. While climate activism tends to be tolerated more than overtly political dissent, 403 it remains tightly bound by shifting thresholds of control. 404

Cairo

Cairo serves as the epicenter of Egypt's climate agenda, hosting numerous high-profile sustainability initiatives such as the European Bank for Reconstruction and Development's Green Cities initiative as well as clean mobility pilots like the Cairo Ring Road Bus Rapid Transit system and electric taxis in the New Administrative Capital. 405 While these projects are largely state-led, civil society and grassroots actors in Cairo are advancing a more participatory climate agenda. Social enterprises like Schaduf promote rooftop farming, urban agriculture, and eco-friendly landscape design in informal and low-income neighborhoods. In fact, Schaduf reported installing over 500 rooftop farms on low-income homes in the Cairo suburb Hadayek Helwan, enhancing food security and green coverage in marginalized districts. 406 In Historic Cairo, citizen-led greening is reclaiming derelict land through pocket park initiatives. An example is the Al-Khalifa Heritage and Environment Park, which transformed 3,000 square meters of an elongated ridge into a vibrant green space with recreational areas, waste systems, and childcare facilities. Notably, its irrigation

system innovatively uses water extracted during the process of pumping away accumulated water that had submerged adjacent thirteenth-century domes of al-Ashraf Khalil and Fatima Khatun. 407

Despite these efforts, civil society's impact remains fragmented: Projects are often donordependent, siloed, and concentrated in affluent areas, while peripheral neighborhoods receive minimal support. Moreover, the informal urban ecosystem continues to deliver essential climate and environmental services. The Zabbaleen community in the Manshiyet Nasr district, for instance, recycles up to 60 percent of Cairo's waste yet receives scant official recognition and faces threats from privatization. ⁴⁰⁸ A more overt clash emerged on Warraq Island, where residents resisted forced evictions under the state's Cairo 2050 modernization vision. Activists framed their defense of land and livelihood as an environmental cause, asserting rights to green space, clean water, and ecological continuity. 409 Such examples reveal how climate discourse in Cairo is formalized and visible when it aligns with state priorities and suppressed when it challenges dominant development logics or spatial control.

El Minya

El Minya Governorate lies in Middle Egypt along the Nile floodplain, its capital city 245 kilometers (about 150 miles) south of Cairo. Agriculture is the backbone of its economy, employing nearly half the labor force, yet poverty affects around 60 percent of its largely rural population, with over four-fifths living in villages. 410 El Minya, long peripheral to Egypt's development priorities, is increasingly central to the country's evolving climate governance. As early as 2010, residents protested urban encroachments on agricultural land and irrigation failures. These were early expressions of environmental dissent that predate today's climate discourse. 411 More recently, state-led initiatives have expanded, such as the \$94.6 million Sustainable Agricultural Investments and Livelihoods (SAIL) program (2014–2025), a partnership with the International Fund for Agricultural Development aimed at rural infrastructure development and solar irrigation. ⁴¹² The project has made tangible contributions to rural livelihoods and community infrastructure; however, persistent problems with funding disbursement, slow implementation, weak outreach, and management inefficiencies have limited its overall impact.16 Similarly, under the Decent Life initiative, 1.93 billion Egyptian pounds (\$40 million) were allocated in 2021 to drinking water projects in 192 villages across El Minya, yet there have also been issues regarding delays and limited public participation.

In contrast, grassroots initiatives represent a more participatory model. The Coptic Evangelical Organization for Social Services's Promoting Citizenship Values and Practices project encourages civic engagement in climate action, including promoting sustainable farming and climate literacy.⁴¹³ Complementary efforts have also emerged from international-local partnerships. UN-Habitat, working with the Minya Drinking Water and Sanitation Company, installed seven riverbank filtration units in Bani Amer and Kasr El Rakeeb, establishing nature-based water systems that now provide clean drinking water to over 30,000 residents. 414 Meanwhile, informal community groups and agricultural

cooperatives are experimenting with climate-resilient crops and alternative irrigation strategies, driven by firsthand experiences of fluctuating Nile River flows and rainfall variability. Youth initiatives, although often undersupported and operating without formal recognition, have organized small-scale tree-planting drives, canal cleanups, and awareness walks that infuse environmental care with local identity.

Morocco

Morocco is frequently celebrated as a climate frontrunner in the Global South, due to its ambitious national policies and landmark renewable energy initiatives such as the Noor Ouarzazate Solar Complex. In addition to its National Adaptation Plan, Morocco's updated nationally determined contribution has pledged to reduce greenhouse gas emissions by 45.5 percent by 2030, while its National Climate Plan (PCN 2030) sets a target of achieving 52 percent of installed electricity capacity from renewable energy sources by the same year. 415 Ministries and national agencies orchestrate Morocco's green transition in a highly topdown manner. Financial flows from international donors, though substantial, tend to move through these centralized channels, often sidelining regional governments and grassroots organizations.

As a result, civil society participation is uneven. While NGOs, youth collectives, and private actors contribute within donor-aligned, technocratic frameworks, more oppositional or justice-oriented movements are frequently excluded or actively repressed. For example, antimining protests in Jerada, which ran from late 2017 through 2018 and were triggered by the death of several artisanal miners in dangerous, abandoned coal mines, have been met with bans on demonstrations, police crackdowns, and mass arrests. 416 In addition, Amazigh land rights advocacy reflects ongoing activism by Indigenous communities seeking recognition of ancestral lands and cultural protection. These efforts often face state crackdowns, arrests, and legal barriers, including trials conducted in unfamiliar languages. 417

Rabat

As Morocco's administrative capital and a showplace for national urban and environmental policy, Rabat has become a hub for flagship development projects and climate-related infrastructure. Its strategic importance means it often receives outsized investment in green public transit, river restoration, and urban renewal, framed as models of sustainable city-making. 418 However, the scale and visibility of these interventions frequently mask underlying tensions between centralized planning and local realities. In Rabat, the impacts of climate-oriented projects often clash with local needs, sparking civic pushback. A prominent case is the Bouregreg Valley Development, a flagship riverfront renewal scheme that displaced traditional fishing communities. Excluded from planning and undercompensated, fishermen formed the Bouregreg Cooperative in 2009 to defend their livelihoods and market access, signaling grassroots resistance to environmentally framed urban agendas that marginalize established economies. 419

Another wave of activism unfolded in Rabat's suburbs in 2024, when Indigenous residents of Kish al-Oudaya launched protests against state reallocation of their ancestral territory without consultation. They demanded fair representation, accurate registries of rightsholders, and just compensation, even establishing community organizing bodies to resist dispossession. 420 These mobilizations spotlight how land-based environmental governance is intimately tied to claims of justice and voice. While the Rabat Ville Verte strategy and wastewater irrigation upgrades are presented as modernization efforts, actual consultative processes remain scarce. Nonetheless, the Bouregreg and Kish movements reveal burgeoning civic resilience: Communities are reclaiming agency by contesting exclusionary environmental projects through cooperatives, public demonstrations, and legal claims. These local interventions challenge technical progress narratives, demanding that climate governance be inclusive, transparent, and responsive to the everyday rights of residents.

Errachidia

Errachidia, located in Morocco's eastern High Atlas Mountains and Ziz Valley, is shaped by harsh climatic conditions and fragile oasis ecosystems that face accelerating pressures from drought, water scarcity, and land degradation. 421 In this context, climate resilience is not merely a matter of top-down planning, but also, it is an everyday practice of survival, adaptation, and quiet resistance rooted in traditional irrigation systems, agrodiversity, and community resource-sharing. 422 While the Moroccan government, supported by the World Bank, has introduced initiatives like the distribution of 200,000 vitro date palm seedlings and supported women- and youth-led cooperatives, these programs build on long-standing local ingenuity. 423 For generations, communities in Errachidia have developed autonomous systems to cope with scarcity, including ancestral irrigation networks known as khettaras, vernacular earthen architecture, and intricate rules of water governance grounded in collective labor and inherited rights. Recent attempts to revitalize khettara networks have rekindled debates about water access, historical equity, and environmental justice. Local farmers and water users are asserting the value of traditional water rights (in other words, entitlements based on past contributions to canal construction) as a counterpoint to newer, often technocratic water management approaches. 424 This defense of territorial knowledge and communal systems is a form of civic resilience that challenges the invisibility of rural adaptation practices in national policy. In Errachidia, climate activism is not marked by protest but by the ongoing negotiation of heritage, rights, and self-determination in the face of ecological precarity.

Jordan

Jordan's climate governance operates within a context of acute resource scarcity and regional instability. As one of the world's most water-poor countries, it has adopted forward-looking strategies, including the National Climate Change Policy (2022–2050) and its updated nationally determined contribution (NDC) pledging a 31 percent emissions reduction by

2030, conditional on international support. 425 These commitments, supported by donors such as the Green Climate Fund, prioritize mitigation through renewable energy and adaptation through improved water management and agricultural sustainability.⁴²⁶

Community-based initiatives are emerging. The Jordanian Hashemite Fund for Human Development, in cooperation with the Ministry of Water and Irrigation and the German Agency for International Cooperation, has advanced community-based water conservation through initiatives like the Water Wise Women program, which trained over 300 women in plumbing, water harvesting, and household conservation.⁴²⁷ Meanwhile, youth groups like the Green Generation Foundation have launched eco-literacy programs, organized climate marches, and trained young people to participate in Jordan's national climate policy processes. 428 Across Jordan, women's cooperatives are revitalizing traditional crops and permaculture techniques, offering localized responses to climate stress. Examples include the Shuleh Women Cooperative, which markets olives, dairy, and rain-fed produce; the Habak women-led hydroponics cooperative in Dhiban; and permaculture training programs such as the Women's Empowerment Programme at the Greening the Desert Project. 429 These initiatives reflect a growing civic climate consciousness, even as national planning remains centralized and often disconnected from local realities.

Amman

Amman has emerged as Jordan's climate action flagship, with its Climate Action Plan setting ambitious targets such as reducing greenhouse gas emissions by 40 percent by 2030 and achieving carbon neutrality by 2050. 430 Backed by international donors and global networks like C40 Cities and Local Governments for Sustainability, the city has prioritized electrified transport, stormwater infrastructure, waste management, and green public spaces.⁴³¹ However, these high-profile projects are often concentrated in central areas and align more with donor logics than grassroots needs, raising questions about equity and long-term sustainability.432

Amman's climate activism landscape is shaped by a mix of institutional and grassroots efforts. Civil society organizations such as EcoPeace Middle East, Green Generation Foundation, and the Jordan Environment Society lead public awareness campaigns, urban gardening projects, and policy advocacy efforts, often in collaboration with international bodies. 433 While these organizations bring funding and expertise, they also face limitations in autonomy and agenda-setting, especially when their work intersects with politically sensitive urban issues. Youth and student movements contribute actively through campusbased clubs, public events, and digital advocacy. They ensure climate issues remain visible in public discourse but often operate within narrow, safe registers, emphasizing awareness over structural critique. 434 Similarly, local women's groups and neighborhood committees pursue tangible interventions—community gardens, recycling programs, and reforestation—but their reach is often constrained by limited support and infrastructural disparities.

Tafileh

Located in southern Jordan, Tafileh Governorate is emblematic of the spatial and political margins of the country's climate and development agenda. Poverty rates remain among the highest in the country, with over 17 percent of residents living below the poverty line and unemployment reaching 23.3 percent in 2023. 435 The National Food Security Strategy identifies Tafileh as the most food-insecure governorate in Jordan. 436 Rich in phosphate and oil shale reserves but lacking basic infrastructure and services, the governorate has long experienced a paradox of resource wealth and developmental neglect. Tafileh has seen repeated protest actions and public objections related to mining, from sit-ins by unemployed residents seeking jobs at Jordan Phosphate Mines Company's Hassa operations to community and ranger-led opposition to proposed copper extraction threatening the Dana Biosphere Reserve.⁴³⁷ While these protests rarely use the language of "climate justice," they represent clear forms of environmental claim-making—demanding accountability, redistribution, and recognition. These movements are often informal and coordinated through tribal networks, university student groups, or local elders rather than registered NGOs.

The state's response has oscillated between neglect, securitization, and bureaucratic deflection. Protests have occasionally led to promises of job creation or environmental studies, but systemic change has been limited. National climate policies—such as the Climate Change Policy 2022-2050 or the Green Growth National Action Plan-reference sustainable land use and environmental equity, but they do not meaningfully incorporate peripheral regions like Tafileh into participatory planning. Instead, rural engagement is largely instrumentalized through donor-funded rural development projects, so it is often short-term and disconnected from broader ecological or political frameworks.

At the local level, residents and youth have adopted everyday forms of environmental adaptation, including rainwater harvesting, community-led terracing, and informal reforestation. 438 However, these practices are rarely recognized as climate actions within national reporting or donor metrics. This dynamic reflects the broader civic space in Jordan, where Amnesty International has documented restrictive laws and government oversight that limit NGO advocacy and discourage political engagement. 439

Spatial Disparities in Climate Adaptation: The Urban-Rural Divide and Beyond

While adaptation efforts exist across both urban and rural contexts in the six areas discussed, the logics that shape them often differ in formality, orientation, and degree of institutional embeddedness.

In urban centers, adaptation tends to come in infrastructure-heavy, technocratic forms, often led by state or municipal authorities with donor or private sector backing. These projects typically prioritize visibility, scalability, and alignment with broader modernization agendas. This approach often treats the urban landscape as a platform for demonstrating climate readiness, producing measurable outcomes such as emissions reductions, improved transit systems, or enhanced green infrastructure. However, this same model frequently sidelines citizen involvement, reducing urban communities to passive beneficiaries rather than active agents of change. Even where urban planning rhetoric gestures toward inclusion, participatory mechanisms remain weak or tokenistic.

In contrast, rural and semi-rural areas, while often operating with fewer resources, exhibit adaptation approaches that are more socially embedded and participatory, even when facilitated by government-linked programs or international development actors. The presence of initiatives in Tafileh, Errachidia, and El Minya shows that adaptation in these areas is not absent, but is sometimes shaped by relational governance, where local networks and hybrid institutional arrangements (for example, NGOs, cooperatives, or village committees) become essential to implementation. In some instances, these approaches tend to integrate livelihoods, water, land, and social cohesion in holistic ways, if less formalized or visible within national policy narratives.

What emerges is less a binary of action versus inaction and more a contrast between standardized versus contextualized adaptation paradigms. Official urban responses often draw from global best practices and funding criteria, favoring replicability and impact metrics. Rural adaptation, meanwhile, leans on place-based knowledge and negotiated legitimacy, prioritizing endurance over innovation. The climate challenge for both urban and rural communities is not only spatial but strategic: how to bridge these modes without diluting the specificity of either. A more just adaptation landscape would not simply redistribute projects geographically but would also reconcile institutional scale with community scale, technical design with lived experience, and policy ambition with local capacity. Recognizing this interplay is essential to moving beyond the urban-rural binary and toward a more integrated, equitable version of climate governance.

Climate activism across the case studies remains uneven, and where it exists, it often functions less as a direct environmental mobilization and more as a substitute or proxy for broader political expression. In contexts where dissent is restricted, particularly in urban settings, environmental discourse can offer a relatively permissible space for voicing grievances about urban inequality, governance opacity, or exclusion from planning processes. In rural areas, by contrast, collective action often emerges around material survival, such as access to water or land, which may not self-identify as "climate activism" but enacts climate resistance through everyday practices.

Recommendations

Ultimately, tackling spatial disparities in climate adaptation is a question not only of environmental justice but also of sustainable development. Strengthening rural adaptation capacities while ensuring equitable urban resilience can contribute to a more cohesive and just climate response.

Addressing climate change challenges in general, and spatial disparities in particular, requires multistakeholder engagement and strong public-private partnerships. Government plays the role of regulator and enabler; communities share their interests, vulnerabilities, and solutions; while the private sector contributes financing and funding, protecting both its own interests and communities through corporate social responsibility and dedicated channels. The following recommendations cannot be achieved without all stakeholders converging, including governments, corporate actors, universities, NGOs, and international donors, each fulfilling their role within this melting pot.

- Integrating rural adaptation practices into national climate strategies by creating place-based policies that recognize rural-specific vulnerabilities and strengths, rather than treating rural areas as secondary to urban interventions
- Decentralizing climate governance to empower local authorities, especially in rural regions, with the autonomy, training, and resources needed to design and implement context-specific adaptation measures
- Investing in rural infrastructure and basic services, including climate-resilient water systems, renewable energy access, and agricultural innovation, to reduce dependency on donor-driven projects and ensure long-term resilience
- Supporting community-based and traditional knowledge systems by formalizing their role in national adaptation plans and allocating funding to scale up successful grassroots initiatives
- Promoting equitable urban resilience by prioritizing climate investments in marginalized and informal urban neighborhoods, ensuring that adaptation is not concentrated in high-income districts alone
- Developing rural–urban collaboration through knowledge exchange platforms, shared data systems, and codeveloped regional adaptation plans that reflect interconnected vulnerabilities
- Strengthening public awareness and climate literacy, particularly in rural areas, by investing in culturally appropriate education campaigns, local training centers, and community outreach

Bipartisan Backlash Against Geoengineering and Carbon Removal in the United States

Milo McBride

Amid shrinking carbon budgets and accelerating climate shocks, the prospect of deploying carbon removal or geoengineering technologies is surfacing new societal tensions and political resistance in the United States. Carbon removal technologies—such as carbon capture from flue source and direct air capture⁴⁴⁰—have drawn political pushback from both ends of the U.S. political spectrum. Meanwhile, geoengineering interventions—such as cloud seeding and stratospheric aerosol injection⁴⁴¹—are regarded as controversial processes. In theory, stratospheric aerosol injection reflects radiation from the sun, allowing the planet to cool and, as proponents argue, providing time to decarbonize and prevent the worst climatological feedback loops from accelerating. Across the United States, opposition to these interventions is emerging as a potent, cross-cutting force in climate politics, uniting unlikely coalitions of right-wing populists and environmental traditionalists against an increasingly less-relevant technocratic center. These horizon climate technologies have triggered online mobilization, localized demonstrations, and state-level bans from activist politicians. All of this suggests a politically volatile terrain.

This article explores this new frontier for climate activism in the United States. It analyzes how early political backlash is unfolding, creating vacuums for domestic mistrust, and potentially influencing policy for both geoengineering interventions and carbon dioxide removal (albeit, in varying degrees). The first section overviews carbon removal's fraught historical advancement to market and the present-day social and political backlash it has triggered. The second section outlines the trajectory of geoengineering, from its roots in militarization to its foundational place of opposition in conventional environmental camps and new, right-wing populist groups. From there, it examines the preemptive impacts

that geoengineering has had on local politics (and perhaps how they could permeate on the federal level). Lastly, the article zooms out and offers a comparative look into how the politics and policies of other jurisdictions have emerged regarding these contentious climate technologies.

Capturing Carbon

Carbon capture technologies have been deployed for decades, albeit with limited economic and technical success thus far. Capturing carbon from the earth's atmosphere was, importantly, designed to maximize oil production—not abate global carbon emissions. In the 1960s, U.S. and Canadian energy companies began experimenting with enhanced oil recovery (EOR) that injects CO₂ into the subsurface to stimulate the flow of crude oil. But by the new millennium, the potential for carbon capture utilization and storage (CCUS) spread to other hydrocarbon-related projects including natural gas purification in Norway and a coal-based synthetic fuel plant in the United States. Monitored by an International Energy Agency-backed consortium, an EOR facility in Canada was validated, further strengthening the notion that carbon capture could be part of a decarbonization pathway.⁴⁴²

At this moment in modern history, the first global climate discussions were underway starting with the 1997 Kyoto Protocol—and only a few clean energy alternatives were on the horizon: The nuclear age had screeched to a halt thanks in no small part to the disaster at Chernobyl and the rise of cheap natural gas. 443 Wind and solar power were niche and prohibitively costly solutions that were still primarily being manufactured in the developed nations, not China (which would later yield resounding cost curves thanks to Chinese labor costs and innovation).⁴⁴⁴ Much of the developed world's hydropower resources were well established, leaving developed countries with few additional low-hanging fruit for expansion. 445 Alongside the faulty promise of biofuels, carbon capture was viewed as a potential solution to decarbonization that would not rattle incumbents and respective labor markets. By 2008, the 45Q tax credit was introduced in the United States to help subsidize carbon capture (and the credit was expanded and altered in the following years). 446

But by the 2010s, carbon capture projects in the United States began to experience economic challenges—and with them, varying degrees of backlash. In 2003, the U.S. Department of Energy (DOE) launched the FutureGen clean coal project, but after repeated cost overruns and redesigns—including a short-lived revival with \$1 billion pledged in funding as FutureGen 2.0—the effort was finally abandoned in 2015 without a plant ever being built.⁴⁴⁷ Several years later, a similar state-backed project in Mississippi also failed, and analysis from the Government Accountability Office found that about half of the \$2.66 billion in innovation funding for carbon capture had been lost to unsuccessful developments.⁴⁴⁸ Despite these setbacks, a 2018 tax law under the first Donald Trump administration helped expand carbon capture subsidies. At the same time, advocacy groups led by youth movements were increasingly skeptical of carbon capture technology used alongside fossil fuel production. (By this time, renewables had neared cost parity with fossil fuels in power markets, by and large, surpassing all economic expectations.) 449

These dynamics intensified during U.S. president Joe Biden's administration. To start, the administration's goals of a big tent, ambitious climate policy based on the progressive vision of a Green New Deal required bringing centrist Republicans and Democrats on board, which in turn entailed a broad, technological approach. But as early as 2020, progressive groups and eighteen progressive House of Representative members stood firm against CCUS as a solution—with many focusing on concerns about the impact that carbon capture pipelines would have on communities. 450 An activist from Greenpeace specifically decried the expenditures as a "waste of money," while Friends of the Earth and other activist groups argued it would further empower and embolden fossil fuel incumbents. 451 These activist sentiments complicate a nuanced reality of carbon capture: Any serious net-zero forecasts envision enormous quantities of carbon removal, and yet much of the carbon capture plans may be driven by incumbents with the know-how to remove and store carbon dioxide. 452 Carbon capture and removal will—for better or worse—have to be part of the solution. In the end, the Infrastructure Investment and Jobs Act included billions of dollars in carbon capture funding—in particular to direct air capture hubs to scrub carbon from the atmosphere. To further these developments, the 45Q carbon capture subsidy was again expanded in the 2022 Inflation Reduction Act. 453

However, progress to develop large-scale carbon removal pipelines and infrastructure was triggering literal frontline resistance. The United States has experienced decades of anti-energy infrastructure activism-from the Earth First! movement's protest against the Glen Canyon Dam to more recent pan-Indigenous solidarity against the Dakota Access Pipeline. 454 In 2023, advocates in Illinois raised the alarm bell against the Heartland Greenway pipeline that would bring CO₂ from industrial plants across the Midwest to be stored in Illinois. 455 Many cited a 2020 incident where a CO₂ pipeline leaked in Mississippi, causing adverse health impacts to local residents. 456 The firm developing the carbon pipeline filed 232 lawsuits—including 156 eminent domain cases in South Dakota—to secure the land for its proposed 2,500-mile CO₂ pipeline, which would cross five Midwestern states. 457 That litigation strategy triggered local opposition, which helped drive the passage of a South Dakota law banning the use of eminent domain for CO₂ pipelines and contributed to the Public Utilities Commission's decision to deny the project's permit in South Dakota in 2025.458 In 2024, a Louisiana-based CO₂ pipeline also began to leak, prompting safety concerns around the state. 459 By this time, Indigenous groups and environmental justice organizations had begun organizing against CO₂ pipelines or advocating for better standards.460

The new political right has also become an increasingly vocal political force decrying carbon capture technology. In Iowa, a rally of over one hundred people—including many in Make America Great Again (MAGA) attire—came out to the Iowa Capitol to protest the Midwest CO₂ pipeline. With signs that read "People Over Pipelines" and "No Deadly Carbon Pipelines," the crowd was accompanied by Republican lawmakers and then presidential hopeful Vivek Ramaswamy. 461 This emerging, bipartisan resentment had been growing in Iowa since 2022 when the CO₂ pipeline gathered opposition from a strange coalition of traditional environmentalists, farmers, and evangelical Republicans. In one case, a conservative Christian farmer told POLITICO that only God controls the weather, "not the carbon dioxide."462 In ethos, there are increasing parallels to the anti-geoengineering politics mentioned in the following section, where both the traditional left and new right have begun to confront these frontier technologies with greater mistrust and antagonism (although often for different reasons).

Recently, segments of the Republican Party have echoed this skepticism toward carbon capture. Florida Governor Ron DeSantis recently referred to carbon capture as a "scam" and described the GOP-led state legislature's carbon sequestration task force as "embarrassing" and part of "climate ideology." 463 Several House Republicans advocated ending carbon capture subsidies altogether to ensure a total blow to Biden-era green industrial policy. 464 The Trump administration has also cancelled \$3.7 billion in decarbonization funding (among many others), which specifically bolstered carbon capture in the industrial sector.⁴⁶⁵ These dynamics are not an accident, nor are they a reaction to frontline Republican communities' response to CO₂ pipelines. They are a direct result of an emerging view of climate change from the American right: The storm is coming, but its winds are overstated. Fossil fuels are essential because they bring wealth and prosperity. In this view, fossil fuel externalities are worth the risk of planetary disruption.⁴⁶⁶

In the end, the second Trump administration and Republican Party have landed in support of carbon capture subsidies. The One Big Beautiful Bill Act, which repealed vast elements of the Biden-era Inflation Reduction Act, kept the carbon capture provisions intact. 467 The Trump administration has not formally canceled the \$3.5 billion direct air capture hubs program, but mass layoffs at DOE and a freeze on funds have left the department stalled in limbo. With oversight staff being gutted and communications embargoed, projects face uncertainty, delays, or even potential collapse despite bipartisan and industry support. 468

Controlling the Clouds

Technologically, geoengineering techniques are products of the post-world war era and trace their roots to American corporate and military endeavors. Speculation of the potential to alter the weather dates to the 1830s when an American meteorologist was hired by the U.S. Army to determine whether humans could stimulate the rain. These early studies were the building blocks for the U.S. Department of Agriculture's attempts to develop a "rain machine" through detonating balloons of explosives to remediate the drought of the 1890s. By the 1920s, the military had again begun looking into these methods as a means of displacing fog for tactical incursions. 469 Despite the failures of these early attempts, they nonetheless reveal how geoengineering research has long been driven by military ambition.

After the Second World War, geoengineering as known today began in earnest. Scientists at General Electric tested the first cloud seeding experiments to induce rainfall.⁴⁷⁰ As the Cold War ensued, military strategists on both sides of the Arctic began to investigate how the weather could be weaponized. (Albeit not from aerosol spraying but from other techniques: The Soviets, for example, wanted to build massive dams that could alter the ocean current

and Arctic Circle.)⁴⁷¹ The United States took the lead on proto-geoengineering technology, first with Project Stormfury, which started in 1962 and sought to weaken hurricanes, and later with Operation Popeye, a 1972 Air Force operation that sought to increase rainfall in Vietnam to suppress the geographical movement of the Viet Cong. ⁴⁷² The public leaking of this second operation, along with Cold War concerns about geoengineering, triggered the United States and Russia to negotiate the first global framework on the militarization of weather, known as the Environmental Modification Convention (ENMOD).⁴⁷³

Geoengineering in Climate Politics and Nativist Movements

By 2006, geoengineering had entered the climate change conversation. An article from Nobel laureate Paul J. Crutzen legitimized geoengineering in climate science discourse by suggesting that solar radiation management might be an important area to research if carbon emissions were not abated. 474 Until recently, most geoengineering techniques related to reflecting solar radiation remained theoretical and were not actively deployed. 475 In 2010, the UN Convention on Biological Diversity issued the first large-scale moratorium on geoengineering—which the United States did not ratify.⁴⁷⁶ Traditional environmental organizations opposed geoengineering as an unproven technology with ripple effects that could risk harming vulnerable communities and violating principles of informed consent.⁴⁷⁷ By this point, environmental consensus on the political left was beginning to form against geoengineering as a hubristic and unreliable moral hazard.

The political left has not centered on geoengineering, and most examples of backlash in typical left-leaning constituencies reflect more direct community disaffection rather than broader ideological opposition. After Harvard scientists sought to explore releasing calcium carbonate in the Swedish Arctic, the Indigenous Sámi people objected, prompting the researchers to withdraw. 478 In 2022, a network of Alaska Native leaders hosted a protest against a California-based geoengineering experiment seeking to spray synthetic silica into the atmosphere. The project was paused indefinitely.⁴⁷⁹ More recently, the progressive city of Alameda, California, voted to block local geoengineering experiments after one broke ground without the awareness of local politicians. 480

Outside of the climate movement, geoengineering rapidly became intertwined with socalled chemtrails theories (which claim that contrail emissions from airplanes are creating adverse human health effects). 481 Although the lineage of the chemtrails theory can be traced back to an online essay on the early web, its popularity accelerated significantly in the 2010s, especially among independent voters. 482 In 2010, a small anti-geoengineering protest emerged in San Diego at the American Association for the Advancement of Science. 483 In 2013, a demonstration took place at Redding City Hall in California when activists raised posters reading "Chemtrails Kill!!" and warned of an international plot to use climatealtering chemicals to harm mental and physical well-being. 484 Since these select events took place, much of the activism related to chemtrails and geoengineering has escalated online and not on the streets. 485 While these offline protests have been isolated and small-scale, online movements can yield notable potency in civil society.

In the past several years, these concerns about chemtrails have reemerged. Amid the rise of populist movements, theories have connected chemtrails with internationalist organizations that purportedly seek to control the weather. And while there have been few observed solely-geoengineering-focused protests to date, the subject has come to the fore as a rallying cry across both the MAGA and Make America Healthy Again (MAHA) coalitions. The mainstreaming of chemtrail theories is an indicator of an increasingly common political trend in the United States, where an issue once on the fringes now appeals to growing independent movements across political extremes. 486 That said, these theories are finding a more fertile home in contemporary right-wing movements that fuse climate denial with anti-globalist rhetoric.

Now, for the first time, this anti-geoengineering ideology on the political right is directly influencing policy in the United States. Thus far, geoengineering has been outright banned by three states—Florida, Montana, and Tennessee—with similar bills now introduced across Kentucky, New Jersey, North Carolina, Pennsylvania, Rhode Island, and Texas. 487 In total, twenty-two states have some form of anti-solar intervention legislation in the pipeline. 488 The bills have been entirely put forth by Republican officials emboldened by the notion that chemtrails exist and that they are connected to nascent, early-stage climate intervention tests. Most recently, legislation put forth in Congress—known as the CLEAR Skies Act—would ban all types of weather modification including cloud seeding and solar radiation modification. 489 The bill marks the first notable legislative action against climate intervention.

Despite lonely cries to continue to investigate geoengineering as a long-term climate solution from a less and less powerful political center, the technological approach does not seem to have many supporters in U.S. politics. The new Republican Party is increasingly of the mindset that climate interventions are a nonstarter, in line with some of its more severe, once-fringe beliefs. The Democratic Party, although more muted on geoengineering, has cautiously indicated approval of researching geoengineering techniques but has fallen short of setting up any programs. 490 The lack of political appetite for this technology puts the U.S. government in a predicament: American startups are actively beginning to test geoengineering practices regardless of potential regulatory headwinds. 491 But without institutional understanding and smart regulations, the risks of deploying this sensitive technology remain unmitigated.

Future Intervention and Global Divergences

In the United States, geoengineering interventions and carbon capture are facing varying degrees of political and social backlash. But across the world, as summers get hotter, droughts grow more extreme, and pressure to decarbonize mounts, these technologies are not slowing down.

Interestingly, as the United States faces increasing tensions with its neighbors to the north and south, Canadian and Mexican politics have both reflected isolated examples of mistrust toward the geoengineering-related activities of American companies and the U.S. government. In Canada, anti-chemtrails advocates have been around for decades. Notable examples of prominent politicians divulging their support for these once-fringe ideas include the former premier of British Columbia filing information act requests to see if regional or federal governments were using chemtrails and, more recently, the premier of Alberta legitimizing the chemtrails theory by specifically suggesting the U.S. military was responsible. 492 Similar transboundary issues of trust emerged in Mexico: When a private U.S. company launched unauthorized solar geoengineering experiments in Baja, Mexico's Secretariat of Environment and Natural Resources issued a formal statement banning solar geoengineering projects on Mexican territory. 493

Across the Atlantic and Pacific Oceans, both Europe and China are developing policies and experiments with these technologies. Despite opposition from notable NGOs and scientific communities, the EU is studying the social, engineering, and climatological challenges posed by geoengineering. 494 However, European scientists have not raced to endorse geoengineering and remain pessimistic about its potential to genuinely mitigate the worst impacts of climate change (in addition to the unforeseen, adverse effects it may have). 495 The UK has taken a slightly more aggressive approach by funding at least 57 million pounds (\$76 million) of small-scale geoengineering intervention pilots.⁴⁹⁶

China, by contrast, has been working diligently in this space for at least a decade. In 2015, the nation set an artificial rainfall target by 2020 to confront domestic water shortages.⁴⁹⁷ By 2020, the Chinese government announced it would be expanding its cloud seeding program fivefold to include new infrastructure, a weather modification system in the Qinghai-Tibet Plateau, and preparing the nation for an advanced level of weather modification by 2035.⁴⁹⁸ This year, China has successfully tested drones spraying silver iodine that were able to stimulate rainfall.499

Both Europe and China are also developing ambitious policies and infrastructure for carbon capture and storage (CCUS). Despite some pushback from climate NGOs and economists, the EU has embedded CCUS in its Green Deal Industrial Plan, funding large demonstration hubs in the North Sea and setting regulatory frameworks to certify permanent CO₂ storage.⁵⁰⁰ The UK has taken a similarly aggressive approach, rolling out multibillion-pound support for CO₂ transport and storage networks such as the East Coast Cluster and HyNet.⁵⁰¹ China, by contrast, has pursued CCUS mainly through its stateowned oil and coal giants. In its 14th Five-Year Plan, Beijing formally elevated CCUS as a national priority, targeting multiple industrial hubs for deployment, and in 2022 Sinopec launched what it called China's largest CCUS project at the Shengli oil field.⁵⁰² Some have even begun to speculate that the United States could, in the long term, lose its carbon capture industry advantage to China.⁵⁰³

Conclusion

The politics of climate intervention and carbon capture techniques in the United States reveal a deeper trend of decreasing trust in governance that extends beyond the conversation around the scientific merits or dangers of geoengineering and carbon capture. Both the new right and segments of the environmental left are converging in suspicion and hostility toward these frontier technologies—albeit for starkly different reasons. In some cases, genuine scientific reasons are prompting concern, while in others, unsubstantiated theories are driving backlash. While the U.S. outlook for carbon capture has muddled forward despite growing backlash, the political risks for geoengineering appear more severe. At present, these new politics have not yet interfered with developments—American oil majors are still developing CCUS, and startups are spraying chemicals into the air. But their futures could be precarious if current trends in this political climate persist.

Meanwhile, other powers may forge ahead—experimenting, regulating, and building the industrial capacities that could influence the future of climate management. Whether these interventions ultimately prove necessary or reckless, the United States could end up watching from the sidelines. In this vacuum, decisions about planetary-scale climate responses may shift to other actors, leaving America to reckon with the outcomes of choices it no longer has the power or institutional capacity to shape.

About the Authors

Noah Gordon is a fellow in the Sustainability, Climate, and Geopolitics Program at the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace in Washington, DC.

Oscar Berglund is a senior lecturer in international public and social policy at the University of Bristol in the UK. He is a critical political economist focusing on climate change activism, not least civil disobedience, and co-editor of *Policy & Politics*.

Issam Kayssi is a research analyst at the Malcolm H. Kerr Carnegie Middle East Center, where he focuses on Lebanon and Syria.

Mohanad Hage Ali is the deputy director for research at the Malcolm H. Kerr Carnegie Middle East Center in Beirut where his work focuses on the shifting geopolitics and Islamist groups after the Arab Uprisings.

Sarah Yerkes is a senior fellow in the Middle East Program at the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace. Her research focuses on democracy and governance, U.S. foreign policy towards the Middle East and North Africa, and political and economic reform in Tunisia.

Natalie Triche is a former junior fellow in the Middle East Program at the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace.

Jasmin Logg-Scarvell is a PhD candidate at the Copernicus Institute of Sustainable Development at Utrecht University, where her research focuses on how policy elites and public policy influence the outcomes of contentious climate policies. Her work is informed by a decade of experience as a policy executive in the Australian Public Service.

Erin Jones is a PhD candidate at the Copernicus Institute of Sustainable Development at Utrecht University. She was formerly a senior research analyst in the Democracy, Conflict, and Governance Program at Carnegie Europe.

Richard Youngs is a senior fellow in the Democracy, Conflict, and Governance Program, based at Carnegie Europe. He is also a professor of international relations at the University of Warwick and previously held positions in the UK Foreign and Commonwealth Office and as director of the FRIDE think-tank in Madrid. He is co-founder and director of the European Democracy Hub.

Debbra Goh is a research assistant in the Sustainability, Climate and Geopolitics Program. She was previously a James C. Gaither Junior Fellow in the Sustainability, Climate and Geopolitics Program.

Daevan Mangalmurti was a James C. Gaither Junior Fellow in the Sustainability, Climate and Geopolitics Program.

Valerie Boutros served as a former research intern in the Carnegie Middle East Program, where she worked on questions of youth mobilization and representation.

Amr Hamzawy is a senior fellow and the director of the Carnegie Middle East Program.

Amir Gohar is an educator, scholar, and practitioner in the field of landscape planning, urban development, and environmental protection with more than two decades of international professional experience. He is currently the program leader for the MSc Planning and Urban Leadership at University of the West of England, Bristol. He is a member of the Egyptian Society of Landscape Architects as well as the International Federation of Landscape Architects.

Milo McBride is a fellow in the Sustainability, Climate, and Geopolitics Program at the Carnegie Endowment for International Peace in Washington, DC.

Acknowledgments

The authors wish to express their gratitude to Carnegie research intern, Adam Kinder, for his excellent sourcing and editorial work on this article.

Notes

- 1 "Fossil Fuel CO2 Emissions Increase Again in 2024," Global Carbon Budget, November 13, 2024, https://globalcarbonbudget.org/fossil-fuel-co2-emissions-increase-again-in-2024/.
- 2 "What Is the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change?," United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, https://unfccc.int/process-and-meetings/what-is-the-united-nations-framework-convention-on-climate-change.
- Daniel Boffey, "Von der Leyen Pledges Climate Focus as MEPs Back New Commission," *Guardian*, November 27, 2019, <a href="https://www.theguardian.com/world/2019/nov/27/von-der-leyen-pledges-climate-focus-as-meps-back-new-commission; Kimberly M. S. Cartier, "Biden Calls Climate Change 'Existential Threat," *Eos*, February 9, 2013, https://eos.org/articles/biden-calls-climate-change-existential-threat.
- 4 António Guterres (@antonioguterres), X post, April 5, 2022, 6:46 a.m., https://x.com/antonioguterres/status/1511294073474367488.
- Tom McClintock, "Tom McClintock Column: On Climate Change—the Sky Is Not Falling (Opinion)," *Tahoe Daily Tribune*, April 1, 2019, https://www.tahoedailytribune.com/news/opinion/tom-mcclintock-column-the-sky-is-not-falling-opinion. His quote is found in Kate Aronoff, *Overheated* (Hachette, 2021), 24.
- 6 Andreas Malm, How to Blow Up a Pipeline (Verso Books, 2021), 114.
- 7 Ellie Silverman, "Police and Climate Activists Hurt in Clashes at Interior Dept.," Washington Post, October 14, 2021, https://www.washingtonpost.com/dc-md-va/2021/10/14/climate-activists-indigenous-interior-de-partment; Mary Kekatos, "Climate Activists Throw Soup on Vincent van Gogh Painting to Protest Oil," ABC News, October 14, 2022, https://abcnews.go.com/International/climate-activists-throw-soup-vincent-van-gogh-painting/story?id=91505432; and Dana R. Fisher, Saving Ourselves (Columbia University Press, 2025).
- 8 Benjamin K. Sovacool and Alexander Dunlap, "Anarchy, War, or Revolt? Radical Perspectives for Climate Protection, Insurgency and Civil Disobedience in a Low-Carbon Era," *Energy Research & Social Science* 86 (2022), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2021.102416; Elaina Hancock, "A Darker Shade of Green: Understanding Ecofascism," UConn Today, September 7, 2022, https://today.uconn.edu/2022/09/a-darker-shade-of-green; Joel Achenbach, "Two Mass Killings a World Apart Share a Common Theme: 'Ecofascism," *Washington Post*, August 18, 2019, https://www.washingtonpost.com/science/two-mass-murders-a-world-apart-share-a-common-theme-ecofascism/2019/08/18/0079a676-bec4-11e9-b873-63ace636af08 story.html.
- 9 "The Kingsnorth Six Trial," Sabin Center for Climate Change Law, 2025, https://climatecasechart.com/non-us-case/the-kingsnorth-six-trial.

- 10 David Adam, "Greenpeace Protesters 'Invade' Kingsnorth Power Station," Guardian, October 29, 2008, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2008/oct/29/kingsnorth-climatechange.
- "Citizen Action and Protests Against Coal in Australia," Global Energy Monitor Wiki, April 29, 2021, https://www.gem.wiki/Citizen_action_and_protests_against_coal_in_Australia.
- "South Pacific Climate Activists Blockade Australia Port," BBC News, October 17, 2014, https://www.bbc. com/news/world-australia-29658363.
- "Lignite Mining and the Ende Gelände Movement, Germany," Global Atlas of Environmental Justice, February 24, 2023, https://ejatlas.org/conflict/linginte-mining-and-the-ende-gelande-movement.
- "How to Shut Down a Coal Mine: How Ende Gelände Organise Mass Actions," Empowering Nonviolence, 2018, https://nonviolence.wri-irg.org/en/resources/2018/ how-shut-down-coal-mine-how-ende-gelande-organise-mass-actions.
- Malte Kreutzfeldt, "Kreislauf vs. Knochenbrüche," TAZ, June 25, 2019, https://taz.de/ Polizeibilanz-nach-Ende-Gelaende/!5602499/.
- "Action Report 2022," Ende Gelände 2025, September 10, 2022, https://www.ende-gelaende.org/en/news/ action-report-2022/.
- "Pipeline Activist Could Face 21 Years in Prison for Shutting Off Keystone Valve," CBC, October 13, 2017, https://www.cbc.ca/radio/thecurrent/the-current-for-october-13-2017-1.4352029/ pipeline-activist-could-face-21-years-in-prison-for-shutting-off-keystone-valve-1.4352156.
- 18 Damien Gayle, "Just Stop Oil Activists Stage Protests at Essex and Midlands Terminals," Guardian, August 23, 2022, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2022/aug/23/just-stop-oil-activistsstage-protests-at-essex-and-midlands-oil-terminals; "Chertsey Protest: Tunnel Dug at ExxonMobil Pipeline Site," BBC, August 2, 2022, https://www.bbc.com/news/uk-england-surrey-62379494; "R. v Hallam and Others ('Heathrow Pause' Drone Protest)," Sabin Center for Climate Change Law, 2025, https://climatecasechart.com/non-us-case/r-v-hallam-and-others-heathrow-pause-droneprotest/; and Sarah Marsh, "Extinction Rebellion Activists Glue Themselves to DfT and Home Office," Guardian, October 8, 2019, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2019/oct/08/ extinction-rebellion-activists-glue-themselves-to-home-office-and-dft.
- "Tyre Extinguishers," Tyre Extinguishers, https://tyreextinguishers.com/.
- "Climate Activists Block Private Jets at Amsterdam's Schiphol Airport," Reuters, November 7, 2022, https:// www.reuters.com/business/cop/activists-block-private-jet-traffic-schiphol-airport-2022-11-05/.
- "Sweden: Activists and Locals Take Action Against Limestone Mining," Freedom News, August 31, 2022, https://freedomnews.org.uk/2022/08/31/sweden-activists-and-locals-take-action-against-limestone-mining; and "Take Concrete Action," FIREFUND, 2022, https://www.firefund.net/takeconcreteaction.
- Damien Gayle, "Fire and Concrete: Will France's Model of Radical Climate Protest Catch On?," Guardian, May 4, 2023, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2023/may/04/ will-france-model-of-radical-climate-protest-catch-on.
- Martine Valo, "Water 'Mega-Basins' Stir Up Turmoil in Western France," Le Monde, November 28, 2022, https://www.lemonde.fr/en/france/article/2022/11/28/water-mega-basins-stir-up-turmoil-in-westernfrance 6005917 7.html#.
- Julia Shipley, "'You Strike a Match," Grist, May 26, 2021, https://grist.org/protest/ dakota-access-pipeline-activists-property-destruction/.
- Jessica Reznicek and Ruby Montoya, "Statement of Jessica Reznicek & Ruby Montoya on DAPL 7-24-17," Bill Quigley: Social Justice Advocacy, July 25, 2017, https://billquigley.wordpress.com/2017/07/25/ statement-of-jessica-reznicek-ruby-montoya-on-dapl-7-24-17/; William Petroski, "Dakota Access Protesters Claim Responsibility for Pipeline Sabotage," Des Moines Register, July 24, 2017, https://www.desmoinesregister.com/story/news/2017/07/24/dakota-access-protesters-claim-responsibility-pipeline-sabotage/504136001/.
- Hallie Golden, "What to Know About Greenpeace After It Was Found Liable in the Dakota Access Protest Case," PBS News, March 20, 2025, https://www.pbs.org/newshour/nation/ what-to-know-about-greenpeace-after-it-was-found-liable-in-the-dakota-access-protest-case.

- "Climate Protectors Found Guilty While EACOP Pipeline Engineers Walk Free," Extinction Rebellion, October 3, 2024, https://extinctionrebellion.uk/2024/10/03/ climate-protectors-found-guilty-while-eacop-pipeline-engineers-walk-free/.
- Sarah Johnson, "Ugandan Oil Pipeline Protester Allegedly Beaten as Part of 'Alarming Crackdown," Guardian, June 12, 2024, https://www.theguardian.com/global-development/article/2024/jun/12/uganda-oil-eacop-pipeline-protester-stephen-kwikiriza; "Extinction Rebellion Supporters Who Protested Pipeline Constructors Sentenced as 15 Ugandan Students Sent to Maximum Security Prison," Extinction Rebellion, November 15, 2024, https://extinctionrebellion.uk/2024/11/15/extinction-rebellion-supporters-who-protested-pipeline-constructors-sentenced-as-15-ugandan-students-sent-to-maximum-security-prison/.
- Hope Coke, "Study Finds Extinction Rebellion Protestors Were Mostly Middle-Class Southerners," Tatler, July 16, 2020, https://www.tatler.com/article/ extinction-rebellion-protestors-mostly-middle-class-southerners-privileged-climate-activist-movement.
- 30 Noah Gordon, "Climate Change Is Now Coming for the Elite," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, January 18, 2023, https://carnegieendowment.org/posts/2023/01/ climate-change-is-now-coming-for-the-elite?lang=en.
- Anna Russell, "Why Was a Climate Activist Put in Prison for Five Years?," New Yorker, February 7, 2025. https://www.newyorker.com/culture/drinks-with-the-new-yorker/why-was-a-climate-activist-put-in-prisonfor-five-years? sp=beed2291-b7d5-45f7-9234-cf4b9d5cd09c.1754296106989.
- Trevor Stankiewicz and Linda Lakhdhir, "On Thin Ice: Disproportionate Responses to Climate Change Protesters in Democratic Countries." Climate Rights International, September 10, 2024. https://cri.org/ reports/on-thin-ice/.
- 33 Anne Grefkens, "Climate activism versus farmers' protest: are the police and judicial authorities applying double standards?," Univers, November 25, 2022, https://universonline.nl/nieuws/2022/11/25/ climate-activism-versus-farmers-protest-are-the-police-and-judicial-authorities-applying-double-standards/.
- 34 Lauren Walker, "Farmer Protests: Violent Clashes with Police, Three Officers Injured," Brussels Times, February 26, 2024, https://www.brusselstimes.com/940714/ farmers-protest-hundreds-of-tractors-rolling-into-brussels-closing-roads-tunnels-and-stations-tbtb.
- Ciara Carolan and Maïthé Chini, "Farmer Protests: One Person Arrested, Two Police Officers Hospitalised," Brussels Times, March 26, 2024, https://www.brusselstimes.com/981487/ farmer-protests-severe-disruptions-all-day-criminal-charges-announced-tbtb.
- Brent Simpson, Robb Willer, and Matthew Feinberg, "Radical Flanks of Social Movements Can Increase Support for Moderate Factions," PNAS Nexus 1 (2024), https://doi.org/10.1093/pnasnexus/pgac110; Fisher, Saving Ourselves.
- Herbert H. Haines, "Radical Flank Effects," in The Wiley-Blackwell Encyclopedia of Social and Political Movements (Wiley, 2013), https://doi.org/10.1002/9780470674871.wbespm174.
- John Braithwaite, "Rethinking Radical Flank Theory: South Africa," SSRN, RegNet Research Paper No. 2014/23, January 10, 2014, https://dx.doi.org/10.2139/ssrn.2377443.
- Maria J. Stephan and Erica Chenoweth, "Why Civil Resistance Works: The Strategic Logic of Nonviolent Conflict," International Security 33 (2008), 7-44, http://dx.doi.org/10.1162/isec.2008.33.1.7.
- 40 Ryan Gunderson and William Charles, "A Sociology of "Climatage": The Appeal and Counterproductivity of Property Destruction as a Climate Change Strategy," Environmental Sociology 9 (2023), 398-408, https:// doi.org/10.1080/23251042.2023.2234648.
- "About Climate Defiance," Climate Defiance, https://www.climatedefiance.org/about-us.
- Julian Wettengel, "Support for Climate Movement Halves as Germans Reject Street Blockades—Survey," Clean Energy Wire, July 20, 2023, https://www.cleanenergywire.org/news/ support-climate-movement-halves-germans-reject-street-blockades-survey.
- Markus Ostarek, Brent Simpson, Cathy Rogers, and James Ozden, "Radical Climate Protests Linked to Increases in Public Support for Moderate Organizations," Nature Sustainability 7 (December 2024), 1626-1632, https://www.nature.com/articles/s41893-024-01444-1.
- Sovacool and Dunlap, "Anarchy, War, or Revolt?"

- 45 Laurence L. Delina, "Moving People From the Balcony to the Trenches: Time to Adopt "Climatage" in Climate Activism?," Energy Research & Social Science 90 (2022), https://doi.org/10.1016/j.erss.2022.102586.
- Volker Wagener, "Hanns Martin Schleyer: Sacrificed by the State?," Deutsche Welle, September 5, 2017, https://www.dw.com/en/germany-terror-casualty-hanns-martin-schleyer-sacrificed-by-the-state/a-40340024.
- Matt Lavietes, "Luigi Mangione's Alleged Diary Entries Released in New Court Filing," NBC News, June 5, 2025, https://www.nbcnews.com/news/us-news/luigi-mangiones-alleged-diary-entries-released-new-court-filing-rcna211132. Amna A. Akbar, "Malm and Mangione," n+1, January 16, 2025, https://www.nplusonemag.com/online-only/online-only/malm-and-mangione/?highlight=Luigi.
- Grace Hwang, "Examining Extremism: Violent Animal Rights Extremists," Center for Strategic and International Studies, August 20, 2021, https://www.csis.org/blogs/examining-extremism/ examining-extremism-violent-animal-rights-extremists.
- "Ending the Green New Scam," White House, May 2025, https://www.whitehouse.gov/wp-content/ uploads/2025/05/Ending-the-Green-New-Scam-Fact-Sheet.pdf; Jeff Brady, "Trump's EPA Plans to Repeal Climate Pollution Limits on Fossil Fuel Power Plants," NPR, June 11, 2025, https:// www.npr.org/2025/06/11/nx-s1-5429578/trump-power-plants-epa-climate-change; Jarrett Renshaw, Timothy Gardner, and Trevor Hunnicutt, "Trump Signs Executive Orders to Boost US Coal as Power Demand Rises," Reuters, April 8, 2025, https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/ trump-sign-executive-orders-boost-coal-industry-sources-say-2025-04-08/.
- Rebecca Falconer and Russell Contreras, "Trump Admin Cracks Down on Pro-Palestinian Protests at Colleges," Axios, May 8, 2025, https://www.axios.com/2025/05/08/ trump-rubio-pro-palestinian-protests-student-visas.
- Elly Page, "US Protest Law Tracker," International Center for Not-For-Profit Law, June 30, 2025, https:// www.icnl.org/usprotestlawtracker/?location=&status=&issue=6&date=&type=legislative.
- "US Attorney General Calls Attacks Against Tesla Property 'Domestic Terrorism," Reuters, March 18, 2025, https://www.reuters.com/world/us/us-attorney-general-calls-attacks-against-tesla-property-domestic-terrorism-2025-03-18/; Jeff Mason and Abhirup Roy, "Trump Says Violence Against Tesla Is Domestic Terrorism," Reuters, March 11, 2025, https://www.reuters.com/world/us/ trump-says-he-will-buy-new-tesla-show-support-musk-2025-03-11/.
- Jesse James, "The Flint Sit-Down Strike: How a Defiant Action Changed America, and How the Media Covered the Strike," (master's thesis, University of Michigan-Flint), June 6, 2022, https://gt-law.idm.oclc.org/login?url=https://www.proquest.com/dissertations-theses/ flint-sit-down-strike-how-defiant-action-changed/docview/2707628852/se-2?accountid=36339.
- Erin Blakemore, "The 1936 Sit-Down Strike That Shook the Auto Industry," History.com, May 28, 2025, https://www.history.com/articles/flint-sit-down-strike-general-motors-uaw.
- Eric Levitz, "Why You Probably Shouldn't Blow Up a Pipeline," Vox, February 21, 2024, https://www.vox. com/politics/24074408/climate-change-blow-up-pipeline.
- 56 Jonathan White, In the Long Run: The Future as a Political Idea (Profile Books Ltd, 2024).
- Kevin A. Young, Abolishing Fossil Fuels: Lessons from Movements That Won (PM Press, 2024), 1. 57
- Young, Abolishing Fossil Fuels, 15.
- John Lanchester, "Warmer, Warmer," London Review of Books 29 (March 22, 2007), https://www.lrb.co.uk/ the-paper/v29/n06/john-lanchester/warmer-warmer.
- Oscar Berglund et al., "Criminalisation and Repression of Climate and Environmental Protest," University of Bristol, October 2024, https://crecep.blogs.bristol.ac.uk.
- António Guterres (@antonioguterres), "Climate activists are sometimes depicted as dangerous radicals. But the truly dangerous radicals are the countries that are increasing the production of fossil fuels. Investing in new fossil fuels infrastructure is moral and economic madness.," X (formerly Twitter), April 5, 2022, https://twitter.com/antonioguterres/status/1511294073474367488; Michael Forst, "State Repression of Environmental Protest and Civil Disobedience: A Major Threat to Human Rights and Democracy," UN Economic Commission for Europe, February 2024, https://unece.org/sites/default/files/2024-02/

- UNSR EnvDefenders Aarhus Position Paper Civil Disobedience EN.pdf; "Missing Voices," Global Witness, September 2024, https://gw.cdn.ngo/media/documents/Missing Voices - Global Witness land and environmental defenders report.pdf; and "Protect the Protest," Amnesty International, 2024, https:// www.amnesty.org/en/what-we-do/freedom-of-expression/protest.
- 62 Berglund et al., "Criminalisation and Repression of Climate and Environmental Protest."
- 63 "Police, Crime, Sentencing and Courts Act 2022," Legislation.gov.uk, 2022, https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ ukpga/2022/32/contents.
- Amy Westervelt and Geoff Dembicki, "Meet the Shadowy Network Vilifying Climate Protestors," DeSmog, September 12, 2023, https://www.desmog.com/2023/09/12/atlas-network-vilifying-climate-protestors; and Robyn E. Gulliver et al., "The Criminalization of Climate Change Protest," Contention 11, no. 1 (June 1, 2023): 24-54, https://doi.org/10.3167/cont.2023.110103.
- "Peru: Amendment of the APCI Law Paves the Way for Impunity," Amnesty International, March 13, 2025, https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/news/2025/03/ peru-modificatoria-de-ley-apci-allana-camino-a-la-impunidad.
- CIVICUS, "Philippines: Activists Remain at Risk of Red-Tagging, Disappearances and Fabricated Terrorism Charges," Civicus Monitor, January 6, 2025, https://monitor.civicus.org/explore/ philippines-activists-remain-at-risk-of-red-tagging-disappearances-and-fabricated-terrorism-charges.
- CIVICUS, "Concerns About Rule of Law in France as Protests Met with Brutality," Civicus Monitor, October 28, 2023, https://monitor.civicus.org/explore/ concerns-about-rule-of-law-in-france-as-protests-met-with-brutality.
- CIVICUS, "Climate Activists' Homes Raided, Communications Monitored; Pro-Palestinian Protests Repressed," Civicus Monitor, October 28, 2023, https://monitor.civicus.org/explore/climate-activists-homes-raided-communications-monitored-pro-palestinian-protests-repressed; and Miguel Angel Medina, "La Policía Acusa a 22 Activistas Climáticos Del Grupo Futuro Vegetal de Daños Por Valor de Medio Millón de Euros," El Pais, January 12, 2024, https://elpais.com/clima-y-medio-ambiente/2024-01-12/la-policia-detiene-a-22-activistas-ecologistas-del-grupo-futuro-vegetal-en-una-operacion-en-11-ciudades.html.
- 69 Steven Cammiss, Graeme Hayes, and Brian Doherty, "Defending the Integrity Principle: Necessity, Remorse and Moral Consistency in the Protest Trial," Oxford Journal of Legal Studies 45, no. 2 (March 14, 2025): 329-357, https://doi.org/10.1093/ojls/gqaf003.
- 70 Berglund et al., "Criminalisation and Repression of Climate and Environmental Protest."
- Rob Evans, "'Spy Cops' Officer Behaved Recklessly by Fathering Son While Undercover, Inquiry Told," Guardian, December 3, 2024, https://www.theguardian.com/uk-news/2024/dec/03/ spy-cops-officer-behaved-recklessly-by-fathering-son-while-undercover-inquiry-told.
- 72 Global Witness, "Missing Voices."
- 73 Erin Jones, "The Police-Pipeline Nexus in the United States," in "Civic Activism in an Intensifying Climate Crisis," ed. Erin Jones and Richard Youngs, Carnegie Endowment for Peace, December 10, 2024, https:// carnegieendowment.org/research/2024/12/climate-change-protest-activism-green-transition?lang=en#casestudy-the-policepipeline-nexus-in-the-united-states; and Andrea Brock, "Frack Off: Towards an Anarchist Political Ecology Critique of Corporate and State Responses to Anti-Fracking Resistance in the UK," Political Geography 82, (October 2020): 102246, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.polgeo.2020.102246.
- Fabricio Rodríguez and César Bazán Seminario, "Authoritarian Practices Between 'Para-Coloniality' and 'Cheap Security': When Chinese State Capital Meets Neoliberal Copper Mining (and Protests) in Las Bambas, Peru," Globalizations 21, no. 6 (August 17, 2024): 1057-1075, https://doi.org/10.1080/14747731. 2023.2179813.
- 75 "Land and Environmental Defenders," Global Witness, 2024, https://www.globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/ environmental-activists.
- Philippe Le Billon and Päivi Lujala, "Environmental and Land Defenders: Global Patterns and Determinants of Repression," Global Environmental Change 65 (November 2020): 102163, https://doi.org/10.1016/j. gloenvcha.2020.102163.

- 77 Berglund et al., "Criminalisation and Repression of Climate and Environmental Protest."
- Global Witness, "Missing Voices."
- 79 DN, "Kan Rebellmammorna Rädda Världen?," dn.se, January 18, 2024, https://www.dn.se/sverige/kan-rebellmammorna-radda-varlden; and CIVICUS, "Smear Campaign Against Green Activists, Anti-Protest Laws and Media Restrictions in Australia," Civicus Monitor, February 4, 2020, https://monitor.civicus.org/ explore/smear-campaign-against-green-activists-anti-protest-laws-and-media-restrictions-australia.
- CIVICUS, "Indian Authorities Target Activists, Journalists as They Suppress Support for the Farmers' Protests," Civicus Monitor, February 24, 2021, https://monitor.civicus.org/explore/indian-authorities-target-activists-journalists-they-suppress-support-farmers-protests; and CIVICUS, "Another Kakataibo Leader Killed; New Report Finds Top State Officials Potentially Liable in Protest Deaths," Civicus Monitor, September 10, 2024, https://monitor.civicus.org/explore/another-kakataibo-leader-killed.
- Damien Gayle, "Just Stop Oil Protesters' Jail Sentences Shortened After Appeal," Guardian, March 7, 2025, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2025/mar/07/ just-stop-oil-protesters-jail-sentences-shortened-after-appeal.
- Westervelt and Dembicki, "Meet the Shadowy Network Vilifying Climate Protestors."
- YouGov, "Eurotrack Survey Results," yougov.co.uk, 2024, https://d3nkl3psvxxpe9.cloudfront.net/documents/Eurotrack ClimateChange Nov24 w.pdf.
- Samuel Finnerty, Colin J. Davis, and Oscar Berglund, "Public Opinion and Media Analysis Datasets with Code [Data and Code]," Open Science Framework, 2025, https://osf.io/kwp7f/files/osfstorage.
- Cammiss, Hayes, and Doherty, "Defending the Integrity Principle: Necessity, Remorse and Moral Consistency in the Protest Trial."
- "M25 Protests: Priti Patel Calls Activists 'Selfish," BBC News, September 17, 2021, https://www.bbc.co.uk/ news/uk-england-beds-bucks-herts-58594651.
- "Who We Are," Amnesty International, 2025, https://www.amnesty.org/en/about-us.
- Derek Wall, Hugo Blanco: A Revolutionary for Life (Merlin Press, 2018).
- Global Witness, "Missing Voices."
- Judith Verweijen et al., "'Environmental Defenders': The Power/Disempowerment of a Loaded Term," in Environmental Defenders, ed. Mary Menton and Philippe Le Billon (Routledge, 2021).
- Damien Gayle, "'A New Phase': Why Climate Activists Are Turning to Sabotage Instead of Protest," Guardian, March 8, 2025, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2025/ mar/08/a-new-phase-why-climate-activists-are-turning-to-sabotage-instead-of-protest.
- Graeme Hayes and Oscar Berglund, "Tyre Extinguishers: Activists Are Deflating SUV Tyres in the Latest Pop-up Climate Movement," The Conversation, March 9, 2022, https://theconversation.com/ tyre-extinguishers-activists-are-deflating-suv-tyres-in-the-latest-pop-up-climate-movement-178911.
- Andreas Malm, How to Blow up a Pipeline (Verso Books, 2021).
- Erica Chenoweth and Maria J. Stephan, Why Civil Resistance Works (Columbia University Press, 2011).
- Finnerty, Davis, and Berglund, "Public Opinion and Media Analysis Datasets with Code [Data and Code]."
- Home Office, "Police Protest Powers, June 2022 to March 2024," Gov.uk, December 17, 2024, https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/police-protest-powers-june-2022-to-march-2024/ police-protest-powers-june-2022-to-march-2024.
- "INFORM Climate Change," European Commission Disaster Risk Management Knowledge Centre INFORM, October 2022, https://drmkc.jrc.ec.europa.eu/inform-index/INFORM-Climate-Change.
- "Iraq's Water Crisis: Dammed by Neighbours, Failed by Leaders," Chatham House, August 13, 2025, https://www.chathamhouse.org/2025/08/iraqs-water-crisis-dammed-neighbours-failed-leaders.
- Mohammed Aty, "Droughts in Iraq Endanger Buffalo, and Farmers' Livelihoods," Reuters, April 30, 2025, https://www.reuters.com/business/environment/ droughts-iraq-endanger-buffalo-farmers-livelihoods-2025-04-30.

- 100 International Organization for Migration, "Understanding the Needs and Vulnerabilities of Climate-Induced Migrants in Iraq: Climate Vulnerability Assessment," June 2025, https://iraqdtm.iom.int/files/ Climate/2025619044711 IOM DTM CVA June-2025.pdf; and "Iraq 'Green Belt' Neglected in Faltering Climate Fight," Arab News via AFP, April 20, 2022, https://www.arabnews.com/node/2066801/amp.
- 101 Harith Hasan, "Iraq Protests: A New Social Movement Is Challenging Sectarian Power," Middle East Eye, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, November 4, 2019, https://carnegieendowment.org/ posts/2019/11/iraq-protests-a-new-social-movement-is-challenging-sectarian-power?lang=en.
- 102 "Home," Humat Dijlah Association, accessed August 10, 2025, https://humatdijlah.org/en/main.
- 103 "Iraq: Water Crisis in Basra," Human Rights Watch, July 22, 2019, https://www.hrw.org/news/2019/07/22/ iraq-water-crisis-basra.
- 104 "Clean Water Demanded: Tensions Soar in Basra as Situation Escalates," Shafaq News, May 2, 2025, https:// shafaq.com/en/Iraq/Clean-water-now-Basra-residents-rally-against-pollution-government-failure.
- 105 Hayder Al-Shakeri, "Iraq's Young Agents of Change," Chatham House, October 4, 2024, https://www. chathamhouse.org/2024/10/iraqs-young-agents-change.
- 106 Ali Mahmoud Khader, "Iraqi Intellectuals: Climate Change Is an Existential Threat," Al Majalla, August 6, 2023, https://www.majalla.com/node/296986/%D8%AB%D9%82%D8%A7%D9%81%D8%A9-%D9% 88%D9%85%D8%AC%D8%AA%D9%85%D8%B9/%D9%85%D8%AB%D9%82%D9%81%D9%8 8%D9%86-%D8%B9%D8%B1%D8%A7%D9%82%D9%8A%D9%88%D9%86-%D8%A7%D9%84 %D8%AA%D8%BA%D9%8A%D9%91%D8%B1-%D8%A7%D9%84%D9%85%D9%86%D8%A7 %D8%AE%D9%8A-%D8%AA%D9%87%D8%AF%D9%8A%D8%AF-%D9%88%D8%AC%D9%88-%D8%AF%D9%8A.
- 107 Maha Yassin, "Climate Activism in Iraq: A Dangerous Undertaking," Clingendael Institute, December 2021, https://www.planetarysecurityinitiative.org/sites/default/files/2022-01/idee215%20VERZET%20 %E2%80%94%20column%20Maha%20Yassin.pdf.
- 108 Maha Yassin, "The Space for Iraqi Climate Activism Is Dangerously Small, and Shrinking," The Century Foundation, August 30, 2023, https://tcf.org/content/commentary/ the-space-for-iraqi-climate-activism-is-dangerously-small-and-shrinking.
- 109 "Arbitrary Detention of Omar Al-Amri and Slaman Khairallah," Front Line Defenders, accessed August 10, 2025, https://www.frontlinedefenders.org/en/case/arbitrary-detention-omar-al-amri-and-salman-khairallah.
- 110 "Environmental Human Rights Defender Jassim Al-Asadi Released by His Kidnappers After 2 Weeks," Front Line Defenders, February 15, 2023, https://www.frontlinedefenders.org/en/case/ environmental-human-rights-defender-jassim-al-asadi-released-after-2-weeks.
- 111 Taif Alkhudary, "Navigating the Challenges of Environmentalism in an Increasingly Authoritarian Iraq," Arab Reform Initiative, February 6, 2025, https://www.arab-reform.net/publication/ navigating-the-challenges-of-environmentalism-in-an-increasingly-authoritarian-iraq.
- 112 "Iraq: Environmentalists Face Retaliation," Human Rights Watch, February 23, 2023, https://www.hrw.org/ news/2023/02/23/iraq-environmentalists-face-retaliation.
- 113 "Iraq: Environmentalists Face Retaliation," Human Rights Watch.
- 114 Hayder Al-Shakeri, "Postcard From Baghdad: How Climate Activists Are Turning the 'Tishreen Dream' Green," Chatham House, December 9, 2024, https://www.chathamhouse.org/publications/ the-world-today/2024-12/postcard-baghdad-how-climate-activists-are-turning-tishreen.
- 115 "Iraqi Marshlands Named a UNESCO World Heritage Site," Wetlands International, July 25, 2016, https:// www.wetlands.org/iraqi-marshlands-named-a-unesco-world-heritage-site.
- 116 "Launch of the National Youth Climate Change Team Conference," Iraqi News Agency, June 7, 2024, https://ina.ig/ar/local/212085--.html.
- 117 Ali Al-Mawlawi, "Is Iraq's Sectarian Quota System Holding the Country Back?," Al Jazeera, March 21, 2023, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2023/3/21/is-iraqs-sectarian-quota-system-holding-the-country-back.

- 118 Albert Martínez, Suaad al-Salahi, Laura Geres, Sinéad Barry, and Alina Viehoff, "Voices From Yemen - How Environmental Dialogues Can Contribute to Resilience and Peace," Climate Diplomacy, February 7, 2025, https://climate-diplomacy.org/magazine/environment/ voices-yemen-how-environmental-dialogues-can-contribute-resilience-and-peace.
- 119 "Yemen Climate Country Profile," Red Cross Red Crescent Climate Centre, June 29, 2024, https:// www.climatecentre.org/wp-content/uploads/RCCC-ICRC-Country-profiles-Yemen 2024 final. pdf; and "Climate Resilience Is Key to Energy Transitions in the Middle East and North Africa," International Energy Agency (IEA), July 3, 2023, https://www.iea.org/commentaries/ climate-resilience-is-key-to-energy-transitions-in-the-middle-east-and-north-africa.
- 120 "Flash Update #1: Heavy Rains and Flash Floods in Yemen," UNFPA, July 2024, https://www.unfpa.org/ sites/default/files/resource-pdf/Flash%20Update%20-%20Yemen%20floods%20-%20Aug%202024.pdf.
- 121 "Republic of Yemen: National Biodiversity Strategy and Action Plan II," UNDP, 2017, https://faolex.fao. org/docs/pdf/yem176431.pdf.
- 122 Sahar Mohammed, "Yemen's Environmental Crisis: The Forgotten Fallout of an Enduring Conflict," Arab Reform Initiative, June 15, 2023, https://www.arab-reform.net/publication/ yemens-environmental-crisis-the-forgotten-fallout-of-an-enduring-conflict/?tztc=1.
- 123 Yasmeen al-Eryani, "Yemen Environment Bulletin: How Weak Urban Planning, Climate Change and War Are Magnifying Floods and Natural Disasters," Sana'a Center, July 14, 2020, https://sanaacenter.org/ publications/analysis/10346.
- 124 Martínez et al., "Voices From Yemen."
- 125 "Oman on High Alert Over Cyclone Tej as Shelters Open and Schools Close," The National, October 23, 2023, https://www.thenationalnews.com/gulf-news/2023/10/23/ oman-on-high-alert-over-cyclone-tej-as-shelters-open-and-schools-close.
- 126 "Yemen: Flash Update #1 Cyclone Tej, 24 October 2023," UN OCHA, October 24, 2023, https://www. unocha.org/publications/report/yemen/yemen-flash-update-1-cyclone-tej-24-october-2023-enar.
- 127 "Yemen Flash Alert | Cyclone Tej Update (23-25 October 2023) | Al Maharah and Hadramawt," International Organization for Migration, October 26, 2023, https://dtm.iom.int/reports/ yemen-flash-alert-cyclone-tej-update-23-25-october-2023-al-maharah-and-hadramawt.
- 128 Mohammed Al-Hakimi, Amani Mohammed, and Maha Al-Salehi, "At the Mercy of the Climate: The Impact of Climate Change on IDPs in Yemen," Holm Akhdar for Environmental Studies and Consultancy, February 15, 2025, https://holmakhdar.com/en/publications/ the-impact-of-climate-change-on-idps-in-yemen.
- 129 Maha Al-Salehi, "Yemen: Groundwater Depletion and Available Solutions," Holm Akhdar for Environmental Studies and Consultancy, May 18, 2022, https://holmakhdar.org/reports/6008.
- 130 Quoted in Hannah Porter, "Conflict and Weak Governance Fuel Yemen's Environmental Crisis," Arab Gulf States Institute, November 21, 2023, https://agsi.org/analysis/ conflict-and-weak-governance-fuel-yemens-environmental-crisis.
- 131 Porter, "Conflict and Weak Governance Fuel Yemen's Environmental Crisis."
- 132 Afrah Nasser, "Climate Change: A New Battlefield in Yemen's Ongoing Conflict," Arab Center Washington DC, September 6, 2024, https://arabcenterdc.org/resource/ climate-change-a-new-battlefield-in-yemens-ongoing-conflict.
- 133 Salah bin Ghalib, "A Yemeni Film Wins an International Climate Award," Al-Mushahid, May 30, 2023, https://almushahid.net/114507.
- 134 "Ishraq Al-Suwaidi and Ithar Fare'ah, two young women from Yemen, are tackling climate change through creative ideas that make a difference in their community," UN News, October 23, 2022, https://news. un.org/ar/interview/2022/10/1113517.
- 135 "Yemeni Youth Help Prevent Climate Change for a Sustainable World," UN Development Program, September 20, 2022, https://www.undp.org/arab-states/stories/ yemeni-youth-help-prevent-climate-change-sustainable-world.

- 136 Studies & Economic Media Center is a civil society organization in Yemen specializing in research and media issues related to economic matters.
- 137 "Economic Media Announces the Climate Journalism Network in Yemen," Al-Mushahid, November 28, 2023, https://almushahid.net/118955.
- 138 "Economic Media Announces the Climate Journalism Network in Yemen," Al-Mushahid.
- 139 Hasan Shujaa, "How Local Authorities in Yemen Respond to the Effects of the Climate Crisis," Berghof Foundation, December 5, 2023, https://berghof-foundation.org/news/ how-local-authorities-in-yemen-respond-to-the-effects-of-the-climate-crisis.
- 140 Sophie Abdullah, "Morocco Drought: Satellite Images Show Vital Al Massira Reservoir Is Shrinking," BBC, April 10, 2024, https://www.bbc.com/news/world-africa-68665826.
- 141 "Tunisia Country Climate and Development Report," World Bank Group, 2023, https://openknowledge. worldbank.org/entities/publication/66d30db7-bc0f-46fd-89bd-d983914147cc.
- 142 "Algeria," World Bank Climate Change Knowledge Portal, 2021, https://climateknowledgeportal.worldbank.org.
- 143 Saker El Nour, "Towards a Just Agricultural Transition in North Africa," Transnational Institute, December 15,2021, https://www.tni.org/en/article/towards-a-just-agricultural-transition-in-north-africa#note-13578-4.
- 144 Sam Metz, "To Save Water, Drought-Hit Morocco Is Closing Its Famous Public Baths Three Days a Week," AP News, March 7, 2024, https://apnews.com/article/ morocco-baths-hammam-climate-water-drought-ce9daf66af854f93bd1123b98018c7f4.
- 145 "Concrete Solutions Needed to Address Climate Migration in the Mediterranean Region: IOM," International Organization for Migration, June 2023, https://www.iom.int/news/ <u>concrete-solutions-needed-address-climate-migration-mediterranean-region-iom.</u>
- 146 Author calculations based on "Labor force, total"; "Labor force, female (% of total labor force)"; "Labor force, male (% of total labor force)"; "Employment in agriculture, female (% of female employment) (modeled ILO estimate)"; "Employment in agriculture, male (% of male employment) (modeled ILO estimate)" for Algeria, Morocco, and Tunisia, World Bank Open Data, 2023, https://data.worldbank.org.
- 147 In Algeria, civil society exists on a much smaller scale compared to its neighbors, thus activism pertaining to the intersection of gender and climate remains minimal.
- 148 Authors' interviews with North African climate activists.
- 149 Mariem Madhi, "Tunisia's Climate Justice Movement," Arab Reform Initiative, April 30, 2025, https://www. arab-reform.net/publication/tunisias-climate-justice-movement.
- 150 Safaa Kasraoui, "Morocco Cancels Eid Al Adha Due to Drought," Morocco World News, February 26, 2025, https://www.moroccoworldnews.com/2025/02/176487/morocco-cancels-eid-al-adha-due-to-drought.
- 151 "Ranking," Climate Change Performance Index, November 20, 2024, https://ccpi.org/ranking.
- 152 "Arab Barometer VIII: Morocco Report," Arab Barometer Public Opinion Survey, 2024, https://www. arabbarometer.org/wp-content/uploads/AB8-Morocco-Report-ENG.pdf.
- 153 "New World Bank Program in Morocco Supports Efforts to Boost Water Security and Resilience for All," World Bank, July 2023, https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/press-release/2023/07/24/ new-world-bank-program-in-morocco-supports-efforts-to-boost-water-security-and-resilience-for-all.
- 154 "A Moroccan Town Protests Water Management Plans," AP News, March 22, 2024, https://apnews.com/ article/morocco-figuig-water-drought-protests-1ec994283c7719c1501c670ef6674c9a.
- 155 "A Moroccan Town Protests Water Management Plans," AP News.
- 156 Atman Ait Lamqadem, Hafid Saber, and Biswajeet Pradhan, "Long-Term Monitoring of Transformation From Pastoral to Agricultural Land Use Using Time-Series Landsat Data in the Feija Basin (Southeast Morocco)," Earth Systems and Environment 3, no. 3 (December 1, 2019): 525–38, https://doi.org/10.1007/ s41748-019-00110-3.
- 157 Jamie Fico, "What Happens to Oasis Farming When the Water Runs Out?," Jadaliyya, December 15, 2021, https://www.jadaliyya.com/Details/43606.

- 158 Author interview with gender scientist, Zoom call, April 7, 2025.
- 159 Author interview with gender scientist.
- 160 Susan Kaaria and Martha Osorio, "The Gender Gap in Land Rights," UN Food and Agriculture Organization, 2018, https://www.fao.org/family-farming/detail/en/c/1119178.
- 161 Souad Eddouada, "Feminism and Neoliberalism: Women Farmers Rewriting Gendered Land Tenure Reform in Sidi Kacem," Feminist Africa 5 (June 27, 2024): https://www.jstor.org/stable/48778688, 74-96.
- 162 About Us—Youth4Climate," accessed May 29, 2025, http://youth4climatema.org/about-us.
- 163 Youth for Climate Morocco Director of Programs Fatna Ikrame's response to written questions from the author, April 2, 2025.
- 164 Ikrame's written response.
- 165 Ikrame's written response.
- 166 Noura Omar, "Securing Tunisia's Constitutional Right to Water: Policy Solutions," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, February 28, 2025, https://carnegieendowment.org/sada/2025/02/ securing-tunisias-constitutional-right-to-water-policy-solutions?lang=en.
- 167 Intissar Hafsi and Adel Azouni, "Addressing Gender Inequality and Climate-Induced Displacement in Kerkennah, Tunisia," Baker Institute for Public Policy, May 2, 2024, https://www.bakerinstitute.org/ research/addressing-gender-inequality-and-climate-induced-displacement-kerkennah-tunisia.
- 168 Author's translation from Constitution of the Tunisian Republic, 2022, accessed at https://legislation-securite.tn/latest-laws/decret-presidentiel-n-2022-691-du-17-aout-2022-portant-promulgation-de-la-constitution-de-la-republique-tunisienne.
- 169 Vicky Brown Varela, "Women Pastoralists Take on Climate Change Adaptation," Food Tank, January 18, 2022, https://foodtank.com/news/2022/01/ research-in-tunisia-explores-women-pastoralists-roles-in-climate-change-adaptation.
- 170 "Tunisia: Facilitating Access to Water and Women's Empowerment," Agence Française de Développement, August 8 2022, https://www.afd.fr/en/actualites/tunisia-facilitating-access-water-and-womens-empowerment.
- 171 "Fighting For Tomorrow: Siliana's Women in a Changing Climate," Voices for Just Climate Action, accessed May 6, 2025, https://voicesforjustclimateaction.org/ fighting-for-tomorrow-silianas-women-in-a-changing-climate.
- 172 Brown Varela, "Women Pastoralists Take on Climate Change Adaptation."
- 173 Shrinwanti Mistri, Walae Kasmi, and Yasmina Benslimane, "Understanding the Intersection of Gender and Climate Justice in the SWANA Region," Politics4Her, December 2023, https://www.politics4Her.com/ policy4her/understanding-the-intersection-of-gender-and-climate-justice-in-the-swana-region-with-findingsfrom-morocco-sudan-and-tunisia.
- 174 Will Todman and Martin Pimentel, "Mobilizing for Sustainability: Environmental Civil Society in the Middle East and North Africa," Center for Strategic and International Studies, November 12, 2024, https:// www.csis.org/analysis/mobilizing-sustainability.
- 175 See, for example, Sarah Yerkes and Sabina Henneberg, "How Autocracy Prevailed in Tunisia," Foreign Affairs, November 4, 2024, https://www.foreignaffairs.com/tunisia/how-autocracy-prevailed-tunisia; and Sarah Yerkes, "How Tunisia's President Has Used the Law to Secure His Election Victory," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, Emmisary, September 24, 2024, https://carnegieendowment.org/ emissary/2024/09/tunisia-presidential-election-saied-candidates-jailed?lang=en.
- 176 Omar, "Securing Tunisia's Constitutional Right to Water."
- 177 "Rim Ben Soud: A Woman Farmer in Tunisia with Initiative and Solutions," Hivos, accessed May 6, 2025, https://hivos.org/story/rim-ben-soud-a-woman-farmer-in-tunisia-with-initiative-and-solutions.
- 178 "Rim Ben Soud," Hivos.
- 179 "Tunisia," Global Water Partnership, September 20, 2023, https://www.gwp.org/en/GWP-Mediterranean/ WE-ACT/Programmes-per-theme/contributing-to-gender-equality/wacdep-g/wacdep-g-national-level/tunisia.

- 180 James Patterson, Ksenia Anisimova, Jasmin Logg-Scarvell, and Cille Kaiser, "Reactions to Policy Action: Socio-Political Conditions of Backlash to Climate Change Policy," Policy Sciences (2025): https://doi. org/10.1007/s11077-025-09578-5; and Eric M. Patashnik, Countermobilization: Policy Feedback and Backlash in a Polarized Age (University of Chicago Press, 2023).
- 181 James J. Patterson, "Backlash to Climate Policy," Global Environmental Politics 23, no, 1 (2023): 68-90, https://doi.org/10.1162/glep_a_00684.
- 182 Parliament of Australia, Clean Energy Bill 2011, Retrieved from https://www.aph.gov.au/ Parliamentary Business/Bills Legislation/Bills Search Results/Result?bId=r4653.
- 183 "Carbon Tax: A Timeline of Its Tortuous History in Australia," ABC News, July 10, 2014, https://www.abc. net.au/news/2014-07-10/carbon-tax-timeline/5569118.
- 184 Alex Frankel, "From 'Axe the Tax' to 'Climate Consensus': How Abbott Reshaped Our Climate Story," Guardian Australia, April 28, 2015, https://www.theguardian.com/commentisfree/2015/apr/28/ from-axe-the-tax-to-climate-consensus-how-abbott-reshaped-our-climate-story.
- 185 Michelle Grattan and David Wroe, "Abbott's Blood Oath to Repeal Carbon Tax," Sydney Morning Herald, October 13, 2011, https://www.smh.com.au/national/abbotts-blood-oath-to-repeal-carbon-tax-20111012-1180.html.
- 186 Rebecca Pearse, "The Political Economy of Carbon Pricing in Australia: Contestation, the State and Governance Failure," PhD dissertation, University of New South Wales, 2015, https://unsworks.unsw.edu. au/entities/publication/c7823d77-4bfb-4063-8c66-4cf2832e6231
- 187 Katharine Murphy, "Malcolm Turnbull Pulled Back from Neg Legislation After Dutton and Pyne 'Went Nuts," Guardian, 30 June 2019, 2019, https://www.theguardian.com/australia-news/2019/jul/01/ malcolm-turnbull-pulled-back-from-neg-legislation-after-dutton-and-pyne-went-nuts.
- 188 Pearse, "The Political Economy of Carbon Pricing in Australia," 145–146.
- 189 Business Council of Australia, "Carbon Price Package Raises Risks and Costs of Reducing Emissions," July 10, 2011, https://www.bca.com.au/carbon-price-package-raises-risks-and-costs-of-reducing-emissions; and Minerals Council of Australia, "A New Carbon Pricing Scheme," May 2011, submitted to the Parliament of Australia, https://www.aph.gov/DocumentStore.ashx?id=eae14e66-7fcb-41a1-bff2-1a0b1af6b3e3.
- 190 Matto Mildenberger, Carbon Captured: How Business and Labor Control Climate Politics (MIT Press, 2020): https://doi.org/10.7551/mitpress/12393.001.0001, 193.
- 191 Simon Cullen, "Emerson Defends Whyalla Wipeout Stunt," ABC News, July 3, 2012, https://www.abc.net. au/news/2012-07-03/emerson-defends-whyalla-wipeout/4106946.
- 192 Lenore Taylor, "Carbon Tax Savings a 'Bone Pick' for Labor," Guardian Australia, July 14, 2014, https:// www.theguardian.com/environment/2014/jul/14/carbon-tax-savings-labor-bone-pick.
- 193 Sabra Lane, "Gillard Decries Americanisation of Political Debate," ABC News, August 31, 2011, https:// www.abc.net.au/news/2011-08-31/gillard-decries-americanisation-of-debate/2863460; and Denise Varney, "'Not Now, Not Ever': Julia Gillard and the Performative Power of Affect," in E. Diamond, D. Varney, and C. Amich (eds), Performance, Feminism and Affect in Neoliberal Times, Contemporary Performance InterActions (Palgrave Macmillan UK, 2017), https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-59810-3_3.
- 194 Rae Wear, "Astroturf and Populism in Australia: The Convoy of No Confidence," Australian Journal of Political Science 49, no. 1 (2014): 54-67, https://doi.org/10.1080/10361146.2013.864598.
- 195 "Australian PM Gillard Defends Carbon Tax," BBC News, July 2, 2012, https://www.bbc.com/news/ world-asia-18669376.
- 196 Commonwealth of Australia, Securing a Clean Energy Future: The Australian Government's Climate Change Plan, Department of Climate Change and Energy Efficiency, 2011; and Christopher Rootes, "A Referendum on the Carbon Tax? The 2013 Australian Election, the Greens, and the Environment," Environmental Politics 23, no. 1 (2014): 166–73, https://doi.org/10.1080/09644016.2014.878088.
- 197 Rod Mitchell, What Happened With the Carbon Tax in Australia?, Citizens' Climate Lobby Australia, https:// ccl.org.au/policy-playbook/what-happened-with-the-carbon-tax-in-australia.

- 198 The Climate Institute, Climate of the Nation 2013: Australian Attitudes on Climate Change, 2013, https:// australiainstitute.org.au/wp-content/uploads/2020/12/2013-Climate-of-the-Nation-web.pdf.
- 199 Examples: Frank Jotzo, Carbon Pricing That Builds Consensus and Reduces Australia's Emissions: Managing Uncertainties Using a Rising Fixed Price Evolving to Emissions Trading, vol. 1104, Centre for Climate Economics and Policy, Crawford School of Public Policy, The Australian National University, 2011, https:// papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=1878205; and Tony Wood, Economics of Pricing Carbon, Grattan Institute, 2011, https://grattan.edu.au/wp-content/uploads/2014/04/104_wood_montmorency community group august 2011.pdf.
- 200 Australian Associated Press, "Protesters Punted from Parliament," Australian, March 24, 2011, https://www.theaustralian.com.au/news/latest-news/protesters-punted-from-parliament/ news-story/73dfeecf55c54e0e67f8036ef36d7bfb.
- 201 Robyn Gulliver, Kelly S. Fielding, and Winnifred R. Louis, Civil Resistance Against Climate Change (International Center on Nonviolent Conflict, 2021).
- 202 Kate Walton, "Scott Morrison: The 'Daggy Dad' Burned by Australia's Fire Crisis," Al Jazeera, January 9, 2020, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2020/1/9/ scott-morrison-the-daggy-dad-burned-by-australias-fire-crisis.
- 203 For example, Australia's National Hydrogen Strategy, which was agreed by all federal jurisdictions in 2019 alongside significant national funding for agencies responsible for renewable energy innovation. Marija Maisch, "Australia's National Hydrogen Strategy Adopted, Funds for New Projects Allocated," PV Magazine, November 23, 2019, https://www.pv-magazine-australia.com/2019/11/23/ australias-national-hydrogen-strategy-adopted-funds-for-new-projects-allocated.
- 204 Peter Martin, "Who's the Unsung Architect Behind Labor's Climate Plans? A Retiring Coalition Minister," The Conversation, December 7, 2021, https://theconversation.com/ whos-the-unsung-architect-behind-labors-climate-plans-a-retiring-coalition-minister-173313.
- 205 Emily Gibson, Anna Hellsing, and Martin Smith, Reforming Australia's Safeguard Mechanism: An Update, Parliament of Australia, 2024, https://www.aph.gov.au/About Parliament/Parliamentary departments/Parliamentary Library/Research/Research Papers/2024-25/Reforming Australia Safeguard Mechanism#:~:text=Significant%20reforms%20were%20enacted%20in,with%20Australia's%20 emissions%20reduction%20targets.
- 206 Environment and Climate Change Canada, Technical Paper: Federal Carbon Pricing Backstop, Government of Canada, 2017, https://www.canada.ca/en/services/environment/weather/climatechange/technical-paper-federal-carbon-pricing-backstop.html.
- 207 Government of Canada, "Carbon Pollution Pricing Systems Across Canada," updated May 3, 2024, https:// www.canada.ca/en/environment-climate-change/services/climate-change/pricing-pollution-how-it-will-work.
- 208 Kathryn Harrison, "The Fleeting Canadian Harmony on Carbon Pricing," Policy Options, July 8, 2019, https://policyoptions.irpp.org/magazines/july-2019/the-fleeting-canadian-harmony-on-carbon-pricing.
- 209 Kathryn Harrison, "Climate Governance and Federalism in Canada," in Alan Fenna, Sebastien Jodoin, and Joana Setzer (eds.), Climate Governance and Federalism: A Forum of Federations Comparative Policy Analysis, (Cambridge University Press, 2023).
- 210 David Baxter, "Over 700 Trucks Take Part in Regina Anti-Carbon Tax Rally: Organizers," Global News, April 4, 2019, https://globalnews.ca/news/5131311/trucks-regina-anti-carbon-tax-rally; and Brooks De Cillia and Patrick McCurdy, "No Surrender. No Challenge. No Protest Paradigm: A Content Analysis of the Canadian News Media Coverage of the 'Yellow Vest Movement' and the 'United We Roll Convoy,'" Canadian Review of Sociology/Revue canadienne de sociologie 57, no. 4 (2020): 656-80, https://doi.org/https://doi.org/10.1111/ cars.12304.
- 211 "Case in Brief: References Re Greenhouse Gas Pollution Pricing Act," Supreme Court of Canada, updated March 23, 2021, https://www.scc-csc.ca/case-dossier/cb/2021/38663-38781-39116-eng.aspx.
- 212 Sean Boynton, "We've Had Enough': Protests Over Carbon Price Hike Halt Traffic Across Canada," Global News, April 2, 2024, https://globalnews.ca/news/10395581/carbon-price-hike-protests-canada.

- 213 Larry Hughes and Sarah Landry, "The Pushback Against Canada's Carbon Pricing System: A Case Study of Two Canadian Provinces, Saskatchewan and Nova Scotia," Energies 17, no. 22 (2024): 5802, https://doi.org/10.3390/en17225802; and Mia Rabson, "Trudeau Says Conservative Premiers Are Lying About Carbon Pricing," CBC News, March 27, 2024, https://www.cbc.ca/news/politics/ trudeau-premiers-carbon-tax-1.7157396.
- 214 Fatima Syed, Shannon Waters, and Carl Meyer, "What Carney's Win Means for Environment and Climate Issues in Canada," The Narwhal, April 28, 2025, https://thenarwhal.ca/federal-election-results-2025.
- 215 Canadian Press, "Prime Minister Mark Carney's Government Terminates Consumer Carbon Price," CTV News, March 18, 2025, https://www.ctvnews.ca/politics/article/ prime-minister-mark-carneys-government-terminates-consumer-carbon-price.
- 216 Kyle Bakx, "The Big Election Winner? The Carbon Tax," CBC News, October 22, 2019, https://www.cbc.ca/ news/business/trudeau-sheer-election-carbon-tax-1.5330829; and Patterson, Anisimova, Logg-Scarvell, and Kaiser, "Reactions to Policy Action."
- 217 Andrew Scheer (@AndrewScheer), "Remember to fill it up tonight! Justin Trudeau's Carbon Tax kicks in tomorrow, which will make everything from driving your kids to school, to heating your home, to your groceries more expensive.," post on X, March 31, 2019, https://x.com/AndrewScheer/ status/1112519502300758016.
- 218 CBC News, "Ontario Court Strikes Down Doug Ford's Mandatory Anti-Carbon Tax Gas Pump Stickers," CBC News, September 4, 2020, https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/toronto/ carbon-tax-gas-pump-stickers-ford-struck-down-1.5712981.
- 219 Doug Ford (@fordnation), "For the Ontario Provincial Police, the federal carbon tax will increase fuel costs by over \$2 million for their 4,000 vehicles by 2022. Ontario is putting people first by fighting this burdensome tax that will drain resources from our police, firefighters, and paramedics.," post on X, April 17, 2019, https://x.com/fordnation/status/1118621860479082498?mx=2.
- 220 Shawn Jeffords, "Anti-Carbon Tax Gas Stickers Staying, Ontario Government Says," Global News, 2019, https://globalnews.ca/news/6092593/anti-carbon-tax-gas-stickers-staying-ontario-government.
- 221 Alice Lépissier, Chloé Boutron, Erick Lachapelle, Matto Mildenberger, and Kathryn Harrison, "Material Interest Vs. Partisan Identity as Drivers of Opposition to Carbon Taxes," Brown University, working paper, November 27, 2022, https://alicelepissier.com/docs/Carbon-Cost-Exposure.pdf
- 222 CBC News, "Quebec Joins Carbon Tax Fight to 'Protect Provincial Jurisdiction," CBC News, July 9, 2019, https://www.cbc.ca/news/canada/montreal/quebec-joins-carbon-tax-fight-1.5204883.
- 223 For example, see Chris Ragan, Elizabeth Beale, Paul Boothe, et al., "Bridging the Gap: Real Options for Meeting Canada's 2030 GHG Target," Ecofiscal Commission, 2019, https://ecofiscal.ca/wp-content/uploads/2019/11/Ecofiscal-Commission-Bridging-the-Gap-November-27-2019-FINAL.pdf.
- 224 Clean Prosperity, "New Carbon Tax Rebate Payments Keep Climate Action Affordable for Canadians," news release, July 5, 2022, https://cleanprosperity.ca/ new-carbon-tax-rebate-payments-keep-climate-action-affordable-for-canadians.
- 225 David Tindall, Mark C. J. Stoddart, and Philippe Le Billon, "Opinion: The Climate Conundrum Facing Political Leaders: The Public Wants to Have It Both Ways," Vancouver Sun, April 24, 2025, https://vancouversun.com/opinion/op-ed/ opinion-the-climate-conundrum-facing-political-leaders-the-public-wants-to-have-it-both-ways.
- 226 Patterson, Anisimova, Logg-Scarvell, and Kaiser, "Reactions to Policy Action."
- 227 Stephan Lewandowsky, Ullrich K. H. Ecker, and John Cook, "Beyond Misinformation: Understanding and Coping with the 'Post-Truth' Era," Journal of Applied Research in Memory and Cognition 6, no. 4 (2017): 353-69, https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jarmac.2017.07.008.
- 228 For example, windows of opportunity may include only those times when support for climate action is high and cost of living concerns are not.
- 229 Michael Grubb, Alexandra Poncia, Paul Drummond, Karsten Neuhoff, and Jean-Charles Hourcade, "Policy Complementarity and the Paradox of Carbon Pricing," Oxford Review of Economic Policy 39, no. 4 (2023): 711-30, https://doi.org/10.1093/oxrep/grad045.

- 230 World Bank, State and Trends of Carbon Pricing 2025 (2025): https://doi.org/10.1596/978-1-4648-2255-1.
- 231 Kate Abnett, "EU Commission Faces Complaint over Easing of Sustainability Rules," Reuters, April 18, 2025, https://www.reuters.com/sustainability/climate-energy/ eu-commission-faces-complaint-over-easing-sustainability-rules-2025-04-17/.
- 232 Jon Henley, "Why Are Farmers Protesting Across the EU and What Can the Bloc Do about It?," Guardian, February 2, 2024, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2024/feb/02/ why-are-farmers-protesting-across-the-eu-and-what-can-the-bloc-do-about-it.
- 233 Erin Jones and Emily Hardy, "Green Parties, Greenlash, and European Climate Activism," in eds. Erin Jones and Richard Youngs, Civic Activism in an Intensifying Climate Crisis, Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, December 10, 2024, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2024/12/climate-change-protest-activism-green-transition?lang=en#green-parties-greenlash-and-european-climate-activism.
- 234 Jon Henley and Sam Jones, "'They're Drowning Us in Regulations': How Europe's Furious Farmers Took on Brussels and Won," Guardian, February 10, 2024, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2024/feb/10/ theyre-drowning-us-in-regulations-how-europes-furious-farmers-took-on-brussels-and-won.
- 235 Camille van Hees, Louise van Schaik, and Pieter Zwaan, "How Dutch Farmers' Protests Evolved into Political Mobilisation," Clingendael, May 6, 2024, https://www.clingendael.org/publication/ how-dutch-farmers-protests-evolved-political-mobilisation.
- 236 James Patterson, "Civic Activism Against Climate Action and the Challenge of Backlash," in Jones and Youngs, Civic Activism in an Intensifying Climate Crisis.
- 237 Jan Eichhorn and Heather Grabbe, "Europeans Still Want Climate Action but Don't Trust Governments to Deliver," Bruegel, February 25, 2025, https://www.bruegel.org/policy-brief/ europeans-still-want-climate-action-dont-trust-governments-deliver.
- 238 OECD, Government at a Glance 2025 (2025), https://doi.org/10.1787/0efd0bcd-en.
- 239 Pietro Lombardi, "How a Storm of Lawsuits Paralysed Wind Mills in Northwest Spain," Reuters, January 14, 2025, https://www.reuters.com/business/energy/how-storm-lawsuits-paralysed-wind-mills-northwest-spain-2025-01-14/#:~:text=Echoing%20the%20tactics%20of%20 rural%20communities%20across,their%20way%20of%20life%20and%20the%20environment.&text=On%20the%20Italian%20island%20of%20Sardinia%2C%20local,island%27s%20 territory%20off%20limits%20to%20their%20projects; and Francesca Zoccheddu, "Sardegna, la battaglia contro l'eolico arriva in Regione: manifestanti sulla croce con la bandiera dei quattro mori," La Repubblica, November 8, 2024, https://www.repubblica.it/cronaca/2024/11/08/news/ sardegna eolico regione manifestanti croce bandiera quattro mori-423605177/.
- 240 "Sardegna, contestazioni contro l'eolico al calor bianco e un sabotaggio. Dove si vuole arrivare?" QualEnergia, August 29, 2024, https://www.qualenergia.it/articoli/sardegna-contestazioni-eolico-calor-bianco-sabotaggio-dove-si-vuole-arrivare; and Jenny Kirk, "Villagers Gather for Walk Against Solar Farm Plans," BBC, March 23, 2025, https://www.bbc.com/news/articles/cy05zq1xrllo.
- 241 "Thousands Join Miners Protest in Warsaw Against Coal Power Plant Closures," Notes from Poland, January 10, 2025, https://notesfrompoland.com/2025/01/10/thousands-join-miners-protest-in-warsaw-against-coal-power-plant-closures; and "Polish Steelworkers Protest Against EU Climate Policies," Notes from Poland, May 21, 2025, https://notesfrompoland.com/2025/05/21/ polish-steelworkers-protest-against-eu-climate-policies/.
- 242 Sachin Ravikumar, "London's Contentious Clean Air Zone ULEZ Extends to Entire City," Reuters, August 29, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/world/uk/londons-contentious-clean-air-zone-extends-entire-city-2023-08-28/#:~:text=The%20expansion%20has%20ignited%20a,environmental%20policies%20without%20 alienating%20voters; Lottie Limb, "What Is a 15-minute City? The Eco Concept that has Been Jumped on by Conspiracy Theorists," Euronews, February 21, 2023, https://www.euronews.com/green/2023/02/21/ what-is-a-15-minute-city-the-eco-concept-that-has-been-jumped-on-by-conspiracy-theorists; and Joanna Gill, "Why Are Europe's Low Emission Zones Fuelling Unrest?," Context, February 9, 2024, https://www. context.news/just-transition/why-are-europes-low-emission-zones-fuelling-unrest.

- 243 Kate Connolly, "Germany Coalition Staves off Implosion with 11th-Hour Heating Law Amendment," Guardian, June 14, 2023, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2023/jun/14/ germany-coalition-staves-off-implosion-with-11th-hour-heating-law-amendment; and "Germany: Thousands in Bavaria Protest Greens' Heating Law," DW, June 10, 2023, https://www.dw.com/en/ germany-thousands-in-bavaria-protest-greens-heating-law/a-65879493.
- 244 Catarina Demony, "Portugal Activists Urge Suspension of Lithium Projects after PM Quits," Reuters, November 8, 2023, https://www.reuters.com/world/europe/portuguese-anti-mining-groups-urge-suspension-lithium-projects-after-pms-2023-11-08; Ella Joyner, "EU Green-Tech Homeshoring Plans Face Resistance in Spain," DW, March 16, 2023, https://www.dw.com/en/spanish-lithium-eus-green-techhomeshoring-plans-face-resistance-on-the-ground/a-64996771; and "Serbia's Green Activists Rally Against Rio Tinto Lithium Project," Reuters, June 28, 2024, https://www.reuters.com/markets/commodities/ serbias-green-activists-rally-against-rio-tinto-lithium-project-2024-06-28/.
- 245 Paul Kirby, "French MPs Vote to Scrap Low-Emission Zones," BBC, May 29, 2025, https://www.bbc.com/ news/articles/c0mrpl2208no.
- 246 Rikard Jozwiak, "Wider Europe Briefing: Unpacking The European Parliament Election Results," Radio Free Europe, June 10, 2024, https://www.rferl.org/a/european-parliament-elections-results-epp-far-right/32986621.html.
- 247 Jones and Hardy, "Green Parties, Greenlash, and European Climate Activism."
- 248 Eds. Rosa Balfour and Stefan Lehne, "Charting the Radical Right's Influence on EU Foreign Policy," Carnegie Europe, April 18, 2024, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2024/04/ charting-the-radical-rights-influence-on-eu-foreign-policy?center=europe&lang=en.
- 249 Björn Bremer, Jane Gingrich, and Hanna Schwander, "Despite 2024's 'Greenlash,' the Fight Against Climate Breakdown Can Still Be Won," Guardian, December 6, 2024, https://www.theguardian.com/ commentisfree/2024/dec/06/2024-greenlash-climate-breakdown-europeans-climate-action.
- 250 Aleksandra Krzysztoszek, "PiS Candidate Vows 'Unrealistic' Referendum on EU Green Deal," Euractiv, January 21, 2025, https://www.euractiv.com/section/politics/news/ pis-candidate-vows-unrealistic-referendum-on-eu-green-deal/.
- 251 Corporate Europe Observatory, "Competitiveness: Inside the Troubling Corporate Blueprint for the Coming Commission," September 19, 2024, https://corporateeurope.org/en/2024/09/competitiveness-inside-troubling-corporate-blueprint-coming-commission; and BusinessEurope, "Reducing Regulatory Burden to Restore the EU's Competitive Edge," January 22, 2025, https://www.businesseurope.eu/publications/ reducing-regulatory-burden-to-restore-the-eus-competitive-edge/.
- 252 Julia Ebner, Going Mainstream: Why Extreme Ideas Are Spreading, and What We Can Do about It (London: Ithaka, 2024).
- 253 Karl Mathiesen et al., "Inside the Divided Coalition Coming for the Green Deal," Politico, February 11, 2025, https://www.politico.eu/article/inside-divided-coalition-green-deal-far-right-eu-parliament/.
- 254 Robert Hodgson, "EPP Declares War on 'Excessive Regulation' from Brussels," Euronews, January 20, 2025, https://www.euronews.com/my-europe/2025/01/20/epp-declares-war-on-excessive-regulation-from-brussels.
- 255 European Commission, "Commission Proposes to Cut Red Tape and Simplify Business Environment," February 26, 2025, https://commission.europa.eu/news/commission-proposes-cut-red-tape-and-simplify-business-environment-2025-02-26 en; Wester van Gaal, "How the EU Distorted Data to Justify Green Deregulation," EU Observer, March 3, 2025, https://euobserver.com/green-economy/ar768ab3e5; and Amnesty International, "The Big EU Deregulation," March 10, 2025, https://www.amnesty.nl/content/ uploads/2025/02/Joint-CSO-statement-reacting-to-Omnibus-publication Final.pdf.pdf?x55122.
- 256 Oscar Berglund, "The Growing Criminalization of Climate and Environmental Protests," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, August 13, 2025, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2025/08/ climate-activism-criminalization-environmental-protest?lang=en.
- 257 Damien Gayle, Matthew Taylor, and Ajit Niranjan, "Human Rights Experts Warn against European Crackdown on Climate Protesters," The Guardian, October 12, 2023, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2023/oct/12/human-rights-experts-warn-against-european-crackdown-on-climate-protesters; and Jones and Emily Hardy, "Green Parties, Greenlash, and European Climate Activism."

- 258 Alanna Byrne, "It's Time to Speak Up for the World We Want," Absurd Intelligence, March 13, 2025, https://www.absurdintelligence.com/ its-time-to-speak-up-for-the-world-we-want/?ref=absurd-intelligence-newsletter.
- 259 Gabriel Gavin and Federica Di Sario, "Greta Thunberg Blocks Brussels Boulevard in Fossil Fuel Protest," Politico, October 5, 2024, https://www.politico.eu/article/ brussels-grinds-to-halt-as-greta-thunberg-leads-fossil-fuel-protest/.
- 260 A22 Network, accessed May 10, 2025, https://a22network.org/.
- 261 Noah Gordon, "Why Climate Sabotage Remains an Unlikely Strategy," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, August 13, 2025, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2025/08/ climate-activism-sabotage-protest-tactics?lang=en.
- 262 Damien Gayle, "'A New Phase': Why Climate Activists Are Turning to Sabotage Instead of Protest," Guardian, March 8, 2025, https://www.theguardian.com/environment/2025/ mar/08/a-new-phase-why-climate-activists-are-turning-to-sabotage-instead-of-protest.
- 263 Tarik Abou-Chadi et al., "Debunking the Backlash Uncovering European Voters' Climate Preferences," Hertie School, Jacques Delors Centre, March 7, 2024, https://www.delorscentre.eu/en/publications/detail/ publication/debunking-the-backlash-uncovering-european-voters-climate-preferences.
- 264 "How to Phase out Fossil Fuels and Still Win an Election," UCL, December 6, 2023, https://www.ucl.ac.uk/ news/2023/dec/how-phase-out-fossil-fuels-and-still-win-election.
- 265 Extinction Rebellion, "We Quit," December 31, 2022, https://extinctionrebellion.uk/2022/12/31/we-quit/.
- 266 Annie Kelly, "Monday Briefing: As Just Stop Oil Disbands, How Will We Remember the Radical Climate Activist Group?," Guardian, April 28, 2025, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2025/apr/28/ first-edition-just-stop-oil-legacy.
- 267 Mattia Zulianello and Diego Ceccobelli, "Don't Call it Climate Populism: On Greta Thunberg's Technocratic Ecocentrism," Political Quarterly 91, no. 3 (2020): 623-631.
- 268 Arild Ohren, "Democracy for a World on Fire," Democratic Society, February 6, 2025, https://www.demsoc. org/resources/democracy-for-a-world-on-fire.
- 269 Claire Mellier and Graham Smith, "Activism and Climate Assemblies," in Jones and Youngs, Civic Activism in an Intensifying Climate Crisis.
- 270 Thea Riofrancos, "The Perils of Climate Alarmism," Journal of Democracy 36, no. 1 (2025): 169-174, https://muse.jhu.edu/article/947892.
- 271 Debbra Goh and Noah Gordon, "Introducing Carnegie's Revamped Climate Protest Tracker," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, May 7, 2025, https://carnegieendowment.org/emissary/2025/05/ climate-protest-tracker-data-trends?lang=en.
- 272 Navjot S. Sodhi et al., "The State and Conservation of Southeast Asian Biodiversity," Biodiversity and Conservation 19 (2010): https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s10531-009-9607-5.
- 273 "Southeast Asia Energy Outlook 2024: Executive Summary," International Energy Agency, 2024, https:// www.iea.org/reports/southeast-asia-energy-outlook-2024/executive-summary.
- 274 "The Future of Geothermal Energy," International Energy Agency, 2024, https://www.iea.org/reports/the-future-of-geothermal-energy/ global-geothermal-potential-for-electricity-generation-using-egs-technologies.
- 275 "Southeast Asia Energy Outlook 2024: Executive Summary," International Energy Agency.
- 276 "Govt Aims to Increase Installed Geothermal Capacity by 5.2 GW," Antara, April 14, 2025, https://en.antaranews.com/news/351665/govt-aims-to-increase-installed-geothermal-capacity-by-52-gw; and "Electricity Generation," U.S. Department of Energy, https://www.energy.gov/eere/geothermal/electricity-generation.
- 277 "Govt Aims to Increase Installed Geothermal Capacity by 5.2 GW."
- 278 Indria Wahyuni, Indonesia's Policy and Regulation of Geothermal Energy: Optimising Geothermal Utilisation (Airlangga University Press, 2023).

- 279 "Law of the Republic of Indonesia Number 21 of 2014 on Geothermal Energy," BPK, September 2014, https://jdih.bpk.go.id/File/Download/c57d4fe5-1b3f-4c95-a9be-e1b468341987/uu%20no%2021%20 tahun%202014%20tentang%20panas%20bumi.pdf.
- 280 The restrictions on geothermal activities could be seen, for example, in Law Number 5 of 1990 on Conservation of Biodiversity Resources and the Ecosystem and Law Number 41 of 1999 on Forestry. Such restrictions were revised in the 2014 Law. See "Law of the Republic of Indonesia Number 21 of 2014 on Geothermal Energy," Elucidation page 2 (Supplement to the State Gazette of the Republic of Indonesia 5585).
- 281 "Law of the Republic of Indonesia Number 21 of 2014 on Geothermal Energy," Chapter 2, Article 5.
- 282 Habibi Alhusni et al., "Geothermal Business Outlook in Indonesia," 48th Workshop on Geothermal Reservoir Engineering, Stanford, California, February 6-8, 2023, https://pangea.stanford.edu/ERE/db/ GeoConf/papers/SGW/2023/Habibi.pdf.
- 283 The World Bank's Indonesia Geothermal Energy Upstream Development Project in 2017 was financed through the Clean Technology Fund grant and the Global Environment Facility grant and jointly implemented by two institutions owned by Indonesia's Ministry of Finance: PT Sarana Multi Infrastruktur, a financial institution, and PT Geo Dipa Energi, the state-owned enterprise for geothermal exploration. See "Integrated Safeguards Data Sheet Restructuring Stage," World Bank, December 12, 2023, https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/099121723013015842/pdf/P15504705a19c8030b01100be29c07aa89. pdf.
- 284 Christ J Belseran, "Soroti Kekerasan di Proyek Panas Bumi Poco Leok, Koalisi: Lindungi Masyarakat," Mongabay, October 10, 2024, https://www.mongabay.co.id/2024/10/10/ soroti-kekerasan-di-proyek-panas-bumi-di-poco-leok-koalisi-lindungi-masyarakat.
- 285 Alhusni et al, "Geothermal Business Outlook in Indonesia."
- 286 Alexandros Gasparatos et al., "Renewable Energy and Biodiversity: Implications for Transitioning to a Green Economy," Renewable and Sustainable Energy Reviews 70 (April 2017): https://www.sciencedirect.com/ science/article/pii/S1364032116304622?via%3Dihub.
- 287 "Environmental Impacts of Geothermal Energy," Union of Concerned Scientists, March 5, 2013, https:// www.ucs.org/resources/environmental-impacts-geothermal-energy.
- 288 "Open Letter: From Wae Sano Community, Sub District Sano Nggoang, West Manggarai, East Nusa Tenggara," Jaringan Advokasi Tambang, June 15, 2021, https://jatam.org/wp-content/uploads/2021/06/ Open-Letter-from-Wae-Sano.pdf.
- 289 Benaya Harobu and Dandhy Laksono, Barang Panas (Hot Stuff), 2023, 1 hour 22 minutes, https://drive. google.com/drive/folders/1iZi-wl9Xtrh8F5dZ4FTjH9EC-Oj_647e?usp=sharing.
- 290 Harobu and Laksono, Barang Panas (Hot Stuff).
- 291 Ronna Nirmala, "From Misty Hills to Contaminated Fields: A Geothermal Struggle in Indonesia," Earth Journalism Network, October 3, 2024, https://earthjournalism.net/stories/ from-misty-hills-to-contaminated-fields-a-geothermal-struggle-in-indonesia.
- 292 Harobu and Laksono, Barang Panas (Hot Stuff).
- 293 Harobu and Laksono, Barang Panas (Hot Stuff).
- 294 Dina Ekowait et al., "Untold Climate Stories: Feminist Political Ecology Perspectives on Extractivism, Climate Colonialism and Community Alternatives," in Contours of Feminist Political Ecology, ed. Wendy Harcourt et al. (Palgrave Macmillan, 2023): https://library.oapen.org/bitstream/ handle/20.500.12657/61293/978-3-031-20928-4.pdf, 19-52.
- 295 Harobu and Laksono, Barang Panas (Hot Stuff).
- 296 Belseran, "Soroti Kekerasan di Proyek Panas Bumi Poco Leok, Koalisi: Lindungi Masyarakat."
- 297 Alexander Richter, "Geothermal Energy Is Least Land-Use Intense Source of the Renewable Energy Technologies," ThinkGeoEnergy, January 22, 2021, https://www.thinkgeoenergy.com/ geothermal-energy-is-least-land-use-intense-source-of-the-renewable-energy-technologies.

- 298 "ID: Geothermal Energy Upstream Development (P155047) Implementation Status & Results Report," World Bank, June 28, 2024, https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/en/099062824170538461/ pdf/P1550471a5b02206719b88162ee6e4d125e.pdf; and "Integrated Safeguards Data Sheet Restructuring Stage," World Bank, December 12, 2023, https://documents1.worldbank.org/curated/ en/099121723013015842/pdf/P15504705a19c8030b01100be29c07aa89.pdf.
- 299 "World Bank Pulls Out of Indonesia's Disputed Power Project," Sunday Examiner, November 3, 2023, https://www.examiner.org.hk/2023/11/03/world-bank-pulls-out-of-indonesias-disputed-power-project/
- 300 "World Bank Pulls Out of Indonesia's Disputed Power Project," Sunday Examiner.
- 301 Mathia Hariyadi, "Indonesian Archbishop Denounces Geothermal Projects Over Environmental Concerns," LiCAS.news, January 20, 2025, https://www.licas.news/2025/01/20/ indonesian-archbishop-denounces-geothermal-projects-over-environmental-concerns.
- 302 "Priests, Nun Join to Protest Indonesia's Geothermal Project," Union of Catholic Asian News, March 12, 2025, https://www.ucanews.com/news/priests-nuns-join-to-protest-indonesias-geothermal-project/108146.
- 303 Ebed de Rosary, "Church Pressure Spurs Scrutiny of Indonesian Geothermal Projects," Mongabay, April 23, 2025, https://news.mongabay.com/2025/04/ church-pressure-spurs-scrutiny-of-indonesian-geothermal-projects.
- 304 Harobu and Laksono, Barang Panas (Hot Stuff).
- 305 "Open Letter: From Wae Sano Community, Sub District Sano Nggoang, West Manggarai, East Nusa
- 306 Amy Barrow and Sara Fuller, "Introduction" in Activism and Authoritarian Governance in Asia, ed. Amy Barrow and Sara Fuller (Routledge: 2022).
- 307 "Malaysia: End Unprecedented Crackdown on Hundreds of Critics," Amnesty International, March 11, 2016, https://www.amnesty.org/en/latest/press-release/2016/03/ malaysia-end-unprecedented-crackdown-on-hundreds-of-critics-through-sedition-act.
- 308 Barrow and Fuller, "Introduction."
- 309 "Missing Voices: The Violent Erasure of Land and Environmental Defenders," Global Witness, September 10, 2024, https://globalwitness.org/en/campaigns/land-and-environmental-defenders/ missing-voices; and "More Than 2,100 Land and Environmental Defenders Killed Globally Between 2012 and 2023," Global Witness, September 10, 2024, https://globalwitness.org/en/press-releases/ more-than-2100-land-and-environmental-defenders-killed-globally-between-2012-and-2023.
- 310 Venansius Haryanto and Tamara Soukotta, "The Indonesian (Modern/Colonial) Dream of Development," European Journal of Development Research, December 9, 2024, https://doi.org/10.1057/ s41287-024-00670-9.
- 311 Oscar Berglund, "The Growing Criminalization of Climate and Environmental Protests", Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, August 13, 2025, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2025/08/ climate-activism-criminalization-environmental-protest?lang=en.
- 312 Andrew Turner and H. Annamalai, "Climate Change and the South Asian Summer Monsoon," Nature Climate Change 2 (2012): https://doi.org/10.1038/nclimate1495, 587-595; and Rajashree Kotharkar and Aveek Ghosh, "Review of Heat Wave Studies and Related Urban Policies in South Asia," Urban Climate 36 (2021): https://doi.org/10.1016/j.uclim.2021.100777.
- 313 Bilawal Bhutto Zardari, "The Loss and Damage Facility: A Step Towards Climate Justice," UN Chronicle, December 9, 2022, https://www.un.org/en/un-chronicle/loss-and-damage-facility-step-towards-climate-justice; Navin Sreejith, "India's Renewable Energy Capacity Achieves Historic Growth in FY 2024-25," Ministry of New and Renewable Energy, April 10, 2025, https://www.pib.gov.in/PressReleasePage. aspx?PRID=2120729; Thomas Kerr and Farwa Aamer, "South Asia Rising to the Challenge: From Climate Vulnerability to Resilience," World Bank Blogs, February 5, 2025, https://blogs.worldbank.org/en/endpovertyinsouthasia/south-asia-rising-to-the-challenge--from-climate-vulnerability-t; and "Meghalaya Focusing on Adaptation Strategies as It Revises Climate Action Plan," Highland Post, July 15, 2024, https://highlandpost. com/meghalaya-focusing-on-adaptation-strategies-as-it-revises-climate-action-plan.

- 314 "Policy on Hydro Power Development," Government of India, Ministry of Power, August 1998, https:// hperc.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/03/hydro power policy development.pdf, 1; and R. Edward Grumbine and Maharaj K. Pandit, "Threats From Indias Himalaya Dams," Science 339, no. 6115 (January 2013): https://doi.org/10.1126/science.1227211.
- 315 Sharachchandra Lele, "Climate Change and the Indian Environmental Movement," in Handbook of Climate Change and India, ed. Navroz Dubash (Earthscan, 2012): https://www.sustainablefutures.org/ wp-content/uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-India-Development-Politics-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-India-Development-Politics-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-India-Development-Politics-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-India-Development-Politics-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-India-Development-Politics-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-India-Development-Politics-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-India-Development-Politics-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-India-Development-Politics-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Handbook-of-Climate-Change-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-and-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politics-And-uploads/2024/03/Navroz-Development-Politi Governance-2011.pdf, 208-217.
- 316 Shekhar Pathak, The Chipko Movement: A People's History (Orient Blackswan, 2020); and Lele, "Climate Change and the Indian Environmental Movement," 211.
- 317 Pradip Swarnakar, "Climate Change, Civil Society, and Social Movement in India," in India in a Warming World: Integrating Climate Change and Development, ed. Navroz Dubash (Oxford University Press, 2019): https://doi.org/10.1093/oso/9780199498734.003.0015, 253-272.
- 318 Ranjit Dwivedi, "People's Movements in Environmental Politics: A Critical Analysis of the Narmada Bachao Andolan in India," Institute of Social Studies, Working Paper Series No. 242, March 1997, https://repub. eur.nl/pub/18981/wp242.pdf; Christian Erni, "Community Forest Governance: The Jharkhand Save the Forest Movement in India," International Work Group for Indigenous Affairs, Briefing Paper, March 2011, https://www.iccaconsortium.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/08/example-jharkhand-save-the-forest-indiaemi-2011-en.pdf; and Vidhya Das, "Minor Forest Produce and Rights of Tribals," Economic and Political Weekly 31, no. 50 (December 1996): https://www.jstor.org/stable/4404874, 3227-3229.
- 319 Subir Bhaumik, "Damming the Northeast," The Caravan, September 30, 2010, https://caravanmagazine. in/perspectives/damming-northeast; and Dolly Kikon, Living with Oil and Coal (University of Washington Press, 2019).
- 320 Sanjay Barbora, "Rethinking India's Counter-Insurgency Campaign in North-East," Economic and Political Weekly 41, no. 35 (September 2006): https://www.jstor.org/stable/4418651, 3805-3812.
- 321 Jawaharlal Nehru, "Temples of the New Age," from a Hindi speech delivered at the opening of the Nangal Canal, July 8, 1954, published in Jawaharlal Nehru's Speeches 3 (Publications Division, Ministry of Information and Broadcasting, Government of India, 1958): 1-4.
- 322 Ramananda Wangkheirakpam, "Lessons From Loktak," Ecologist Asia 11, no. 1 (2003): https://subansiri. wordpress.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/12/ne-dams-ecologist-vol-11-no1.pdf, 19-24; and Swapan Kumar Patra, "Gumti Hydroelectric Project, Tripura, India," Global Atlas of Environmental Justice, May, 2, 2022, https://ejatlas.org/print/gumti-hydroelectric-project-tripura-india.
- 323 Grant Alan Burrier and Philip Hultquist, "Temples, Travesties, or Something Else? The Developmental State, Ecological Modernization, and Hydroelectric Dam Construction in India," World Development 124 (December 2019): https://doi.org/10.1016/j.worlddev.2019.104642.
- 324 R. Rangachari et al., "Large Dams: India's Experience," World Commission on Dams, 2000, https:// shekharsinghcollections.com/content/Dams/2000-Case-Study-Large-Dams-India_s-Experience-World-Commission-on-Dams.pdf, 29.
- 325 Keith Schneider, "Big India Dam, Unfinished and Silent, Could be Tomb for Giant Hydropower Projects," Circle of Blue, April 6, 2015, https://www.circleofblue.org/2015/water-energy/ big-india-dam-unfinished-and-silent-could-be-tomb-for-giant-hydropower-projects.
- 326 Manju Menon, "Infrastructure Development in the Northeast: Hydropower, Natural Resources, Legal and Institutional Frameworks and Compliance," Heinrich Böll Stiftung, July 18, 2019, https://in.boell.org/sites/ default/files/uploads/2019/05/infrastructure development in the northeast hydropower natural resources legal and institutional frameworks and compliance .pdf, 2.
- 327 Akhilesh Sati et al., "Growth of Hydropower in India: Role of the Private Sector," Observer Research Foundation, June 24, 2022, https://www.orfonline.org/expert-speak/growth-of-hydropower-in-india.
- 328 "Policy on Hydro Power Development," 1.
- 329 "Hydro Power Policy 2008," Ministry of Power, Government of India, January 2008, https://www.ielrc.org/ content/e0820.pdf, i-ii.

- 330 "Cabinet Approves Modification of the Scheme of Budgetary Support for the Cost of Enabling Infrastructure for Hydro Electric Projects," Press Information Bureau Delhi, September 11, 2024, https:// www.pib.gov.in/PressReleasePage.aspx?PRID=2053886.
- 331 Snigdhendu Bhattacharya, "India Pushes for Hydropower in Its Northeast Despite Environmental and Climate Concerns," Earth Journalism Network, December 1, 2022, https://earthjournalism.net/stories/ <u>india-pushes-for-hydropower-in-its-northeast-in-spite-of-environmental-and-climate-concerns.</u>
- 332 Bikash Singh, "Arunachal: 98 small hydro projects registered for carbon credits under Universal Carbon Registration," The Economic Times, November 6, 2023, https://economictimes.indiatimes.com/industry/ energy/power/arunachal-98-small-hydro-projects-registered-for-carbon-credits-under-universal-carbon-registration/articleshow/105018955.cms?from=mdr.
- 333 Menon, "Infrastructure Development," 3, 5-6; Jaya Thakur, "India-Bangladesh Trans-Boundary River Management: Understanding the Tipaimukh Dam Controversy," Observer Research Foundation, ORF Issue Brief No. 334, January 2020, https://www.orfonline.org/public/uploads/posts/ pdf/20230510215230.pdf; and "Ranganadi HEP Renamed as Panyor Lower HEP to Honour Local Sentiments: CM," Arunachal Observer, December 11, 2022, https://arunachalobserver.org/2022/12/11/ ranganadi-hep-renamed-as-panyor-lower-hep-to-honour-local-sentiments-cm.
- 334 Pallavi Hazarika, "Dams Do Not Mean Development: The Case of Hydro-Electric Projects in North East India," Economic and Political Weekly (Engage) 55, no. 5 (February 2020): https://www.epw.in/sites/ default/files/engage_pdf/2020/01/30/2965-1580382940.pdf, 1-9; Sanaton Laishram, "Consultation on Dams and Climate Change in India's North East," e-pao.net, November 19, 2014, https://www.e-pao.net/ epSubPageExtractor.asp?src=news section.press release.press release 2014.consultation on dams and climate change in india north east 20141120; and Keshoba Krishna Chatradhara, "Who Pays the Price? The Human and Ecological Cost of Arunachal's Mega Dams," Assam Times, March 14, 2025, https://www. assamtimes.org/node/23359.
- 335 Neeraj Vagholikar and M. Firoz Ahmed, "Tracking a Hydel Project," Ecologist Asia 11, no. 1 (2003): https:// subansiri.wordpress.com/wp-content/uploads/2012/12/ne-dams-ecologist-vol-11-no1.pdf, 25-32.
- 336 Sanjib Baruah, "Whose River Is It Anyway? Political Economy of Hydropower in the Eastern Himalayas," Economic and Political Weekly 47, no. 29 (July 2012): https://www.jstor.org/stable/41720014, 41-52; and Pahi Saikia et al., "Contesting in the Policy Sphere: Stakeholders and Policy Formulation on the Lower Subansiri Dam in the Northeast," India Review 22, no. 5 (2023): https://doi.org/10.1080/14736489.2023.2 261316, 531–563.
- 337 Raju Mimi, "Anti-Dam Protests Get Louder in Northeast India," International Rivers, December 10, 2010, https://riverresourcehub.org/resources/anti-dam-protests-get-louder-in-northeast-india-1689.
- 338 Saikia et al., "Contesting in the Policy Sphere."
- 339 Parag Jyoti Saikia, "How a Megadam Disrupts the Flow of Water—and Money," Sapiens, January 30, 2025, https://www.sapiens.org/culture/india-hydropower-dam-impacts-river-communities; and Jatin Kalita et al., "Report on Downstream Impact Study of the Ongoing Subansiri Lower Hydroelectric Power Project at Gerukamukh of National Hydroelectric Power Corporation Limited," NHPC Ltd., 2010, https://cdn. downtoearth.org.in/dte/userfiles/images/NHPCL_Report.pdf.
- 340 Author's interview with Monoj Gogoi, June 4, 2023, Gogamukh; author's interview with NGO employee, June 6, 2023, Guwahati; and Tuomas Ylä-Anttila and Pradip Swarnakar, "Crowding-In: How Indian Civil Society Organizations Began Mobilizing Around Climate Change," British Journal of Sociology 68, no. 2 (June 2017): https://doi.org/10.1111/1468-4446.12251, 273-292.
- 341 Costanza Rampini, "The 'Double-Exposure' of Riverine Communities in Northeast India to Dams and Climate Change," Environmental Development 54 (June 2025): https://doi.org/10.1016/j. envdev.2025.101142, 1-13.
- 342 Bhattacharya, "India Pushes for Hydropower."
- 343 Neeraj Vagholikar and Partha J. Das, "Damming Northeast India," Kalpavriksh, Briefing Paper, November 2010, https://archive.nyu.edu/jspui/bitstream/2451/33859/2/dams-northeast.pdf.
- 344 "Who We Are," Rural Volunteer Centre, https://rvc.org.in/what-we-do.

- 345 Author's interview with Gogoi, June 4, 2023, Gogamukh.
- 346 Author's interview with Gogoi, June 4, 2023, Gogamukh.
- 347 Laishram, "Consultation on Dams and Climate Change."
- 348 "Northeast Faces Water Crisis: NEIWT Calls for Urgent Action on Climate Resilience," Assam Times, March 23, 2025, https://www.assamtimes.org/node/23363.
- 349 Simantik Dowerah, "Lower Subansiri Hydro Electric Project: A Doom in the Downstream," Firstpost, October 20, 2022, https://www.firstpost.com/opinion-news-expert-views-news-analysisfirstpost-viewpoint/lower-subansiri-hydro-electric-project-a-doom-in-the-downstream-11462411. html; and Ayanabha Banerjee, "Hydro Project Dries Up Subansiri River, Endangers Assam's Environment & Tribals," Mooknayak, October 31, 2023, https://en.themooknayak.com/environment/ hydro-project-dries-up-subansiri-river-endangers-assams-environment-tribals.
- 350 K.K. Chatradhara, "Prologue," in A Compendium of Water Stories from North-East India, eds. K.K. Chatradhara and S.K. Chakraborty (North-East Affected Area Development Society and Heinrich Böll Stiftung, 2022).
- 351 Thomas Malsom, "Unheard Voices of Climate-Induced Flood Disasters in Tripura," North-East India Water Talks, March 12, 2025, https://newatertalk.in/blog/ unheard-voices-of-climate-induced-flood-disasters-in-tripura.
- 352 "Arab Uprising: Country by Country," BBC News, December 16, 2023, https://www.bbc.com/news/ world-12482315.
- 353 Seiko Sugita et al., "Arab Youth: Civic Engagement & Participation," UNESCO Regional Bureau Beirut, 2011, https://unesdoc.unesco.org/in/documentViewer.xhtml?v=2.1.196&id=p::usmarcdef 0000244255&file=/in/rest/annotationSVC/DownloadWatermarkedAttachment/attach_import_9e21152a-d4b1-43d4a20c-60cd7855cd98%3F %3D244255eng.pdf&locale=en&multi=true&ark=/ark:/48223/pf0000244255/ PDF/244255eng.pdf#%5B%7B%22num%22%3A11%2C%22gen%22%3A0%7D%2C%7B%22name%2 2%3A%22XYZ%22%7D%2Cnull%2Cnull%2C0%5D
- 354 Human Development Report 2010: The Real Wealth of Nations: Pathways to Human Development, United Nations Development Programme, 2010, https://hdr.undp.org/content/human-development-report-2010.
- 355 Samira F. Hassan, "Social Media and the Arab Spring," Rutgers University, January 2015, https://mals. camden.rutgers.edu/files/Social-Media-and-the-Arab-Spring.pdf.
- 356 Natalia Waechter, "The Participative Role of Social Media for the Disadvantaged Young Generation in the Arab Spring," Österreichische Zeitschrift für Soziologie 44, no. S1 (June 2019): 217–36, https://doi. org/10.1007/s11614-019-00356-1.
- 357 Eric Goldstein, "Algeria's Hirak Movement Marks Second Anniversary," Human Rights Watch, February 2021, https://www.hrw.org/news/2021/02/23/algerias-hirak-protest-movement-marks-second-anniversary; and Linda El-Naggar, "Algeria's Hirak Movement: A Second National Liberation?," Swedish Institute of International Affairs, January 2022, https://www.ui.se/globalassets/ui.se-eng/publications/uipublications/2022/ui-paper-no.-1-2022.pdf.
- 358 Alireza Abdollahinejad and Sondos Mohammadi Nowsudi, "Social Activism in Cyberspace (Case Study of Kurdish Activists in Iran and Iraq)," Cultural Studies & Communication 17 (2021): 103-127, https://www. jcsc.ir/article 244178 en.html.
- 359 "Sisi Takes Power in Egypt," Al Jazeera News, June 8, 2014, https://www.aljazeera.com/news/2014/6/8/ sisi-takes-power-in-egypt; and Sarah Yerkes and Zeinab Ben Yahmed, "Tunisia's Political System: From Stagnation to Competition," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, March 28, 2019, https:// carnegieendowment.org/research/2019/03/tunisias-political-system-from-stagnation-to-competition?lang=en.
- 360 Ibrahim Bangura, Youth-Led Social Movements and Peacebuilding in Africa, Routledge Studies in Peace, Conflict and Security in Africa (Routledge/Taylor & Francis, 2022), https://doi. org/10.4324/9781003253532; and Michael Robbins, "Youth, Religion and Democracy after the Arab Uprisings: Evidence from the Arab Barometer," The Muslim World 107, no. 1 (January 2017): 100–26, https://doi.org/10.1111/muwo.12180.

- 361 Bangura, Youth-Led Social Movements and Peacebuilding in Africa.
- 362 Ferid Belhaj, "MENA Unbound: Ten Years after the Arab Spring, Avoiding Another Lost Decade," World Bank Group (Arab Voices), January 14, 2021, https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/opinion/2021/01/14/ mena-unbound-ten-years-after-the-arab-spring-avoiding-another-lost-decade.
- 363 Arab Barometer, Public Opinion on Civic Engagement in the Middle East and North Africa (Abu Dhabi, Doha, Beirut: Arab Barometer, 2019), https://www.arabbarometer.org/wp-content/uploads/PublicOpinion CivicEngagement MiddleEast NorthAfrica 2018-1.pdf.
- 364 Bangura, Youth-Led Social Movements and Peacebuilding in Africa
- 365 Bangura, Youth-Led Social Movements and Peacebuilding in Africa.
- 366 Arab Barometer, Arab Barometer V: Politics and Social Media. Public Opinion on Politics and Media in the Middle East and North Africa (Abu Dhabi, Doha, Beirut: Arab Barometer, 2019), https://www. arabbarometer.org/wp-content/uploads/AB Media Report Final Public-Opinion-2019-5.pdf.
- 367 "Arab Youth Keep Away from Politics," Arab Barometer, August 10, 2018, https://www.arabbarometer. org/2018/08/arab-youth-keep-away-from-politics/.
- 368 Arab Barometer, https://www.arabbarometer.org/.
- 369 Amaney Jamal, Michael Robbins, and Salma Al-Shami, Youth in MENA: Findings from the Fifth Wave of the Arab Barometer (Princeton University and Arab Barometer, August 12, 2020), https://www.arabbarometer. org/wp-content/uploads/Youth-in-MENA-2020.pdf.
- 370 Jamal, Robbins, and Al-Shami, Youth in MENA.
- 371 Marina Ottaway, "War and Politics in Libya, Yemen, and Syria," Wilson Center, January 6, 2022, https:// www.wilsoncenter.org/article/war-and-politics-libya-yemen-and-syria.
- 372 James Creedon and Antoine Mariotti, "From Protests to Civil War: Understanding Syria's Decade of Horror," France 24 News, March 16, 2021, https://www.france24.com/en/ middle-east/20210316-from-protests-to-civil-war-understanding-syria-s-decade-of-horror.
- 373 Zineb Abdessadok, "Libya Today: From Arab Spring to Failed State," Al Jazeera Features, May 30, 2017, https://www.aljazeera.com/features/2017/5/30/libya-today-from-arab-spring-to-failed-state.
- 374 Peter Bartu, "The New Arab Uprisings: How the 2019 Trajectory Differs from the 2011 Legacy? (Part 2)," Al Jazeera Centre for Studies, https://studies.aljazeera.net/en/reports/ new-arab-uprisings-how-2019-trajectory-differs-2011-legacy-part-2.
- 375 Leonid Issaev and Andrey Korotayev, eds., New Wave of Revolutions in the MENA Region: A Comparative Perspective (Cham: Springer, 2022), https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-031-15135-4.
- 376 Issaev and Korotayev, eds., New Wave of Revolutions in the MENA Region.
- 377 Marwan Muasher, "Is This the Arab Spring 2.0?," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, October 30, 2019, https://carnegieendowment.org/posts/2019/10/is-this-the-arab-spring-20?lang=en.
- 378 "Arab Spring 2.0? Understanding the New Wave of Protests," Democracy Digest (National Endowment for Democracy), October 31, 2019, https://www.demdigest.org/ arab-spring-2-0-understanding-the-new-wave-of-protests/.
- 379 "Arab Spring 2.0?," Democracy Digest.
- 380 Issaev and Korotayev, eds., New Wave of Revolutions in the MENA Region.
- 381 Other Algerian youth activists such as civil society actors, journalists, and political leaders faced arbitrary detention due to offenses in the penal code, such as unarmed gathering, harming national security, damaging the army's morale, and offending public officials. See Rupert Colville, "Press Briefing on Algeria," Office of the UN High Commissioner for Human Rights, May 11, 2021, https://www.ohchr.org/en/press-briefingnotes/2021/05/press-briefing-notes-algeria?LangID=E&NewsID=27078; and "Algeria: Peaceful Protestors Detained Arbitrarily Must Be Released," Amnesty International, March 6, 2020, https://www.amnesty.org/ en/latest/news/2020/03/algeria-peaceful-protesters-detained-arbitrarily-must-be-released/.
- 382 Zine Labidine Ghabouli, "Algeria's Opposition After the Hirak: Limitations and Divisions," Middle East Institute, February 22, 2022, https://www.mei.edu/publications/ algerias-opposition-after-hirak-limitations-and-divisions.

- 383 Jarret Bencks, "2019 Protests in Iraq: A Primer," BrandeisNOW, December 11, 2019, https://www.brandeis. edu/now/2019/december/iraq-protests-2019.html.
- 384 "Iraq: "We Hold Them Responsible for the Blood of Our Youth": Five Years on, Impunity Prevails for Violations Against Tishreen Protesters," Amnesty International, September 30, 2024, https:// www.amnesty.org/en/documents/mde14/8565/2024/en; Bangura, Youth-Led Social Movements and Peacebuilding in Africa; Daron Acemoglu and James A. Robinson, "A Theory of Political Transitions," The American Economic Review 91, no. 4 (September 2001), https://www.aeaweb.org/articles?id=10.1257/ aer.91.4.938; and Fanar Haddad, "Perpetual Protest and the Failure of the Post-2003 Iraqi State," Middle East Research and Information Project, March 22, 2023, https://merip.org/2023/03/ perpetual-protest-and-the-failure-of-the-post-2003-iragi-state.
- 385 Arab Barometer, Arab Barometer Wave V (2018–2019), survey overview page, https://www.arabbarometer. org/surveys/arab-barometer-wave-v.
- 386 Jane Arraf, "Iraqi Activism Fights for Survival Amid Murders and Threats," New York Times, May 25, 2021, https://www.nytimes.com/2021/05/25/world/middleeast/iraq-protest-murder-iran.html.
- 387 Youth at the Centre of Government Action: A Review of the Middle East and North Africa, OECD Public Governance Reviews, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, June 23, 2022, https:// www.oecd.org/en/publications/youth-at-the-centre-of-government-action_bcc2dd08-en.html.
- 388 The Djerba, Authenticity, Heritage and Environment network in Tunisia responded to Djerba's 2011 waste crisis through neighborhood waste collection and municipal engagement; VeryNile in Egypt partners with local fishermen and women to collect plastic waste in exchange for fair wages and social services; Ecological DZ in Algeria promotes awareness and action on industrial pollution, climate change, water scarcity, and biodiversity loss; and Humat Dijlah (Tigris River Protectors Association) in Iraq works to protect rivers, marshes, and water bodies from dams and pollution while raising public awareness. See Oliver Walton and Wali Aslam, "Challenging and Reinforcing the Status Quo: Services, Civil Society and Conflict in the MENA Region," World Development 181 (September 2024): https://doi.org/10.1016/j. worlddev.2024.106685; VeryNile, https://verynile.org; Jessica Ayesha Northey, "Spaces of Youth Politics and the Arab Uprisings: Environmetal Activism and the Algerian Hirak," British Journal of Middle Eastern Studies 52, no. 3 (April 2024): https://doi.org/10.1080/13530194.2024.2326456; and Humat Dijlah (Tigris River Protectors Association), https://humatdijlah.org/en/about-us.
- 389 Jamal, Robbins, and Al-Shami, Youth in MENA.
- 390 Mohammed Mahmoud, "Citizen Priorities on the Environment and Climate in MENA," Middle East Institute, February 14, 2023, https://www.mei.edu/publications/ citizen-priorities-environment-and-climate-change-mena?utm_source.
- 391 Arab Barometer, Views on the Environment and Climate Change in the Middle East and North Africa, Arab Barometer Wave VII Climate Change Report (Princeton University and Arab Barometer, October 2022), https://www.arabbarometer.org/wp-content/uploads/ABVII Climate Change Report-EN.pdf.
- 392 Karolina Zubel and Antoine Apprioual, "Agriculture and Food Security in Climate Sensitive Areas in the Mediterranean," IEMed, April 6, 2020, https://www.iemed.org/publication/ agriculture-and-food-security-in-climate-sensitive-areas-in-the-mediterranean.
- 393 Safaa Khalaf, "Environmental Mobilization in Iraq: NGOs, Local Actors, and the Challenge of Climate Change," Arab Reform Initiative, May 23, 2023, https://www.arab-reform.net/publication/environmentalmobilization-in-iraq-ngos-and-local-actors-and-the-challenge-of-climate-change/?tztc=1; Oussama Elkhalfi et al. "The Impact of Climate Change and Food Insecurity in the Middle East and North Africa: Challenges and Adaptation Strategies," Journal of Agriculture and Food Research 21, June 2025, https:// doi.org/10.1016/j.jafr.2025.101963; Nahla Hassan et al. "Climate Action, Gender, and Displacement in the Arab Region: Turning Adversity Into Opportunity," United Nations Development Programme, March 2021, https://www.undp.org/sites/g/files/zskgke326/files/migration/arabstates/Gender-policy Final, pdf; Mohammed Mahmoud, "The Looming Climate and Water Crisis in the Middle East and North Africa," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, April 19, 2024, https://carnegieendowment.org/ research/2024/04/the-looming-climate-and-water-crisis-in-the-middle-east-and-north-africa?lang=en; and Westley et al. "Climate Change and Coastal Archaeology in the Middle East and North Africa: Assessing Past Impacts and Future Threats," Journal of Island and Coastal Archaeology 18, no. 2 (September 2021), https://www.tandfonline.com/doi/full/10.1080/15564894.2021.1955778.

- 394 Neeshad Shafi, "Climate Activism and Civil Society Organizations in the MENA Region," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, March 27, 2025, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2025/03/ climate-activism-civil-society-mena?lang=en.
- 395 Khaled Sulaiman, "Climate Information Transparency in the MENA Region," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, January 30, 2025, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2025/01/ <u>climate-information-transparency-in-the-mena-region?lang=en.</u>
- 396 "Governing for Sustainable Prosperity in the Middle East and North Africa," OECD Public Governance Reviews, Organisation for Economic Co-operation and Development, 2024, https://www.oecd-ilibrary.org/ content/dam/oecd/en/publications/reports/2024/10/governing-for-sustainable-prosperity-in-the-middleeast-and-north-africa_8f892add/d0da1d30-en.pdf.
- 397 Jeannie Sowers et al., "Environmental Politics in the Middle East and North Africa," Project on Middle East Political Science, May 2022, https://pomeps.org/wp-content/uploads/2022/05/POMEPS Studies 46 Web-FINAL.pdf.
- 398 UNDP, Adapting to a New Climate in the MENA Region (2023), https://www.undp.org/arab-states/ publications/adapting-new-climate-mena-region.
- 399 Neeshad Shafi, "Climate Activism and Civil Society Organizations in the MENA Region," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, March 27, 2025, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2025/03/ climate-activism-civil-society-mena?lang=en.
- 400 UNFCCC, Egypt's Second Updated Nationally Determined Contributions (2023), https://unfccc.int/ sites/default/files/NDC/2023-06/Egypts%20Updated%20First%20Nationally%20Determined%20 Contribution%202030%20%28Second%20Update%29.pdf.
- 401 Amr Hamzawy and Selma Khalil, "Egypt's Challenges and Opportunities in Climate-Related Finance and Governance," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, March 13, 2025, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2025/03/ egypts-challenges-and-opportunities-in-climate-related-finance-and-governance?lang=en.
- 402 Dina Zayed, "On the Margins: Civil Society Activism and Climate Change in Egypt," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, May 2, 2024, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2024/05/on-the-marginscivil-society-activism-and-climate-change-in-egypt?lang=en; and Egypt Presidency of the Republic, Law No. 149 of 2019 on Regulating the Exercise of Civil Work ("NGO Law"), Official Gazette 33 (August 19, 2019): unofficial translation, https://www.icnl.org/wp-content/uploads/law149eng.pdf.
- 403 Maria Gloria Polimeno, "Does Civic Participation Through Development Support Institutional Mitigation in Egypt?," Arab Barometer, January 17, 2025, https://www.arabbarometer.org/2025/01/ does-civic-participation-through-development-support-institutional-mitigation-in-egypt.
- 404 Human Rights Watch, "Egypt: Government Undermining Environmental Groups," September 12, 2022, https://www.hrw.org/news/2022/09/12/egypt-government-undermining-environmental-groups.
- 405 "The EBRD in Egypt," European Bank for Reconstruction and Development, 2023, https://www.ebrd.com/ content/dam/ebrd_dxp/assets/pdfs/country-strategies/egypt/The-EBRD-in-Egypt-Results-Snapshot.pdf; Sara Sabry, "The Road to Better Mobility: The New Bus Rapid Transit on Cairo's Ring Road," Alternative Policy Solutions, American University of Cairo, October 13, 2021, https://aps.aucegypt.edu/en/articles/742/ the-road-to-better-mobility-the-new-bus-rapid-transit-on-cairos-ring-road; "Egypt Launches Electric Cab in the New Administrative Capital Starting May 15th," Egypt Independent, May 13, 2024, https://www. egyptindependent.com/egypt-launches-electric-cab-in-the-new-administrative-capital-starting-may-15th; and "Cairo," EBRD Green Cities, https://www.ebrdgreencities.com/our-cities/cities/cairo.
- 406 "Helwan Project," Schaduf, 2024, https://schaduf.com/projects/helwan-project.
- 407 Omar Zahran and Julia Micklewright, "How the Past Meets the Future: Greening Strategies with Pocket Parks in Historic Cairo," What's That Green?, 2024, https://whatisthatgreen.com/ pocket-parks-in-historic-cairo.
- 408 Wael Fahmi and Keith Sutton, "Cairo's Contested Waste: The Zabaleen's Local Practices and Privatisation Policies," in María José Zapata and C. Michael Hall, Organising Waste in the City: International Perspectives on Narratives and Practices (Policy Press, 2013), https://doi.org/10.51952/9781447306382.ch009.

- 409 Ibrahim Ezzeldin, "Under Siege: Urban Development in Egypt's Warraq Island," Tahrir Institute for Middle East Policy, 2025, https://timep.org/2025/06/04/under-siege-urban-development-in-egypts-warraq-island.
- 410 Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations, "Empowerment of Vulnerable Rural Communities Project, Minya Governorate, Egypt," 2023, https://www.fao.org/egypt/projects/ Norwegian-project.
- 411 IRIN News, "Growing Protests over Water Shortages," The New Humanitarian, July 27, 2010, https://www. thenewhumanitarian.org/news/2010/07/27/growing-protests-over-water-shortages.
- 412 "Egypt Sustainable Agriculture Investments and Livelihoods Project Mid-Term Review," International Fund for Agricultural Development, 2019, https://www.ifad.org/documents/48415603/49538424/ Egypt+1100001745+SAIL+Interim+Mid-term+Review+Report+November+2019. pdf/52717a18-ad5b-bce8-4c0e-47b03374d536?t=1726608871646.
- 413 "Launch of the 'Promoting Citizenship Values and Practices' Project in Minya with Support from the Civil Society Organizations Support Fund," Coptic Evangelical Organization for Social Services, 2025, https:// ceoss-eg.org/46828/?lang=en.
- 414 "Riverbank Filtration Project for Clean Water Production in Minya, Egypt | UN-Habitat," UN-Habitat, accessed May 29, 2025, https://unhabitat.org/ riverbank-filtration-project-for-clean-water-production-in-minya-egypt.
- 415 "Morocco NDC," United Nations Development Programme, 2023, https://climatepromise.undp.org/whatwe-do/where-we-work/morocco; and Morocco, Plan Climat National à Horizon 2030 (PCN 2030) (Rabat: Government of Morocco): 2019, https://faolex.fao.org/docs/pdf/mor209343.pdf.
- 416 "Morocco: Another Crackdown on Protests," Human Rights Watch, 2018, https://www.hrw.org/ news/2018/06/04/morocco-another-crackdown-protests.
- 417 Shabnam Mayet, "How the Indigenous Amazigh People in Morocco Fight for Language and Land," Resilience, January 2023, https://www.resilience.org/stories/2023-01-05/ how-the-indigenous-amazigh-people-in-morocco-fight-for-language-and-land.
- 418 "Bouregreg Valley Redevelopment Project," Arab Urban Development Institute, https://araburban.org/en/ infohub/projects/?id=7584&utm; and "Rabat-Salé Tramway," Arab Urban Development Institute. https:// araburban.org/en/infohub/projects/?id=9218.
- 419 "Redevelopment of the Moroccan Bouregreg River Valley," Tadamun, July 26, 2019, https://www.tadamun. co/redevelopment-moroccan-bouregreg-river-valley/?lang=en.
- 420 Soufiane Elgoumri, "The Protest Movement over Morocco's Kish al-Oudaya Lands," Washington Institute, August 2, 2024, https://www.washingtoninstitute.org/policy-analysis/ protest-movement-over-moroccos-kish-al-oudaya-lands.
- 421 "Morocco's Oases: A Unique Heritage Promoted by Local Communities," World Bank Group, December 3, 2024, https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2024/12/03/ morocco-s-oases-a-unique-heritage-promoted-by-local-communities.
- 422 M. A. el Mokhtar, R. ben Laouane, M. Anli, A. Boutasknit, A. Fakhech, et al., "Climate Change and Its Impacts on Oases Ecosystem in Morocco," in Ahmed Karmaoui (ed.), Climate Change and Its Impact on Ecosystem Services and Biodiversity in Arid and Semi-Arid Zones (IGI Global, 2019): 217–245), https://doi. org/10.4018/978-1-5225-7387-6.CH012; and M. Houssni, J. Kassout, M. el Mahroussi, S. Chakkour, M. Kadiri, et al., "Evaluation and Structuring of Agrodiversity in Oases Agroecosystems of Southern Morocco," Agriculture 13, no. 7 (July 17, 2023): https://doi.org/10.3390/agriculture13071413.
- 423 "Morocco's Oases: A Unique Heritage Promoted by Local Communities," World Bank Group, 2024, https://www.worldbank.org/en/news/feature/2024/12/03/ morocco-s-oases-a-unique-heritage-promoted-by-local-communities.
- 424 "Morocco—Sustainable Oasis Ecosystems Management Project," World Bank Group, 2024, https:// documents, worldbank.org/en/publication/documents-reports/documentdetail/099052024100019069; and Mohamed Beraaouz, Mohamed Abioui, Mohammed Hssaisoune, and Jesús Martínez-Frías, "Khettaras in the Tafilalet Oasis (Morocco): Contribution to the Promotion of Tourism and Sustainable Development," Built Heritage 6, article 24 (2022): https://doi.org/10.1186/s43238-022-00073-x.

- 425 Jordan Ministry of Environment, "Updated Submission of Jordan's 1st Nationally Determined Contribution (NDC)," 2021, https://unfccc.int/sites/default/files/NDC/2022-06/UPDATED%20SUBMISSION%20 OF%20JORDANS.pdf.
- 426 D. al Khayyat, "Jordan Receives a \$25 Million Grant to Enhance Climate Change Adaptation," United Nations Jordan, March 21, 2021, https://jordan.un.org/en/122751-jordan-receives-25-million-grantenhance-climate-change-adaptation; and "FP232: Jordan Integrated Landscape Management Initiative (JILMI)," Green Climate Fund, https://www.greenclimate.fund/project/fp232.
- 427 A. V. I. Prieto, "JOHUD's 'Water Wise Women' Wins Best Water Conservation Project," Jordan Times, May 9, 2018, https://jordantimes.com/news/local/ johud%E2%80%99s-water-wise-women%E2%80%99-wins-best-water-.
- 428 Green Generation Foundation, https://ggfjo.org.
- 429 "Building Women Cooperatives in Jordan and Selling Local Products," GOPA Worldwide Consultants, https://www.gopa.de/stories/building-women-cooperatives-jordan-and-selling-local-products; T. Abulhawa, "Sustainable Use of Ecosystem Services in Jordan (EKF-ESS project)," Deutsche Gesellschaft Für Internationale Zusammenarbeit, https://www.es-partnership.org/wp-content/uploads/2019/05/Yarmouk-Case-Factsheet.pdf; H. Alhanayfah, "Habak: Jordan's First Women-led Hydroponics Cooperative," The New Arab, https://www.newarab.com/features/habak-jordans-first-women-led-hydroponics-cooperative; Women's Empowerment Programme, Greening The Desert Project, https://www.greeningthedesertproject. org/donations/womens-empowerment-programme; and H. Hussein, "Toward Inclusive Climate Action in Jordan," Arab Reform Initiative, April 25, 2025, https://www.arab-reform.net/publication/ toward-inclusive-climate-action-in-jordan.
- 430 Jordan Ministry of Environment, The Amman Climate Plan, Greater Amman Municipality, https://www. amman.jo/site_doc/climate.pdf.
- 431 C40 Cities, "Sustainable Urbanization and Resource Efficiency for the City of Amman," C40 Cities Climate Leadership Group, 2019, https://www.c40.org/case-studies/sustainable-urbanization-and-resource-efficiencyfor-the-city-of-amman; and ICLEI, "Greater Amman Municipality," Local Governments for Sustainability, 2015, https://iclei.org/network_city/greater-amman-municipality.
- 432 Hussein, "Toward Inclusive Climate Action in Jordan."
- 433 Hussein, "Toward Inclusive Climate Action in Jordan." Find these organizations online at https://ecopeaceme.org; https://ggfjo.org; https://iucn.org/our-union/members/iucn-members/ jordan-environment-society.
- 434 United Nations Development Programme, "Youth for Climate Action: Engaging Jordanian Youth in Climate-Related Policymaking," 2022, https://www.undp.org/jordan/publications/youth-climateaction-engaging-jordanian-youth-climate-related-policymaking; and A. Owier, "Empowering Jordanian Youth in the Face of Climate Change and Its Impacts on Human Mobility," International Organization for Migration, June 5, 2024, https://environmentalmigration.iom.int/blogs/ empowering-jordanian-youth-face-climate-change-and-its-impacts-human-mobility.
- 435 A. Deek, A. Shajrawi, K. Alshaketheep, O. Zraqat, B. Asfour, and A. Deeb, "Assessing the Socioeconomic Ramifications: Jordan's Economic Growth and Its Effects on Poverty Mitigation and Income Inequality," in Technological Horizons: Insights for Accounting, Auditing and Internal Control in Emerging Markets (2025): 239-256, https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-83608-756-420251010; and Jordan Department of Statistics, "Statistical Yearbook 2023," no. 74 (Amman, Jordan: The Hashemite Kingdom of Jordan, 2023): https:// dosweb.dos.gov.jo/databank/yearbook/YearBook2023.pdf.
- 436 United Nations Jordan, "The National Food Security Strategy," Food and Agriculture Organization and World Food Programme, 2021, https://jordan.un.org/sites/default/files/2022-10/Document%202%20-%20 The%20National%20Food%20Security%20Strategy.pdf.
- 437 Petra, "Unemployed Tafileh Residents Protest to Demand Jobs | Jordan Times," Jordan Times, 2014, https://jordantimes.com/news/local/unemployed-tafileh-residents-protest-demand-jobs; and Marta Vidal, "Copper Mine Threatens Jordan's Largest Nature Reserve," Al Jazeera, 2021, https://www.aljazeera.com/ news/2021/10/3/copper-mine-threatens-jordans-largest-nature-reserve.

- 438 "Jordan Pushed Green Urban Agenda in EMV Q1 Report," Jordan News Agency, April 30, 2025, https://petra.gov.jo/Include/InnerPage.jsp?ID=70988&lang=en&name=en_news&; and D. al Khayyat, "FAO and Alhalat Partner to Promote Water Conservation and Climate Change Awareness in Jordan," United Nations in Jordan, January 26, 2025, https://jordan.un.org/ en/288175-fao-and-alhalat-partner-promote-water-conservation-and-climate-change-awareness-Jordan.
- 439 Amnesty International, Amnesty International Report 2022/23 The State of the World's Human Rights (London, 2023), https://www.amnesty.org/en/wp-content/uploads/2023/03/ WEBPOL1056702023ENGLISH.pdf.
- 440 For overviews of these technologies, see Howard Herzog and Aaron Krol, "Carbon Capture," Climate Portal, Massachusetts Institute of Technology, accessed October 27, 2025, https://climate.mit.edu/explainers/ carbon-capture; and "Direct Air Capture," International Energy Agency, accessed October 27, 2025, https:// www.iea.org/energy-system/carbon-capture-utilisation-and-storage/direct-air-capture.
- 441 For overviews of these technologies, see "Cloud Seeding Technology: Assessing Effectiveness and Other Challenges," U.S. Government Accountability Office, GAO-25-107328, December 19, 2024, https://www. gao.gov/products/gao-25-107328; and "Stratospheric Aerosol Injection," Geoengineering Monitor, accessed October 27, 2025, https://www.geoengineeringmonitor.org/technologies/stratospheric-aerosol-injection.
- 442 Jinfeng Ma et al., "Carbon Capture and Storage: History and the Road Ahead," Engineering 14 (March 2022), 5948, DOI 10.1016/j.eng.2021.11.024, https://www.researchgate.net/ publication/359190723 Carbon capture and storage History and the road ahead.
- 443 Jesse D. Jenkins, What's Killing Nuclear Power in U.S. Electricity Markets? Drivers of Wholesale Price Declines at Nuclear Generators in the PJM Interconnection, CEEPR Working Paper 2018-001 (Massachusetts Institute of Technology, January 2018), https://ceepr.mit.edu/wp-content/uploads/2021/09/2018-001.pdf.
- 444 Yuki Matsumoto, Chloé Papazian, Jehan Sauvage, and Kazushi Uzawa, Government Support in the Solar and Wind Value Chains, OECD Trade Policy Paper No. 288 (OECD, January 2025), https://www.oecd. org/content/dam/oecd/en/publications/reports/2025/01/government-support-in-the-solar-and-wind-valuechains ce793ca0/d82881fd-en.pdf.
- 445 International Energy Agency, "Technology Roadmap Hydropower," IEA, November 14, 2012, https:// www.iea.org/reports/technology-roadmap-hydropower.
- 446 Angela C. Jones and Ashley J. Lawson, "Carbon Capture and Sequestration (CCS) in the United States," Congressional Research Service Report R44902, updated October 5 2022, https://www.congress.gov/ crs-product/R44902.
- 447 Jeff Tollefson, "US Government Abandons CarbonCapture Demonstration," Nature, February 5, 2015, https://www.nature.com/articles/nature.2015.16868.
- 448 U.S. Government Accountability Office, Advanced Fossil Energy: Information on DOEProvided Funding for Research and Development Projects Started from Fiscal Years 2010 through 2017, GAO18619, September 2018, https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-18-619.pdf.
- 449 Rachel Cohen, "CarbonCapture Opponents Have Described the Policy as One of Several 'False Solutions' to the Climate Crisis," In These Times, 2018, https://inthesetimes.com/article/ carbon-capture-ccus-scale-act-infrastructure-biden-climate-labor.
- 450 Kate Aronoff, "Why the Squad Voted Against Pelosi's Energy Bill," The New Republic, September 25 2020, https://newrepublic.com/article/159499/squad-voted-pelosis-energy-bill.
- 451 Lesley Clark and Carlos Anchondo, "Biden and CCS: Plans, Politics, Pitfalls," E&E News, March 22, 2021, https://www.eenews.net/articles/biden-and-ccs-plans-politics-pitfalls.
- 452 Jennifer Layke, Joel Jaeger, Katie Pastor, Kelly Levin, and Tim Searchinger, "5 Things to Know About the IEA's Roadmap to Net Zero by 2050," World Resources Institute, May 21, 2021, https://www.wri.org/ insights/5-things-know-about-ieas-roadmap-net-zero-2050.
- 453 Boston Consulting Group, Executive Perspectives: US Inflation Reduction Act: Climate & Energy Features and Potential Implications, August 16, 2022, https://media-publications.bcg.com/BCG-Executive-Perspectives-US-Inflation-Reduction-Act-16August2022.pdf.

- 454 Kyle Whyte, "The Dakota Access Pipeline, Environmental Injustice, and U.S. Colonialism," Red Ink: An International Journal of Indigenous Literature, Arts, & Humanities 19, no.1 (Spring 2017), posted February 28, 2017 (last revised April 21, 2021), https://papers.ssrn.com/sol3/papers.cfm?abstract_id=2925513; and Sarah Ann Standing, "Earth First!'s 'Crack the Dam' and the Aesthetics of Ecoactivist Performance," in Readings in Performance and Ecology, ed. Wendy Arons and Theresa J. May (New York: Palgrave Macmillan, 2012), 147–155, https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1057/9781137011695 13.
- 455 Josh Funk, "Navigator CO2 Puts Carbon Pipeline on Hold after South Dakota Denial," AP News, October 10, 2023, https://apnews.com/article/ navigator-carbon-dioxide-pipeline-permits-route-dd9b53473b8e2eff699433af570c3d2d.
- 456 Ben Singson, "Illinois Activists Protest MultiState Carbon Pipeline Project," MyJournalCourier, June 15, 2022, https://www.myjournalcourier.com/news/article/Illinois-activists-protest-multi-statecarbon-17239059.php; and Jack Darin / Sierra Club Illinois, "We Need Stronger Safety Guardrails on CO2 Pipelines," Chicago Sun-Times, April 28, 2024, https://chicago.suntimes.com/other-views/2024/04/28/ carbon-dioxide-co2-pipeline-capture-safety-guardrails-jack-darin-sierra-club-illinois.
- 457 Eric Ferkenhoff and Josh Kelet, "Pipeline Company Filed Hundreds of Lawsuits Against Landowners over Carbon Capture Project," AP News, April 9, 2025, https://apnews.com/article/summit-carbon-solutions-car- $\underline{bon\text{-}capture\text{-}pipeline\text{-}midwest\text{-}lawsuits\text{-}landowners\text{-}6c410dad59ce4d5d6de5ff4962dd0913}.$
- 458 Sarah Raza, "South Dakota Panel Rejects Permit for an \$8.9 Billion Carbon Capture Midwest Pipeline," AP News, April 22, 2025, https://apnews.com/article/ carbon-south-dakota-pipeline-route-permit-f6ba5287e24aebebcaf22f4cc8d75c9f.
- 459 Tristan Baurick, "Latest Carbon Dioxide Leak Raises Concerns About Safety, Regulation," Verite / LA Illuminator, May 1 2024, https://lailluminator.com/2024/05/01/carbon-dioxide-leak.
- 460 Food & Water Watch, "California Organizations Urge Senate to Adopt Strong CO2 Pipeline Standards," Food & Water Watch, May 14, 2025, https://www.foodandwaterwatch.org/2025/05/14/california-organizations-urge-senate-to-adopt-strong-co2-pipeline-standards; and FracTracker Alliance, "Indigenous Communities Fight Against CO₂ Pipelines," FracTracker, October 2024, https://www.fractracker. org/2024/10/indigenous-communities-fight-against-co2-pipelines.
- 461 Kathie Obradovich, "Iowans Rally at State Capitol Against Eminent Domain for Carbon Pipelines," Iowa Capital Dispatch, January 10, 2024, https://iowacapitaldispatch.com/2024/01/10/ <u>iowans-rally-at-state-capitol-against-eminent-domain-for-carbon-pipelines.</u>
- 462 Tony Leys, "Iowa Senate Overrides Veto, OKs CarbonCapture Pipeline Deal," POLITICO, May 29 2022, https://www.politico.com/news/2022/05/29/iowa-manchin-carbon-capture-pipeline-00030361.
- 463 Alex Nitzberg, "DeSantis Rebukes Republicans Backing Bill, Carbon Sequestration Task Force 'Absolutely Embarrassing," Fox News, April 2, 2025, https://www.foxnews.com/politics/ desantis-rebukes-republicans-backing-bill-carbon-sequestration-task-force-absolutely-embarrassing.
- 464 Liz Caine, "House Republicans Call to End Carbon Capture Tax Credits amid Push for Clean Hydrogen," Houston Chronicle, May 2024, https://www.houstonchronicle.com/politics/article/republicans-carbon-stroage-clean-hydrogen-20310908.php.
- 465 Alexa St. John, "Trump Administration Cancelled \$3.7 B in CleanEnergy Funds, Including Carbon Capture," AP News, May 30 2025, https://apnews.com/article/ climate-energy-projects-funding-canceled-cf3e9b5da749eb76a71c901ded20d711.
- 466 Leonardo Martinez-Diaz, Noah Gordon, and Milo McBride, "Climate Clarity: On the Future of Climate Action in the United States," Carnegie Endowment for International Peace, September 17, 2025, https://carnegieendowment.org/research/2025/09/ $\underline{climate\text{-}clarity\text{-}on\text{-}the\text{-}future\text{-}of\text{-}climate\text{-}action\text{-}in\text{-}the\text{-}united\text{-}states?} lang = en.}$
- 467 N. Hunter Johnston, Lisa M. Zarlenga, John Cobb, and Nick Sutter, "The One Big Beautiful Bill: Impact on the IRA's Clean Energy Tax Credits," Steptoe, July 23, 2025, https://www.steptoe.com/en/news-publications/the-one-big-beautiful-bill-impact-on-the-iras-clean-energy-tax-credits.html.
- 468 Katie Brigham, "Trump Hollowed Out the Government's Carbon Removal Team," Heatmap News, February 28, 2025, https://heatmap.news/carbon-removal/trump-dac-hubs.
- 469 James Rodger Fleming, "Manufacturing the Weather," Distillations Magazine, Science History Institute, July 23, 2010, www.sciencehistory.org/stories/magazine/manufacturing-the-weather.

- 470 Thia Griffin-Elliott, "70th Anniversary of the First Hurricane Seeding Experiment," Hurricane Research Division blog, NOAA Atlantic Oceanographic and Meteorological Laboratory, October 12 2017, https://www. aoml.noaa.gov/hurricane_blog/70th-anniversary-of-the-first-hurricane-seeding-experiment.
- 471 Matt Novak, "Weather Control as a Cold War Weapon," Smithsonian Magazine, December 5, 2011, https:// www.smithsonianmag.com/history/weather-control-as-a-cold-war-weapon-1777409.
- 472 "Project STORMFURY: An Experimental Program of Research on Hurricane Modification, 1962–1983," Hurricane Research Division, NOAA Atlantic Oceanographic and Meteorological Laboratory, https://www.aoml. noaa.gov/hrd/hrd_sub/sfury.html; and Eleanor Cummins, "Operation Popeye: How the U.S. Government Used Weather as a Weapon in the Vietnam War," Popular Science, March 20, 2018, https://www.popsci.com/ operation-popeye-government-weather-vietnam-war.
- 473 https://uni-freiburg.de/jura-ioeffr2/wp-content/uploads/sites/163/FIP-2020 05 Voeneky ENMOD-Convention_final.pdf.
- 474 Paul J. Crutzen, "Albedo Enhancement by Stratospheric Sulfur Injections: A Contribution to Resolve a Policy Dilemma?," Climatic Change 77 (2006): https://doi.org/10.1007/s105840069101y.
- 475 U.S. Government Accountability Office, Cloud Seeding Technology: Assessing Effectiveness and Other Challenges, GAO-25-107328, December 19 2024, https://www.gao.gov/assets/gao-25-107328.pdf; Youssef Wehbe, Steve Griffiths, Alya Al Mazrouei, Omar Al Yazeedi, & Abdulla Al Mandous, "Rethinking Water Security in a Warming Climate: Rainfall Enhancement as an Innovative Augmentation Technique," npj Climate and Atmospheric Science 6 (2023), Article no. 171, https://www.nature.com/articles/ s41612-023-00503-2.
- 476 UN Environment Programme, Convention on Biological Diversity, "Decision Adopted by the Conference of the Parties to the Convention on Biological Diversity at Its Tenth Meeting: X/33. Biodiversity and Climate Change," UNEP, October 29, 2010, https://www.cbd.int/doc/decisions/cop-10/cop-10-dec-33-en.pdf.
- 477 Friends of the Earth, "Geoengineering: Unjust, Unproven and Risky," Friends of the Earth (press release), February 2015, https://foe.org/news/2015-02-geoengineering-unjust-unproven-and-risky; and ETC Group, "Hands Off Mother Earth!," ETC Group, https://www.etcgroup.org/content/hands-mother-earth-0.
- 478 Haley Dunleavy, "An Indigenous Group's Objection to Geoengineering Spurs a Debate About Social Justice in Climate Science," Inside Climate News, July 7, 2021, https://insideclimatenews.org/news/07072021/ sami-sweden-objection-geoengineering-justice-climate-science.
- 479 Geoengineering Monitor, "Support Alaska Native Delegation to Stop Arctic Ice Project," Geoengineering Monitor, May 10, 2022, https://www.geoengineeringmonitor.org/ support-alaska-native-delegation-to-stop-arctic-ice-project.
- 480 POLITICO, "California City Votes to Block Solar Geoengineering Experiment," June 5, 2024, https://www. politico.com/news/2024/06/05/california-geoengineering-blocked-00161733?.
- 481 Rhys A. Cairns, "Climates of Suspicion: 'Chemtrail' Conspiracy Narratives and the International Politics of Geoengineering," The Geographical Journal 182, no. 1 (March 2016): 70-84, https://www.jstor.org/ stable/43868685.
- 482 Dustin Tingley and Gernot Wagner, "Solar Geoengineering and the Chemtrails Conspiracy on Social Media," Palgrave Communications, DOI 10.1057/s41599-017-0014-3 (2017), https://doi.org/10.1057/ s41599-017-0014-3.
- 483 Eli Kintisch, "Smattering of Activists Protest Geoengineering, 'Chemtrails'," Science, February 20, 2010, https://www.science.org/content/article/smattering-activists-protest-geoengineering-chemtrails.
- 484 Alayna Shulman, "Crowd Protests Chemtrails in Redding on Sunday," Record Searchlight, August 25, 2013, https://archive.redding.com/news/crowd-protests-chemtrails-in-redding-on-sundayep-299447791-353761661.html.
- 485 Tingley and Wagner, "Solar Geoengineering and the Chemtrails Conspiracy on Social Media."
- 486 Holly Jean Buck, "The Rise of Green MAGA," Compact Mag, November 21, 2024, https://www.compactmag.com/article/the-rise-of-green-maga.
- 487 Ryan Stevens, "StateLevel Geoengineering Bans: Florida, Montana and Beyond," Duane Morris Government Strategies, May 14 2025, https://statecapitallobbyist.com/environment/ state-level-geoengineering-bans-florida-montana-and-beyond.

- 488 Ceri Putman et al., "A Growing Number of US States Consider Bills to Ban Geoengineering," SRM360, April 1 2025, https://srm360.org/news-reaction/us-states-consider-bills-to-ban-geoengineering.
- 489 "H.R. 2932 CLEAR Skies Act," Congress.gov, 119th Congress, https://www.congress.gov/ bill/119th-congress/house-bill/2932.
- 490 Corbin Hiar, "White House Cautiously Opens the Door to Study Blocking Sun's Rays to Slow Global Warming," POLITICO, July 1, 2023, https://www.politico.com/news/2023/07/01/ white-house-cautiously-opens-door-to-study-blocking-suns-rays-to-slow-global-warming-ee-00104513.
- 491 Oona Lagercrantz, "Solar Geoengineering: A Transatlantic Split under the Sun," Center for European Policy Analysis, December 20, 2024, https://cepa.org/article/ solar-geoengineering-a-transatlantic-split-under-the-sun/.
- 492 CTV News, "Alberta Premier Danielle Smith Comes Under Fire for Comments About Chemtrails," CTV News Edmonton, May 2025, https://www.ctvnews.ca/edmonton/article/alberta-premier-danielle-smithcomes-under-fire-for-comments-about-chemtrails; and Carlito Pablo, "Environment Canada Meteorologist Rejects Bill Vander Zalm's Chemtrail Theory," Georgia Straight, August 21, 2013, https://www.straight.com/ news/412071/environment-canada-meteorologist-rejects-bill-vander-zalms-chemtrail-theory.
- 493 Sebastian Rodríguez and Joe Lo, "Mexico Plans to Ban Solar Geoengineering After Rogue Experiment," Climate Change News, January 18, 2023, https://www.climatechangenews.com/2023/01/18/ mexico-plans-to-ban-solar-geoengineering-after-rogue-experiment.
- 494 GENIE Project, GeoEngineering and NegatIve Emissions Pathways in Europe, European Commission, Grant Agreement ID: 951542, DOI: 10.3030/951542, https://cordis.europa.eu/project/id/951542; and Justine Calma, "Scientists Advise EU to Halt Solar Geoengineering," The Verge, December 9, 2024, https:// $\underline{www.theverge.com/2024/12/9/24317108/solar-geoengineering-european-commission-moratorium.}$
- 495 Solar Geoengineering: A Transatlantic Split under the Sun CEPA.
- 496 Jonathan O'Callaghan, "Controversial Geoengineering Projects to Test Earth-Cooling Tech Funded by UK Agency," Nature, May 7, 2025, https://www.nature.com/articles/d41586-025-01389-1.
- 497 "China Sets 2020 'Artificial Weather' Target to Combat Water Shortages," Geoengineering Monitor, January 20, 2015, https://www.geoengineeringmonitor.org/ $\underline{china\text{-}sets\text{-}2020\text{-}artificial\text{-}weather\text{-}target\text{-}to\text{-}combat\text{-}water\text{-}shortages.}}$
- 498 Jonathan Watts, "China Plans Rapid Expansion of Weather Modification Efforts," Guardian, December 3, 2020, https://www.theguardian.com/world/2020/dec/03/ china-vows-to-boost-weather-modification-capabilities.
- 499 Bojan Stojkovski, "Drones Spread a Cup of Cloud Seed in China, Causing 30 Swimming Pools of Rain," Interesting Engineering, May 4, 2025, https://interestingengineering.com/science/ china-drone-powered-cloud-seeding-rain-xinjiang.
- 500 European Commission, "Projects Selected for Grant Preparation," EU Climate Action, May 14, 2025, https://climate.ec.europa.eu/eu-action/eu-funding-climate-action/innovation-fund/calls-proposals/ <u>large-scale-calls/projects-selected-grant-preparation_en.</u>
- 501 James Burgess, "UK Government Gives Funding to Just Three of First CCUS Cluster Projects," S&P Global Commodity Insights, October 9, 2024, https:// www.spglobal.com/commodity-insights/en/news-research/latest-news/ energy-transition/100924-uk-government-gives-funding-to-just-three-of-first-ccus-cluster-projects.
- 502 Reuters, "China's Sinopec Starts First Carbon Capture, Storage Facility, Plans Another Two by 2025," Reuters, August 29, 2022, https://www.reuters.com/business/sustainable-business/ chinas-sinopec-starts-first-carbon-capture-storage-facility-plans-another-two-by-2022-08-29.
- 503 Yusuf Khan, "The U.S. Gave Up Its Lead in Clean Energy Sectors Before. It Might Be Doing It Again," Wall Street Journal, June 20, 2025, https://www.wsj.com/articles/the-u-s-gave-up-its-lead-in-clean-energy-sectorsbefore-it-might-be-doing-it-again-f80b78fd; and Paola Perez Pena and Yufei Li, "CCUS – Too Little, Too Late, Too Slow - It's No Panacea," S&P Global Commodity Insights, October 18, 2023, https://www.spglobal. com/commodity-insights/en/research-analytics/ccus-too-little-too-late-too-slow-its-no-panacea.

Carnegie Endowment for International Peace

In a complex, changing, and increasingly contested world, the Carnegie Endowment generates strategic ideas, supports diplomacy, and trains the next generation of international scholar-practitioners to help countries and institutions take on the most difficult global problems and advance peace. With a global network of more than 170 scholars across twenty countries, Carnegie is renowned for its independent analysis of major global problems and understanding of regional contexts.

Sustainability, Climate, and Geopolitics Program

The Sustainability, Climate, and Geopolitics Program explores how climate change and the responses to it are changing international politics, global governance, and world security. Our work covers topics from the geopolitical implications of decarbonization and environmental breakdown to the challenge of building out clean energy supply chains, alternative protein options, and other challenges of a warming planet.



CarnegieEndowment.org